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HERE TO STAY.  HERE TO GROW.
Hengyuan Refining Company Berhad (HRC) has been serving Malaysia with 
integrity and reliability since 1963. To us, success is creating long-term value for 
our stakeholders, and that means to perform well in managing the integrity of  
our people, assets, governance and with the surrounding environment and 
community. We intend to build on HRC’s solid legacy with continuous investments  
in expertise, capabilities and capacity to meet the ever-changing needs of a 
constantly evolving marketplace.

This Annual Report focuses on Hengyuan Refining 
Company Berhad (HRC) as a Company and our 
operations in Port Dickson. This report has been  
prepared with care and thought to provide our 
stakeholders with a comprehensive and objective view 
of our economic, social, governance and environmental 
performance, in a timely, transparent and easy to 
understand manner. This report also provides where 
possible, insights into our business strategy and future 
prospects.

An accompanying Sustainability Report has also been 
prepared and is available for viewing at www.hrc.com.
my/investor_relations.html. Pertinent information has 
been cross referenced for interested stakeholders.

The scope of our reporting covers the financial year from 
1 January to 31 December 2019 and encompasses all 

material developments concerning HRC up until the 
approval of the annual financial statements.

We have prepared our financial statements in 
accordance with the Malaysian Financial Reporting 
Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards 
and the Malaysian Companies Act 2016. They also 
comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the 
Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia  
Securities Berhad.

Our financial statements have been audited by Messrs 
PricewaterhouseCoopers PLT, whose unmodified report 
is available on pages 79 to 83. 

Our Annual Report can also be accessed online at  
www.hrc.com.my/annual_report.html.

WE APPRECIATE YOUR FEEDBACK

As part of our commitment to reporting that better 
serves our stakeholders’ needs, we value your 
feedback and welcome comments to improve our 
future reports. We will attempt to provide further 
clarity to our disclosure topics where necessary. Please 
share your comments, suggestions and feedback via 
email to hrcpd-corporate-affairs@hrc.com.my.

LINK TO OUR  
ONLINE REPORTS

The Online version of Hengyuan Refining Company 
Berhad’s 2019 Annual Report and 2019 Sustainability 
Report are available on our website. Please visit  
www.hrc.com.my or scan the QR Code to download 
these reports. 

ABOUT THIS REPORT
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ABOUT HRC

10.1million

over

man hours without

Lost Time Injury 
as at 31 December 2019

Please refer to the Sustainability Report 2019 for more details.

AT A GLANCE

Revenue

RM12.6 
billion

Profit  
After Tax

RM35.0 
million

Winner of the

National Council  
of Occupational Safety 
& Health (NCOSH) 
Award 2019
in the category of Major Industries – 
Petroleum / Gas / Chemicals.

Environmental Quality  
(Clean Air)  
Regulations 2014

FIRST 
Operating 
Refinery
in Malaysia to comply with
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work-related  

26 years

Zero
fatality record for over

FIRST 
Operating 
Refinery in Malaysia to achieve

ISO 37001: 2016  
Anti-Bribery Management Systems

Total sales 
volume in 2019

• ISO 9001: 2015 
Quality Management Systems

• ISO 45001: 2018  
Occupational Health and Safety 
Management Systems

• ISO 14001: 2015  
Environmental Management Systems

CERTIFICATION
• ISO 17025: 2017  

Testing and Calibration Laboratories 

• ISO / IEC 27001: 2013  
Information Security Management 
Systems

• ISO 37001: 2016  
Anti-Bribery Management Systems

EII energy  
efficiency index

1.43% 110.9

31%

19.4%
from 2018

in 2019 

in 2019 

reduced by improved to 

increased by

increased by

TOTAL  
Waste Generated

Near miss 
Potential Incident 
report submission
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ABOUT HRC

CHAIRmAN’S STATEmENT

WANG, YOUDE 
Chairman

KEEPING STRONG

During 2019, the excellent safety performance continued and we passed 10 million hours without a Lost Time Injury in early  
December. This milestone is rarely reached within the oil and gas industry and the Company is rightly proud of this achievement.

The Company’s investment of USD400 million in capex for sustainable development in major projects planned for execution from  
2017 to 2020 is indicative of our commitment towards fully realising the Company’s potential and growing the Company long-term  
at its current premises in Port Dickson.

HRC recorded an extremely good reliability performance with its Long Residue Catalytic Cracker Unit (LRCCU) during the year achieving 
an all-time record seven-month run without stoppage. Unfortunately, the full year performance was severely impacted by a failure  
of the Underwater Pipe Line End Manifold (PLEM) during October. However, the significant improvement in the underlying trend  
helped the refinery to an overall 3.7 per cent unplanned downtime.

Dear Shareholders,

During 2019, Hengyuan Refining 
Company Berhad (HRC or Company) 
continued the path set in 2017 
and 2018, focusing on solidifying 
the business and putting the 
infrastructure in place for a long-term 
profitable future. All major projects 
made significant progress and  
the operating refinery achieved 
several operating records. The 
international refining environment 
was tough, but the Company 
remains competitive and focused on 
sustainable performance.

I would like to share some of HRC’s 
notable achievements during 2019.
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Nonetheless, the tough external environment continued for 
oil refining regionally and globally. International markets were 
hit by a combination of volatile product prices, weak demand 
and oversupply of products and elevated freight rates in the 
latter half of the year. In our region, new refining capacity came  
on-stream in Malaysia, increasing the flow of products into well 
supplied markets. The result was depressed refining margins 
with January and June being the lowest margin months for  
the year.  

Notwithstanding the challenges faced, I am pleased to report 
that HRC had leveraged its strategic location and its strengths  
in reliability and hedging to deliver a fair result.

Details of the 2019 Market Environment can be found on page 30 
of the Management Discussion & Analysis.

BUILDING COLLABORATIvE PARTNERSHIPS

In the process of enhancing our operations, it has been 
heartening to note that HRC has built win-win collaborations 
during the year. HRC continues to gain technical guidance 
and support in various areas from Shandong Hengyuan 
Petrochemical Company Limited (SHPC) through official 
trips to SHPC in China to share and exchange knowledge,  
expertise and culture. Various experts from SHPC have also 
supported the site from time to time.

Closer to home, HRC has strengthened the relationship with  
our neighbouring refinery with mutual operational, safety and 
environmental benefits. 

We have also signed a Mutual Aid agreement for reciprocal 
emergency response support. We regard this collaboration as 
a positive step towards enhanced sustainability in serving the 
greater good of the Port Dickson community.

INTEGRITY IN OUR PROCESSES

Creating relationships of trust and transparency with all our 
stakeholders has always been a defining characteristic of 
HRC. Continuous focus is given to ensure business integrity 
and social responsibility through adherence to our General  
Business Principles. We aim to be a high performing organisation 
that is anchored on results, merit and exemplary integrity  
in our relationships with our stakeholders. This is HRC’s  
defining character.

Details on our General Business Principles are disclosed on page 10.

The HRC Control Framework was also fully embedded during 
2019. This gives a clear structure for the various controls and 
lines of defense for auditing and approval authorities. Internal 
and external audit programmes plans for the year were all 
completed and the closure of agreed action items from previous 
audits were monitored on time.  

Details on the Control Framework can be found on page 63.

Given the nature of our business and the impact it has on the 
environment, HRC holds itself to a high standard of disclosure. 
Communication with stakeholders continued to be one of  
the priorities during the year, and we provided timely business 
updates to relevant government agencies, enforcement bodies 
and communities and to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. 
Beyond this, regular community engagement activities were 
organised in which HRC contributed directly and indirectly to 
the general well-being of surrounding communities.

Further details on stakeholder engagements are disclosed on  
page 26.

The Board and I applaud the good work by HRC in 

receiving the certification for ISO 37001: 2016 for 

Anti-Bribery Management Systems in 2019. HRC is 

the first company in Negeri Sembilan; first oil and 

gas and chemical plant in Malaysia; and one of the  

first 25 organisations in Malaysia to achieve the  

ISO 37001 milestone.

HRC Crude Distillation Unit 1.
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ABOUT HRC

CHAIRmAN’S STATEmENT

HRC HarI Raya Staff Gathering 2019.

OUR PEOPLE, OUR ASSETS

One of HRC’s key strengths is the Company’s loyal and capable 
employees. We are proud to have a workforce that includes 
different generations of the same family and many long-serving 
individuals even up to 40 years. The capabilities and work 
conduct of HRC employees and the investments the Company 
has made in cultivating their skills are a source of much pride. 
Unfortunately, this has also made us a target for foreign and 
international oil refiners who have actively tried to recruit our 
employees during the year, with some success. Coinciding  
with the tough market environment, this has made for a  
challenging phase and employee morale has dipped at times  
during the year.

As a result, HRC put in place a employees retention scheme, 
reviewed the salary structure and focused on various team  
and group initiatives which are described further in the 
Management Discussion & Analysis (MD&A) section. An  
Employee Engagement Survey was launched during the year to 
gain further insights and information on how we can enhance 
our employee value proposition and create higher morale as  
well as increased loyalty and pride among key personnel.  
More emphasis on corporate branding and talent retention 
programs will pave the way forward for HRC in the coming  
years. The new Purpose, Vision and Mission put in place is 
part of the journey towards a more purposeful future with 
the Company.

Five shared values were also introduced in 2019 to shape 
employee behaviours towards a more dynamic corporate  
culture. These are Integrity, Collaboration, Accountability, 
Respect and Entrepreneurial.

Details on the Shared Values are disclosed on page 22.

2019 DIvIDENDS 

The Board  reviews the many different considerations on current 
and future financial positioning at each board meeting and 
makes a dividend recommendation considering the long-term 
interests of shareholders.  

The Board’s view is to maintain a conservative set of assumptions 
in cashflow and forecasting and other reviews. Hence no 
dividends were declared for the year ended 31 December 2019.

mOvING AHEAD

Building on our achievements in 2019, HRC’s main focus for 
2020 will continue to be on Rejuvenation and Streamlining. 
Namely, to improve and enhance current operations and business 
processes; to further develop our people; and to continue to 
comply with the government regulatory requirements for oil 
specification. This will enable HRC to cement its strengths and 
stay agile and responsive to available opportunities.

This has shown to be more important now than ever given 
the unprecedented challenges posed by the 2020 Covid-19 
pandemic and the oil price slump, among others. As the 
world and Malaysia evolves with conditions that are constantly 
changing, we too have to adapt and think about how we can  
do things better to ensure that we continue to deliver  
sustainable value to our shareholders. 

Investment of USD400 million  
in CAPEX for projects planned  

for execution from 2017 to 2020

10.1 million hours  
without a  

Lost Time Injury

96.3%  
operational availability

Highlights
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By further improving our reliability and operational excellence, 
HRC aims to leverage on the increased volume of saleable 
products. At the same time, streamlining initiatives such 
as improvements in information technology and focused 
cost reductions will enable productivity gains and help  
widen margins. 

Given that the challenging market environment is expected 
to continue, more quick-win initiatives such as forex and 
hydrocarbon hedging, engaging new customers and  
operational collaborations with our neighbouring refinery will 
also be pursued to improve profitability. Shareholders may  
be aware that from 1 January 2020, international shipping  
fuel sulphur levels will reduce. HRC has been preparing for  
this since 2017 and will reap gains from hedging and sales. 

In addition to continued asset rejuvenation, the completion 
of major projects and mitigation of delays will be another key  
focus for the year. 

At the same time, HRC is mindful of where the future leads. 
Market forecasts show that demand for petrol and diesel could 
decrease substantially in the decades ahead. The future holds 
opportunities beyond oil refining in new energy and alternative 
energy businesses such as Liquified Natural Gas (LNG) and 
diversification into petrochemicals. Further afield would be 
the conscious development of the HRC brand as a pioneer of 
sustainable solutions in energy and petrochemicals. 

Although this is a long-term journey for the Company over 
the next two decades, in building this brand in these early 
stages, HRC can initiate meaningful community activities and 
deepen engagement and relationships with local stakeholders 
in areas where we can make an immediate positive impact. The  
progress made in meeting Environmental Quality (Clean Air) 
Regulations 2014 requirements within the timeline is significant 
in this front.

To hold true to its refreshed Purpose, the HRC team is required 
to be poised and ever ready in closing gaps in talents, skills 
and productivity. I, along with the Board of Directors (Board),  
do believe that with their inspiring integrity, loyalty and passion 
this is a journey we will complete together.

THE SHAPE OF THE FUTURE
Building on HRC’s strengths and its position within the  
Hengyuan Group, a meaningful and aspirational Purpose has 
emerged: To Power Human Connections. Energised, inspired, 
and guided by its Purpose of how HRC can help make the 
world a better place, the management and employees of HRC 
refreshed the HRC Vision to one where the company aspires 
to be a leading global energy and petrochemical company, 
pioneering sustainable solutions. 

Details of HRC’s Purpose, Vision, Mission and Values can be found 
on page 22.

HRC’s Mission statement: To safeguard operational integrity, 
to be bold in our innovations, to leverage on the strength of 
our people and to maximise stakeholder value, will guide the 
Company forward in realising its audacious goals. Our action 
plans will continue to be anchored on HRC’s six strategic pillars 
of People First; Staying Safe & Reliable; Being $ Smart; Building 
a Sustainable Future; Rising Together; and Focusing on Growth. 

Details of HRC’s 2019 Business Priorities can be found on page 10.

ACKNOWLEDGEmENTS
On behalf of the Board, I take this opportunity to thank  
Mr David Ronald Keat, our hardworking Chief Executive Officer 
who had completed his contract on 29 February 2020. His 
dedicated service and contributions have made an indelible 
impact to HRC. We wish him well in his future endeavours. 

Taking his place as Chief Executive Officer is Mr Erkki Tapio 
Ranta, who took up his current duties and responsibilities  
on 1 March 2020. Mr Ranta brings with him vast experience in 
the oil and gas industry and has held a variety of engineering, 
executive roles and directorships for over 29 years. We extend him 
a warm welcome and look forward to his dynamic leadership.

Last but not least, I would like to thank our supportive 
shareholders and stakeholders for their commitment and  
trust in the long-term sustainability of HRC. An exciting era of 
growth awaits us all as we begin to make strides in powering 
human connections.

Wang, YouDe
Chairman

The Board and I are confident that the clearly  

defined short, medium and long-term goals and our 

action plans provide HRC a sustainable roadmap  

within which to prosper. We will further grow our 

refining business in Port Dickson while progressing 

towards our long-term vision to be a leading global 

energy and petrochemical company, pioneering 

sustainable solutions.
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ABOUT HRC

OUR STRENGTHS

Hengyuan Refining Company Berhad (HRC or Company) is a landmark refinery operator that 
supplies a significant volume of Malaysia’s oil products needs. We have played a dynamic role 
in Malaysia’s economic and social fabric since our establishment in 1960. From a single crude 
distiller with an operating capacity of 20,000 barrels per day, we have grown to be the nation’s 
third largest complex refinery with a licensed capacity of 156,000 barrels per day.

Shandong Hengyuan Petrochemical Company Limited (SHPC) owns a 51 per cent stake in 
HRC via Malaysia Hengyuan International Limited since December 2016. Founded in 1970 and 
incorporated in 1997 as an independent oil refinery, SHPC has achieved multiple accolades 
over the years as one of the Top 100 Leading Enterprises in Shandong and one of the Top 
500 Chinese Chemical Enterprises. SHPC’s proven expertise and technical capabilities provide 
beneficial synergies and support for HRC’s growth as a complex refinery capable of delivering 
high performance products and profitability.

Based in Port Dickson, we are one of the largest economic contributors to the state, and have 
provided employment to three generations of the surrounding community. Our employees are 
predominantly Malaysians, supported by some international employees. The overall team has a 
very wide range of experience and skills.

As a responsible operator, HRC consistently contributes to economic, educational, environmental, 
safety, social and welfare initiatives in the country. The refinery’s safety and reliability are in 
compliance with the legislative requirements of the Department of Occupational Safety and 
Health Malaysia.

Investing to be future-ready, we have also initiated projects required to meet specifications 
mandated by the Malaysian governing authorities and which are integral not only to HRC’s 
contribution towards nation building, but will also enable dynamic and sustainable growth 
through to 2020 and beyond.

OUR HERITAGE

OUR ANCHOR

OUR COmmITmENT

OUR PEOPLE

Hengyuan Refining Company Berhad (HRC or Company) stands strong on an established  
world-class corporate culture and good operating principles gleaned from our heritage and 
from our current major shareholder’s refining capabilities and expertise.
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CORPORATE INFORmATION

BOARD PROjECTS REvIEW 
COmmITTEE 
Wang, YouDe (Chair) 
Wang, ZongQuan 
Surinderdeep Singh Mohindar Singh 

BOARD TENDER COmmITTEE 
Wang, YouDe (Chair) 
Wang, ZongQuan 
Alan Hamzah Sendut 
Liang Kok Siang

BOARD WHISTLEBLOWING 
COmmITTEE 
Liang Kok Siang (Chair) 
Wang, YouDe  
Alan Hamzah Sendut 

SECRETARIES 
Lim Hooi mooi  
(SSM PC No 201908000134 / 
MAICSA No 0799764)

Ong Wai Leng 
(SSM PC No 202008003219 / 
MAICSA No 7065544)

AUDITORS 
PricewaterhouseCoopers PLT 
1 Sentral, Jalan Rakyat 
Kuala Lumpur Sentral  
P.O. Box 10192 
50706 Kuala Lumpur 
Tel : +603-2173 1188 
Fax : +603-2173 1288

SHARE REGISTRAR 
Tricor Investor & Issuing House 
Services Sdn Bhd 
Unit 32-01, Level 32, Tower A 
Vertical Business Suite 
Avenue 3, Bangsar South 
No 8, Jalan Kerinchi 
59200 Kuala Lumpur 
Tel : +603-2783 9299  
Fax : +603-2783 9222 

BOARD AUDIT COmmITTEE 
Alan Hamzah Sendut (Chair) 
Fauziah Hisham 
Liang Kok Siang 
Surinderdeep Singh Mohindar Singh

BOARD NOmINATING AND 
REmUNERATION COmmITTEE 
Surinderdeep Singh Mohindar Singh (Chair) 
Wang, YouDe 
Fauziah Hisham

BOARD RISK mANAGEmENT 
COmmITTEE 
Wang, ZongQuan (Chair) 
Alan Hamzah Sendut 
Liang Kok Siang

AGm HELP DESK 
Tricor Customer Service Centre 
Unit G-3, Ground Floor 
Vertical Podium 
Avenue 3, Bangsar South 
No 8, Jalan Kerinchi 
59200 Kuala Lumpur

STOCK ExCHANGE LISTING 
Main Board of 
Bursa malaysia 
Securities Berhad 
Stock Name : HENGYUAN 
Stock Code  : 4324 
Sector  : Energy 
Sub Sector : Oil & Gas Producers

REGISTERED OFFICE 
Unit 30-01, Level 30, Tower A 
Vertical Business Suite 
Avenue 3, Bangsar South 
No 8, Jalan Kerinchi 
59200 Kuala Lumpur 
Tel : +603-2783 9191  
Fax : +603-2783 9111

BUSINESS ADDRESS 
Batu 1, Jalan Pantai 
71000 Port Dickson 
Negeri Sembilan 
Tel : +606-641 2000

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Wang, YouDe
Chairman
Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

Wang, ZongQuan
Deputy Chairman
Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

Alan Hamzah Sendut
Independent Non-Executive Director

Fauziah Hisham
Independent Non-Executive Director

Liang Kok Siang
Independent Non-Executive Director

Surinderdeep Singh  
mohindar Singh 
Independent Non-Executive Director
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ABOUT HRC

GENERAL BUSINESS PRINCIPLES

HRC’s commitment to operating as a sustainable business requires that we integrate  
economic, environmental and social considerations from planning to execution. In all that we 
do, HRC is guided by the following eight general business principles.

BUSINESS INTEGRITY

HRC insists on honesty, integrity and fairness in all aspects of our 
business and expects the same in our relationships with all those 
with whom we do business. The direct or indirect offer, payment, 
soliciting or acceptance of bribes in any form is unacceptable. 
Facilitation payments are also bribes and must not be made.

Employees must avoid conflicts of interest between their private 
activities and their part in the conduct of the Company’s business. 
Employees are also required to declare any potential conflicts 
of interest. All business transactions on behalf of HRC must be 
reflected accurately and fairly in the accounts of the Company 
in accordance with established policies and procedures and are 
subject to audit and disclosure.

QUALITY, HEALTH, SAFETY, SECURITY & 
ENvIRONmENT

HRC has a systematic approach to health, safety, security and 
environmental management in order to achieve continuous 
performance improvement. To this end, we manage these 
matters as critical business activities, set standards and targets 
for improvement, and measure, appraise and report performance 
externally. We continually look for ways to reduce any negative 
environmental impact of our operations, products and services.

ECONOmIC

Long-term profitability is essential to achieve our business goals 
and to assure our continued growth. It is a measure of both 
efficiency and the value customers place on HRC’s products  
and services. It underpins the necessary corporate resources  
for the continuing investment that is required to develop and 
produce future energy supplies to meet customer needs.

Without profits and a strong financial foundation, it would not 
be possible to fulfil our responsibilities. Criteria for investment 
and divestment decisions include sustainable development 
considerations (economic, social and environmental) and an 
appraisal of the risks of the investment.

COmPETITION

HRC supports free enterprise. We seek to compete fairly and 
ethically and within the framework of applicable competition 
laws; we will not prevent others from competing freely with us.

 COmmUNICATION AND ENGAGEmENT

HRC recognises that regular dialogue and engagement with our 
stakeholders is essential. We are committed to reporting our 
performance by providing full relevant information to legitimately 
interested parties, subject to any overriding considerations of 
business confidentiality. In our interactions with employees, 
business partners and local communities, we seek to listen and 
respond honestly and responsibly.

COmPLIANCE

We comply with all applicable laws and regulations of Malaysia, 
and the countries where we have business dealings.

LOCAL COmmUNITIES

HRC aims to be a good neighbour by continuously improving 
the ways in which we contribute directly or indirectly to the 
general well-being of the communities within which we work. 
We manage the social impact of our business activities carefully 
and work with others to enhance benefits to local communities 
and to mitigate any negative impact as a result of our activities.

In addition, HRC takes a constructive interest in societal matters 
directly or indirectly related to our business.
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POLITICAL ACTIvITIES

A. Of company
 HRC acts in a socially responsible manner within the laws 

of Malaysia, and the laws of countries with which we have 
dealings in pursuit of our legitimate commercial objectives. HRC 
does not make payments to political parties, organisations or 
their representatives. HRC does not take part in party politics. 
When dealing with government, HRC has the right and the 
responsibility to make our position known on any matters  
which affect us, our employees, our customers, our shareholders 
or local communities, in a manner which is in accordance with 
our core values and General Business Principles.

B. Of employees
 Where individuals wish to engage in activities in the  

community, including standing for election to public office, 
they will be given the opportunity to do so where this is 
appropriate.

HRC 60th Annual General Meeting 2019.

HRC Business Integrity Week 2019. HRC Business Integrity Week 2019.
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ABOUT HRC

NOTICE OF 61ST ANNUAL GENERAL mEETING

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIvEN that the Sixty-First Annual General Meeting of Hengyuan  
Refining Company Berhad (the Company) will be held entirely through live streaming  
from the broadcast venue at Tricor Leadership Room, Unit 32-01, Level 32,  
Tower A, vertical Business Suite, Avenue 3, Bangsar South, No 8, jalan Kerinchi,  
59200 Kuala Lumpur (Broadcast venue) on Tuesday, 23 june 2020 at 10.00 a.m.  
to transact the following businesses:

AGENDA

ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. To receive the Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 and 
the Reports of the Directors and Auditors thereon.

[Please refer to Note (a)]

2. To re-elect the following Directors retiring in accordance with Article 81(c) of the Constitution of 
the Company, and who being eligible, have offered themselves for re-election:

i) Puan Fauziah Hisham

ii) Mr Wang, ZongQuan

 

(Ordinary Resolution 1)

(Ordinary Resolution 2)

3. To re-appoint Messrs PricewaterhouseCoopers PLT as Auditors of the Company until the 
conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting (AGM) and to authorise the Directors to fix  
their remuneration.

(Ordinary Resolution 3)

4. To approve payment of Non-Executive Directors’ fees and benefits of up to RM2,300,000.00  
for the period from 1 June 2020 until 30 May 2021.

[Please refer to Note (b)]

(Ordinary Resolution 4)

SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions:-

5. AUTHORITY TO ALLOT AND ISSUE SHARES PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 75 AND 76 OF THE 
COmPANIES ACT 2016

“THAT pursuant to Sections 75 and 76 of the Companies Act 2016 (the Act) and subject to 
approvals from Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (Bursa Securities) for the listing of and quotation 
for the additional shares so issued and other relevant authorities, where approval is necessary, 
authority be and is hereby given to the Directors to allot and issue shares in the Company at any 
time upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes as the Directors may in their absolute 
discretion deem fit provided always that the aggregate number of shares to be issued shall not 
exceed 10% of the total number of issued shares of the Company for the time being AND THAT 
such authority shall continue to be in force until the conclusion of the next AGM of the Company.”

[Please refer to Note (c)]

(Ordinary Resolution 5)
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6. PROPOSED AUTHORITY FOR SHARE BUY-BACK

“THAT subject always to the Act, the Constitution of the Company, the Main Market Listing 
Requirements of Bursa Securities (Listing Requirements) and all other applicable laws, guidelines, 
rules and regulations, the Company be and is hereby authorised, to the fullest extent permitted 
by law, to purchase such number of issued shares in the Company as may be determined by 
the Directors of the Company from time to time through Bursa Securities upon such terms  
and conditions as the Directors may deem fit and expedient in the interest of the Company 
provided that:

i. the aggregate number of issued shares in the Company (Shares) purchased (Purchased Shares) 
and / or held as treasury shares pursuant to this ordinary resolution does not exceed ten per 
centum (10%) of the total number of issued shares of the Company as quoted on Bursa 
Securities as at point of purchase; and

ii. the maximum fund to be allocated by the Company for the purpose of purchasing the shares 
shall not exceed the aggregate of the retained profits of the Company based on the latest 
audited financial statements and / or the latest management accounts (where applicable) 
available at the time of the purchase,

(Proposed Share Buy-Back).

AND THAT the authority to facilitate the Proposed Share Buy-Back will commence immediately 
upon passing of this Ordinary Resolution and will continue to be in force until:

a. the conclusion of the next AGM of the Company following at which time the authority shall 
lapse unless by ordinary resolution passed at the meeting, the authority is renewed, either 
unconditionally or subject to conditions;

b. the expiration of the period within which the next AGM of the Company is required by law 
to be held; or

c. revoked or varied by ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders of the Company at a 
general meeting,

whichever occurs first, but shall not prejudice the completion of purchase(s) by the Company of 
its own Shares before the aforesaid expiry date and, in any event, in accordance with the Listing 
Requirements and any applicable laws, rules, regulations, orders, guidelines and requirements 
issued by any relevant authorities.

(Ordinary Resolution 6)
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AND THAT the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised, at their discretion, to deal 
with the Purchased Shares until all the Purchased Shares have been dealt with by the Directors 
in the following manner as may be permitted by the Act, Listing Requirements, applicable laws, 
rules, regulations, guidelines, requirements and / or orders of any relevant authorities for the time  
being in force:

i. To cancel all or part of the Purchased Shares;

ii. To retain all or part of the Purchased Shares as treasury shares as defined in Section 127 of  
the Act;

iii. To distribute all or part of the treasury shares as dividends to the shareholders of the  
Company;

iv. To resell all or part of the treasury shares;

v. To transfer all or part of the treasury shares for the purposes of or under the employees’  
share scheme established by the Company and / or its subsidiaries;

vi. To transfer all or part of the treasury shares as purchase consideration; 

vii. To sell, transfer or otherwise use the shares for such other purposes as the Minister may by 
order prescribe; and / or

viii. To deal with the treasury shares in the manners as allowed by the Act, Listing Requirements, 
applicable laws, rules, regulations, guidelines, requirements and / or orders of any relevant 
authorities for the time being in force.

AND THAT the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to take all such steps as 
are necessary or expedient, including without limitation, the opening and maintaining of central 
depository account(s) under Securities Industry (Central Depositories) Act, 1991, and the entering 
into all other agreements, arrangements and guarantee with any party or parties, to implement, 
finalise and give full effect to the Proposed Share Buy-Back with full powers to assent to any 
conditions, modifications, revaluations, variations and / or amendments (if any) as may be imposed 
by the relevant authorities.

[Please refer to Note (d)]
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7. PROPOSED RENEWAL OF ExISTING SHAREHOLDERS’ mANDATE FOR RECURRENT 
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS OF A REvENUE OR TRADING NATURE  

“THAT subject to the Listing Requirements, approval be and is hereby given for the Company 
to enter into recurrent related party transactions of a revenue or trading nature with the related 
parties as set out in Section 2.2.2 of the Circular to the Shareholders dated 22 May 2020 which are 
necessary for day-to-day operations and are carried out in the ordinary course of business on terms 
which are not more favourable to the related parties than those generally available to the public 
and are undertaken on an arms’ length basis and not to the detriment of minority shareholders;   

AND THAT the authority conferred by such mandate shall commence upon the passing of this 
resolution and continue to be in full force until:

(a) the conclusion of the next AGM of the Company at which this shareholders’ mandate will 
lapse, unless by a resolution passed at the next AGM, the mandate is renewed;    

(b) the expiration of the period within which the next AGM is required to be held pursuant to 
Section 340 of the Act; or

(c) revoked or varied by resolution passed by the shareholders in general meeting;

whichever is the earlier; 

AND THAT the Board of Directors be and is hereby authorised to complete and do all such acts 
and things as it may consider expedient or necessary (including executing such documents as may 
be required) to give effect to the transactions contemplated and / or authorised by this mandate.”

(Ordinary Resolution 7)

8. PROPOSED AmENDmENT OF THE CONSTITUTION OF THE COmPANY

“THAT the approval be and hereby given to the existing Constitution of the Company be amended 
by revising the heading of Article 54 of the Constitution with immediate effect as set out in Part C 
of the Circular to the Shareholders dated 22 May 2020 AND THAT the Directors of the Company 
be and hereby authorised to assent to any modifications, variations and / or amendments as may 
be required by the relevant authorities and to do all such acts and things and take all such steps as 
may be considered necessary to give effect to the foregoing.”

[Please refer to Note (e)]

(Special Resolution 1) 

9. To transact any other business of the Company of which due notice shall have been given in 
accordance with the Act and the Constitution of the Company.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Lim Hooi Mooi (SSM PC No 201908000134 / MAICSA No 0799764)
Ong Wai Leng (SSM PC No 202008003219 / MAICSA No 7065544)
Company Secretaries

Dated this 22 May 2020 
Kuala Lumpur
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9. The signature to the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies 
executed outside Malaysia must be attested by a solicitor, notary 
public, consul or magistrate.

10. A member who wishes to participate and vote at this AGM via RPV 
or a member who has appointed a proxy or attorney or authorised 
representative to participate and vote at this AGM via RPV must sign 
up or request that his / her proxy sign up as a RPv user at the 
TIIH Online website at https://tiih.online. 

 Members or proxies who have registered as a RPV user must 
register to attend and participate at the AGm via RPv (AGm 
Registration). AGm Registration is open from 10.00 a.m. Friday, 
22 may 2020 up to 10.00 a.m. Sunday, 21 june 2020. Please 
follow the steps contained in the “Procedures for RPV” section of the 
Administrative Guide for the Company’s 61st AGM. 

11. The appointment of a proxy may be made in a hard copy form or by 
electronic means in the following manner and must be received by 
the Company not less than 48 hours before the time set for holding 
the AGM at which the person named in the appointment proposes 
to vote: 

(i) In hard copy form 
 In the case of an appointment made in hard copy form, the proxy 

form must be deposited at the office of the share registrar of 
the Company, Tricor Investor & Issuing House Services Sdn Bhd,  
at Unit 32-01, Level 32, Tower A, Vertical Business Suite,  
Avenue 3, Bangsar South, No 8, Jalan Kerinchi, 59200 Kuala 
Lumpur, Malaysia or at its Customer Service Centre at Unit G-3, 
Ground Floor, Vertical Podium, Avenue 3, Bangsar South, No 8, 
Jalan Kerinchi, 59200 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia. 

(ii) Online (available for individual shareholders only)
 In the case of an appointment made via online lodgement 

facility, please access the website at https://tiih.online and 
select “e-Services” to login. Please refer to the Administrative  
Guide for the Company’s 61st AGM on how to register at  
TIIH Online and submit your proxy form electronically.

 The last date and time for lodging the proxy form is Sunday,  
21 june 2020 at 10.00 a.m., which is also the date and time for 
the closing of the AGM Registration. As such, we recommend 
that the appointment of proxy be done as early as possible so 
that the appointed proxy has sufficient time to complete the  
AGM Registration. 

12. Any authority pursuant to which such an appointment is made by 
a power of attorney must be deposited with the share registrar in 
accordance with Note 11(i) above not less than forty-eight (48) 
hours before the time appointed for holding the AGm or 
adjourned general meeting at which the person named in the 
appointment proposes to vote. A copy of the power of attorney 
may be accepted provided that it is certified notarially and / or in 
accordance with the applicable legal requirements in the relevant 
jurisdiction in which it is executed. 

NOTES:-

1. IMPORTANT NOTICE

 The Broadcast Venue is strictly for the purpose of complying 
with Section 327(2) of the Companies Act 2016 which requires 
the Chairperson of the meeting to be present at the main venue of 
the meeting. 

 Shareholders WILL NOT BE ALLOWED to attend the 61st AGM in 
person at the Broadcast Venue on the day of the meeting. 

 Shareholders are to attend, speak (including posing questions to  
the Board via real time submission of typed texts) and vote 
(collectively, participate) remotely at the 61st AGM via the  
Remote Participation and Voting facilities (RPV) provided by Tricor 
Investor & Issuing House Services Sdn Bhd via its TIIH Online 
website at https://tiih.online. 

 Please refer to the “Procedures for RPv” in the Administrative 
Guide for the Company’s 61    AGm and take note of Notes (2) 
to (13) below in order to participate remotely via RPv.

2. For the purpose of determining who shall be entitled to participate  
in this AGM via RPV, the Company shall be requesting Bursa  
Malaysia Depository Sdn Bhd to make available to the Company, 
the Record of Depositors as at 15 june 2020. Only a member 
whose name appears on this Record of Depositors shall be entitled 
to participate in this AGM via RPV.

3. A member who is entitled to participate in this AGM via RPV is 
entitled to appoint a proxy or attorney or in the case of a corporation, 
to appoint a duly authorised representative to participate in his / her 
place. A proxy may but need not be a member of the Company. 

4. A member of the Company who is entitled to attend and vote at a 
general meeting of the Company may appoint not more than two 
(2) proxies to participate instead of the member at the AGM via RPV.  
A member may appoint more than one proxy in relation to a  
meeting, provided that the member specifies the proportion of the 
member’s shareholdings to be represented by each proxy.

5. Where a member of the Company is an exempt authorised nominee 
which holds ordinary shares in the Company for multiple beneficial 
owners in one securities account (Omnibus Account), there is no limit 
to the number of proxies which the exempt authorised nominee may 
appoint in respect of each Omnibus Account it holds.

6. Where an exempt authorised nominee appoints two (2) or more 
proxies, the proportion of shareholdings to be represented by each 
proxy must be specified in the instrument appointing the proxies.

7. A proxy need not be a member of the Company. There shall be no 
restriction as to the qualification of the proxy.

8. The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing and signed  
by the appointor or by his attorney who is authorised in writing. 
In the case of a corporation, the instrument appointing a proxy 
or proxies must be made under seal or signed by an officer or an 
attorney duly authorised.

st 
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13. For a corporate member who has appointed a representative, please 
deposit the ORIGINAL certificate of appointment with the share 
registrar in accordance with Note 11(i) above. The certificate of 
appointment should be executed in the following manner:

(i) If the corporate member has a common seal, the certificate of 
appointment should be executed under seal in accordance with 
the constitution of the corporate member. 

(ii) If the corporate member does not have a common seal, the 
certificate of appointment should be affixed with the rubber 
stamp of the corporate member (if any) and executed by:

(a) at least two (2) authorised officers, of whom one shall be a 
director; or

(b) any director and / or authorised officers in accordance with 
the laws of the country under which the corporate member 
is incorporated.

14. The Date of Record of Depositors for the purpose of determining 
members’ entitlement to participate at the 61st AGM via RPV is  
15 June 2020.

Explanatory Notes:

a. Agenda No 1

 This item is meant for discussion only. The provisions of Section 
340(1)(a) of the Act require that the audited financial statements 
and the Reports of the Directors and Auditors thereon be laid before 
the Company at its AGM. As such, this Agenda item is not a business 
which requires a resolution to be put to vote by shareholders.

b. Ordinary Resolution No 4

 This resolution is to facilitate payment of Non-Executive Directors’ 
fees and benefits for the period from 1 June 2020 to 30 May 2021. 

 In the event the Non-Executive Directors’ fees and benefits proposed 
are insufficient (e.g. due to more meetings or enlarged Board size), 
approval will be sought at the next AGM for additional fees to meet 
the shortfall. 

 Directors’ benefits include meeting allowances and other 
emoluments payable to Directors and in determining the estimated 
total the Board had considered various factors including the number 
of scheduled meetings for the Board and Board Committees and 
covers the period from 1 June 2020 to 30 May 2021.   

c. Ordinary Resolution No 5

 The proposed Resolution No 5 is to provide flexibility to the  
Company to issue new securities without the need to convene 
separate general meeting to obtain its shareholders’ approval so as  
to avoid incurring additional cost and time. The purpose of this 
general mandate is to enable potential fund raising exercises, 
including but not limited to further placement of shares for the 
purposes of funding current and / or future investment projects, 
working capital, repayment of bank borrowings, acquisitions  
and / or for the issuance of shares as settlement of purchase 
consideration. Should the mandate be exercised, the Directors 
will utilise the proceeds raised for working capital or such other 
applications they may in their absolute discretion deem fit. 

d. Ordinary Resolution No 6

 The proposed Resolution No 6, if passed, will empower the Directors 
to purchase, on behalf of the Company, up to 10% of the total 
number of issued shares of the Company by utilising the funds 
allocated which shall not exceed the retained profits of the Company. 
This authority, unless revoked or varied at a general meeting, will 
expire at the conclusion of the next AGM of the Company.

 For further information, please refer to the Share Buy-Back Statement 
dated 22 May 2020 accompanying the Company’s Annual Report 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2019.

e. Special Resolution No 1

 The proposed Special Resolution No 1 is tabled to revise the  
heading of Article 54 of the Constitution to ensure clarity of the 
Company’s Constitution. 

1. There is no person seeking election as director of the Company at this Annual General Meeting.

2. Details of the general mandate to issue shares in the Company pursuant to Sections 75 and 76 of the Companies Act 2016 are 
set out in Explanatory Note (c) of the Notice of AGM.

STATEmENT ACCOmPANYING NOTICE OF ANNUAL 
GENERAL mEETING
(PURSUANT TO PARAGRAPH 8.27(2) OF THE MAIN MARKET LISTING REQUIREMENTS OF 
BURSA MALAYSIA SECURITIES BERHAD)



We aim to be a high performing  

organisation with integrity as one of  

our defining and distinctive values. 

In all we do, we are guided  

by our General Business Principles.  

Business transactions are based  

on honesty, integrity and fairness; and  

we expect the same level of integrity  

from those with whom we do business. 

We also safeguard asset integrity and 

make no compromises in delivering  

quality services and products.

FIRST oil and gas and 
chemical plant in Malaysia  
to be certified with  

ISO 37001: 2016 
Anti-Bribery Management 
Systems  

Achieved 

ISO / IEC  
27001: 2013 
Information Security 
Management Systems



INTEGRITY
in people, governance  

and systems  
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BUSINESS OvERvIEW 

Set up in 1960 and operational since 1963, Hengyuan Refining Company Berhad (HRC or the 
Company) operates as one of the most established and reliable refiners in Malaysia. Our oil 
refinery in Port Dickson, Negeri Sembilan has played an integral role in the nation’s oil and gas 
industry. Every day, we process crude oil from Malaysia and all over the world to deliver up to 
156,000 barrels of petroleum products to customers in Malaysia and within Southeast Asia.   

Our main business activities are focused around operating and 
maintaining our refinery and supplying refined products to our 
customers through three channels: the multi-product pipeline  
to the Klang Valley and KLIA, our truck loading gantry for local 
customers (Negeri Sembilan) and exporting products to vessels 
through our jetty. 

Our plant is a complex refinery. The main operating units 
comprise two crude distillers, a long residue catalytic cracker  
unit (LRCCU), two naphtha treaters and a Merox plant, one 
reformer and a gasoil treatment plant. These assets are well 
maintained with a strong focus on asset integrity and reliability. 
Two new units to produce Euro 4 Malaysia fuel specification  
for petrol and Euro 5 fuel specification for diesel and a new 
unit to produce hydrogen are under construction and will be 
commissioned in the near future.

Fuel Oil 
Component

Diesel  

Gasoil Treater
(Hijau & Euro 5 Gasoil)

H2GEN

LRCCU 

Crude Tanks

Crude Distillers
1 & 2

Merox

Naphtha
Treaters

1 & 2

Reformer
Jet Fuel 

Petrol

Light Naphtha

Propylene

Liquified Petroleum Gas

Additional

Platformate
Sulphur
   

Upcoming
Euro 4 Mogas

AN OvERvIEW OF HRC’S REFINERY



21HENGYUAN REFINING COMPANY BERHAD 

Our crude oil supply is sourced from Malaysian and  
international trade partners based on commercial viability and 
competitive pricing. We continue to focus on building more 
relationships with the crude supply network locally, regionally 
and globally to benefit from competitive pricing. To complement 
these diversification efforts, HRC has also implemented  
intricate hedging arrangements to protect refining margins 
against volatility and mitigate the impacts of sudden crude  
price escalations.

Our comprehensive range of petroleum products includes 
liquefied petroleum gas (LPG), petrol, jet fuel, diesel, fuel oil 
components, sulphur and chemical feedstocks (such as light 
naphtha and propylene).

SOURCES OF CRUDE

44% Malaysia

16% Russia

40% Far East /  
 Middle East /  
 Africa / USA

Hijau Unit - A diesel hydrodesulphurisation unit.
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OUR STRATEGIC COmPASS 

The main focus of HRC’s activities since 2016 have been to build and strengthen the  
Company’s refining capability for long-term sustainability. However, we are also conscious  
of the changing world around us and the need to evolve and adapt in the long term.

What Guides Us: OUR PURPOSE

WE POWER HUmAN CONNECTIONS

What We Aspire To: OUR vISION

TO BE A LEADING GLOBAL ENERGY AND PETROCHEmICAL COmPANY, 
PIONEERING SUSTAINABLE SOLUTIONS

What Drives Us: OUR mISSION

WE ARE COmmITTED TO SAFEGUARD OUR OPERATIONAL INTEGRITY,  
BE BOLD IN OUR INNOvATIONS, LEvERAGE THE STRENGTH OF OUR PEOPLE,  

AND TO mAxImISE STAKEHOLDER vALUE

People are at the heart of what we do. We connect and bring people together through connections, solutions and conveniences  
that our products create, such as fuel for reaching destinations, and LPG that cooks daily meals and food for celebratory occasions. 
Being conscious of this bigger and more meaningful purpose drives us to create greater value in the many things that we do every day.

As a long-standing and valued part of Port Dickson’s social and community fabric, we power connections by giving back to the  
community where we can. We work very hard on being a responsible corporate citizen, staying mindful of maintaining a minimal 
environmental footprint while making a positive contribution to the local community, state and national economies through 
employment, taxes and as enablers to other industries. We employ local employees and vendors wherever possible and nurture a 
conducive workplace which has been successful in attracting two and even three generations of families as employees. We maintain 
high ethical and governance standards for ourselves to build relationships of trust with our stakeholders, and our corporate social 
responsibility programmes directs social investments to help the Port Dickson community.

In 2019, HRC engaged in a company-wide identification of our 
Purpose and a redefinition of our Vision, Mission and Values in  
response to the energy sector future changes and to guide us 
towards making meaningful progress in the long-term direction 
of growth for the Company.

This has resulted in greater clarity and synergy as HRC heads 
for the next frontier of growth in 2020 and beyond, towards 
becoming a global energy solutions company.

We have redefined our Vision towards a new frontier of growth. The future outlook for oil and gas is a long-term decline in petrol 
consumption and a general trend away from hydrocarbon transport fuels. However, the future market for petrochemicals and low 
carbon gas for power generation is very positive. This scenario may pose a major challenge for a traditional oil refiner, but it also  
creates significant new opportunities in petrochemicals, new energy and potential alternative energy businesses such as liquefied 
natural gas (LNG). To be able to leverage on these opportunities, change must come now and therefore HRC has redefined our vision 
to embrace industry leadership, an international footprint, a pioneering and entrepreneurial spirit and a focus on sustainable solutions.

Our mission statement has been compacted to reflect the pivotal game changers that will move HRC from a local refinery to a dynamic 
global energy solutions company over the next 20 to 30 years. For the next few years we need to make the best of our existing 
resources to close identified gaps between what we have at hand, and what we require to achieve our mission. These action plans 
will continue to be anchored on HRC’s six strategic pillars of People First, Safe & Reliable, $ Smart, Sustainable Future, Rise Together  
and Growth.
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The core drivers towards meeting our Vision are encapsulated in the behaviour and attitude of every  
HRC employee. As the heartbeat of the Company, the values and principles we abide by create the 
distinctive culture of HRC which sets us apart from other companies. Applying these five selected 
values becomes the decision making filter in every action taken by a HRC employee and cultivates 
a culture of competitive innovation against an all-encompassing commitment to build positive  
stakeholder outcomes.

INTEGRITY COLLABORATION RESPECT ENTREPRENEURIALACCOUNTABILITY

What Defines Us: OUR vALUES

vALUES

The products we produce are part of the value  

chain that brings and keeps people together daily. 

Petrol and diesel fuelled vehicles help bridge the 

distance between families, friends and businesses 

and the jet fuel we produce enables air travel. LPG 

used for cooking in kitchens creates enjoyable 

mealtimes. We also produce precursors to the 

plastics used in daily life conveniences such as in 

your smartphone, your clothes and many other 

products that are an everyday necessity for living  

life comfortably and enjoyably.
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BUSINESS STRATEGY

We adhere to six strategic pillars that drive our business and operations at all levels to 
ensure safe and reliable performance, and remain commercially relevant whilst enabling  
HRC to embrace new opportunities and grow sustainably.

STAYING SAFE & RELIABLE  
Strategic Priority 1

Safe and reliable operations are the cornerstones of our  
operations. HRC’s Reliability Management Framework is the 
foundation for ensuring the integrity of our assets and optimising 
our production performance. We continuously maintain and 
improve our Quality, Health, Safety, Security and Environment 
(QHSSE) standards, policies and practices.

Process and personal safety are key components to ensure 
safe and responsible operations. We build on our Health, 
Safety, Security, Environment and Social Performance (HSSE 
& SP) Commitment and Policy to continuously improve and 
develop safety procedures and training programmes. We instil a  
‘reliability mindset’ to promote individual ownership and 
excellence at every phase of asset management, and work 
towards a Goal Zero (Zero injuries, Zero significant incidents 
and Zero leaks) culture. We also conduct Learning from Incident  
sessions, which enable us to strengthen the awareness of our 
people on safety and learn from past experiences both internally 
and internationally. This strategic priority ensures we can 
safeguard asset integrity and deliver continuous and sustainable 
QHSSE excellence.

PUTTING PEOPLE FIRST 
Strategic Priority 2

Our employees are instrumental to the success of the Company, 
and we strive to become and remain an employer of choice in  
our sector within the Malaysian market. At HRC, we strive to 
enable our employees to reach their full potential by providing 
them with opportunities for growth and skill development, 
competitive remuneration and a satisfying and rewarding team 
culture. Our programmes are continuously reviewed to deliver a 
complete Employee Value Proposition. 

 

BUILDING A SUSTAINABLE 
FUTURE  
Strategic Priority 3 

HRC knows that long-term success means creating long-term 
value for our stakeholders, and that means to do well both in 
our operations, and for the people and environment around us. 
To secure consistent economic performance and business  
success, HRC strives to achieve product excellence and  
operational efficiency through the implementation of stringent 
QHSSE standards, operational excellence, improved reliability 
practices and talent management, while safeguarding the 
environment within which we operate.

We undertake projects and initiatives that allow us to continue 
operating in compliance with regulatory requirements. These 
include our recently completed and on-going CAR, Euro 4M and 
Euro 5G projects.

We also care for our neighbouring communities and cultivate 
strong relationships with them through corporate social 
responsibility activities revolving around the themes that resonate 
with our business - environment, safety, education and society. 
We build strong foundations across key sustainability areas that 
are the basis of our resilience. 

RISING TOGETHER 
Strategic Priority 4

We recognise that our success is not just about us but extends to 
our stakeholders just as well. We work closely with government 
and regulatory agencies, communities, customers and suppliers, 
and continuously engage them in forging new advancements, 
producing cleaner fuels, and supporting collective growth. We 
work closely with our neighbouring refinery where possible for 
mutual commercial benefit.
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BEING $ SmART 
Strategic Priority 5

A cost-conscious mindset helps us manage our financial 
sustainability. We not only reduced exposure to foreign  
exchange and hydrocarbon risks, but also achieved further  
margin protection through disciplined execution of hydrocarbon 
hedging policies in 2019. In addition, we renegotiated  
significant service and materials contracts at market competitive 
prices, leveraging on longer-term volume and cost modelling  
for cost optimisation. This strategic priority enables the Company 
to maximise refinery margins and deliver on-going structural  
cost reductions.

FOCUSING ON GROWTH 
Strategic Priority 6

As an independent refiner, we aspire to make our mark in the 
international market by generating improved margins through 
more optimised and efficient operations. As part of our business 
improvement process (BIP), continual diversification of our  
crude oil supply and customer base is necessary to build 
resilience while expanding our product portfolio will enable 
us to meet customers’ requirements. The focus on reliability,  
as well as investments to rejuvenate our plant assets, will 
enable an increase in the volume of products available for  
sale and ensure sustainable operations for the longer-term.  
Other potential opportunities for growth include product  
trading and leveraging on alliances with other industry players.

HRC positions itself as a reliable supplier of choice with commercial strategies and a competitive, sustainable cost 
base. Our short-term focus is to continuously strengthen and keep our foundations rock solid, as we improve and 
enhance on current operations, processes and people, and sweat the assets. This enables HRC to be ready to exploit 
any opportunities available and complement growth within the Hengyuan Group.

SETTING THE FOUNDATION FOR LONGER-TERm GROWTH

GROWTH

Ready to complement  
and maximise opportunities  

within Hengyuan Group 

World-class Safety & Asset Reliability 
•	 Goal Zero
•	 High Uptime
•	 Nimbleness to leverage on market 

conditions

People  
•	 Proud to work here
•	 Ownership in deliverables
•	 Strong branding

Compliance   
•	 Product specifications
•	 Statutory requirements
•	 Controls and Procedures

margins, Commercial 
•	 No $ left on table
•	 Capture every margin increase 

opportunity
•	 Production cost KPI  

Optimised Cost  
•	 Reduce fixed costs
•	 Reduce complexity
•	 Explore new vendors 

SWEAT THE ASSETS

FOUNDATIONS
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEmENT

Our stakeholders are individuals or groups who have an impact or are impacted by our business. 
As a responsible corporate citizen and a significant contributor to Malaysia’s oil and fuel needs, 
we recognise the responsibility we have to our shareholders our people, neighbouring and 
fenceline communities, customers, business partners, suppliers and regulators.

Maintaining responsive channels with our stakeholders is key 
to our sustainability strategy. We communicate and collaborate 
with our stakeholders regularly through various arrangements 
to better identify and assess material sustainability issues. 

This process also enables the Company to prioritise strategic 
decisions and the direction of the business to manage the 
reasonable expectations and interests of our stakeholders.

•	 Town	Halls Quarterly

Nurture and engage employees 
to instill a sense of pride in the 
Company, provide a conducive 
work environment while 
ensuring growth opportunities 
and career development

•	 Employee	Information On-going

•	 Intranet On-going

•	 Development	Discussions Annually

•	 Events	and	Campaigns On-going

•	 Training On-going

•	 Team	Meetings On-going

•	 Informal	Meetings On-going

•	 Meetings Quarterly and as required

Build and sustain relationship, 
obtain feedback on concerns 
and provide update on current 
issues

•	 Survey Annually

Offer high quality products and 
service offerings

•	 Email	Communication As required

•	 Supply	and	delivery	
meetings

Quarterly

•	 Site	visits As required

•	 Conferences On-going

Stakeholders Engagement Channel Frequency Purpose

Employees

Union

Customers
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•	 Vendor	registration On-going

Set clear expectations to 
maintain high standards for 
delivery of products or services 
to the Company

•	 Bid	/	Tender	Process On-going

•	 Meetings As required

•	 Audit Annually

•	 Conferences On-going

Disseminate timely and 
material information on the 
Company’s activities and 
financial performance to 
facilitate decision-making by 
investors

•	 Annual	General	Meeting Annually

•	 Annual	Report Annually

•	 Announcement As required

•	 Community	Events	and	
Campaigns

On-going
Build and maintain good 
relationships while being a 
‘Good Neighbour’, i.e. carrying 
out our corporate social 
responsibilities to the local 
communities

•	 Dialogue On-going & as required

Strict compliance with all laws 
and regulations to maintain 
operating licences

Participation in discussions 
and knowledge sharing for 
improvements in industry best 
practices

•	 Consultation	and	Dialogue On-going

•	 Email	Communication On-going

•	 Inspection As required

•	 Face-to-face	meetings On-going
Provide business familiarity 
and sustain efficient business 
operations

Stakeholders Engagement Channel Frequency Purpose

Shareholders  
and Investors

Regulators

Community

Government 
Agencies

Suppliers



We recognise the need for teamwork with 

internal and external stakeholders and 

partners. Collaboration opens up new 

windows of opportunity. 

HRC creates results by engaging  

in effective partnerships throughout  

our product supply chain. 

Through joint operational excellence, 

we are harnessing win-win synergies for 

commercial benefit, sharing of emergency 

response resources and improved 

operational efficiency. 

Knowledge sharing 
with Shandong 
Hengyuan 
Petrochemical 
Company Limited 
(SHPC)

Mutual aid 
agreement with  
a local oil and  
gas company 



COLLABORATION
towards effective  

partnerships   
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS  

mARKET CHALLENGES

Oil refiners continued to experience a volatile year in 20191. Global economic and geopolitical 
impacts created a tough external environment which caused oil demand to grow more  
slowly than anticipated as some of the top oil consumers faced economic slowdown due to 
economic reforms and trade embroilments with the US.  

Year on year oil demand growth was below expectations 
because of economic uncertainties. There was a barely  
perceptible increase from 99.31 million barrels a day (mb / d) 
in the first quarter (Q1) of 2018 to 99.82 mb / d in Q1 2019. 
Crude prices averaged lower to USD64.3 per barrel (/ bbl) in  
2019 compared to USD71.04 / bbl in 2018.  

Volatile product prices, an oversupply of products and elevated 
freight rates in the latter half of the year also impacted global 
refining margins. In addition, new refining capacity came  
on-stream in Malaysia, increasing the flow of products into well 
supplied markets. The result for HRC was depressed refining 
margins that dropped to the lowest in more than six years in 
January and June 2019.  

There is little reprieve from volatility and uncertainty. Over the 
past decade, we have seen the heights of bullish optimism  
and seemingly limitless investment during the years of the 
USD100 / bbl world, from 2011 to mid-2014, and the lows 
of the price crash and extended oil downturn, from mid-2014 
to 2017. Moving ahead, wider macroeconomic and business 
environmental risks which seem to be gaining strength are:

• Weakening economic growth in the United States (US), Europe 
and China

• On-going trade tensions, which create uncertainty, dampen 
growth, and lead to modifications in long-established supply 
chains

• Political risks, including the US election cycle, the outcome 
of the Brexit process in Europe, and US-Iran tensions in the 
Middle East

• Local oversupply of products from new refineries in Malaysia 
and Southeast Asia

• Global and domestic economic uncertainties as a result of the 
Novel Coronavirus (Covid-19) pandemic

Vigilance is required to keep moving forward in 2020. Though 
the current standoff between the US and Iran is expected to 
lead to a more stable outlook for the oil and gas industry, any 
further escalation of the crisis will potentially result in temporary 
disruption in oil supply and rise in oil price.

Further ahead, commitments to stop climate change introduced 
more uncertainty into future oil demand. In its research outlook, 
Barclays2 predicted that oil demand could peak by 2025 and 
fall 30 per cent by 2050 if countries keep to their Paris Climate 
Accord commitments.

2020 OIL AND GAS SECTOR TRENDS

• Trade and economic headwinds are causing uncertainty  
for transport fuel markets 

• Increasing security and decreasing demand of global oil 
supply 

• LNG volumes are up, but sanctioning new projects will be 
hard 

• Oil and gas investors are expecting increased efficiencies 
despite slowdown 

• The energy transition is gaining momentum in the oil and 
gas sector

The way forward is to balance short and long-term needs 
by staying alert to the many risks and uncertainties clouding 
the outlook for 2020 while standing ready to embrace new 
opportunities for profitable growth in a rapidly evolving market 
landscape. HRC is cementing capability to supply current markets 
while looking at commercial opportunities and partnerships 
wherever possible.

As we carefully build capabilities for the future around new 
energy solutions, financial discipline and prudent investment 
strategies should help stabilise and sustain performance in the 
near term.

Sources:
1 Information sourced from MIDF Research 2019 Report, Deloitte Oil and Gas Industry Outlook 2020 and EIA Annual Energy Outlook 2020.
2 Barclays Investment Bank: Oil in 3D: insights and research report.
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2019 PERFORmANCE REvIEW

HERE TO STAY. HERE TO GROW

Rejuvenation Focus

• Sustaining Our Safety Culture

• Preserving Process Safety

• Enhancing Operational 
Reliability

• Ensuring Product Quality

• Ethical Business Culture

• Execution of Key Investment  
Projects

• Employees Morale and Wellness

• Relationships with the Community

Streamlining Initiatives

• Increasing Commercial Value

• Managing Environmental 
Footprint

• Information Technology 
Improvements

OPERATIONAL REvIEW

REjUvENATION PRIORITIES

Sustaining Our Safety Culture 
(under Strategic Priority 1)

Quality, Health, Safety, Security and Environment (QHSSE) are 
critical to our business and operations. To this effect, we always 
endeavour to guarantee the safety and security of our people 
(employees and contractors) and the surrounding communities, 
guided by our Health, Safety, Security, Environment and Social 
Performance (HSSE & SP) Commitment and Policy as well as our 
Quality Policy. We continuously improve and develop QHSSE 
procedures and training programmes.  

KEY QHSSE PROCEDURES & PROGRAmmES

•  Safety Campaigns: Throughout 2019, proactive quarterly 
safety campaigns and a Safety Day were conducted to 
motivate the site on safety and address site-wide concerns on  
QHSSE matters.

• Walk-abouts: The weekly Leadership Team (LT) “Turun 
Padang” QHSSE walkabout by Leadership Team and Daily  
Goal Zero Walk serve as a pulse check on the current health  
of our HSSE standards implementation on site. The walk 
provides opportunities to identify potential hazards and 
proactively mitigate them before accidents occur.

When Malaysia Hengyuan International Limited (MHIL) took controlling ownership of the refinery three years ago in December  
2016, there were two urgent requirements. The first was to ensure the refinery can produce petrol and diesel meeting future  
Malaysian fuel specifications. Next, was to revitalise the refinery major assets and equipment, given their age and maintenance history.

Having addressed critical business continuity issues through the scheduled 2018 Major Turnaround and injected capital into  
upgrading assets and capabilities, in 2019 the Company could turn to optimising performance through Rejuvenation (focus areas 
that require continual strengthening and enhancement) and working on streamlining initiatives to increase efficiencies and reduce 
costs; while the Company continued to increase capabilities by executing key investment projects. All of these were covered under our  
six strategic pillars.

• CREST: An online portal named CREST has been established 
as part of our QHSSE digitisation efforts in capturing, 
consolidating and analysing findings from all types of walk-
abouts and interventions done across the site. Themes from 
these findings are then shared in multiple forums to drive 
improvements on QHSSE.

•  Training programmes: HRC’s QHSSE team conducted 25 
training sessions during the year covering crucial structured 
training such as Permit To Work Level 1 & 2; as well as other 
specific qualifications training such as First Aid and Confined 
Space competency training courses.

•  Rejuvenating assets: HRC has stepped ahead with a phased 
project to rejuvenate the Company’s firefighting system after 
facility weaknesses were identified with the help of a fire 
expert consultant.

• Emergency Preparedness and Response training: 
A series of training and drills were executed during the year 
to ensure the preparedness of the Emergency Management 
Team. In April 2019, a large scale three-day Tier-3 emergency 
response event named Exercise “Merbok VII” was held by 
the Company in collaboration with the Port Dickson District 
Office, and with joint participation of 10 agencies from  
across Malaysia. More than 400 people participated in this 
successful event.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS  

HIGHLIGHTS:  

Safety performance for the year has significantly exceeded 
expectations, indicating a positive intervention and 
compliance culture from both employees and contractors. 
We successfully maintained our zero work-related fatality 
record for more than 26 years and achieved more than 10 
million manhours without a Lost Time Injury by the end of 
2019. 

Another positive result was the proactive reporting to 
prevent HSSE incidents, termed ‘Near Miss Potential  
Incident (NMPI) Reporting’. Total NMPIs reported far 
surpassed the 2019 target, which indicates a sustained 
positive reporting culture.

During the year, HRC was successful in obtaining a new 
ISO 37001: 2016 certification for Anti-Bribery Management 
Systems, emphasising the Company’s commitment on 
upholding integrity. The Company was also successful in 
the migration of ISO 17025: 2017 Accreditation for Testing 
and Calibration of Laboratories to the 2017 revision and  
was able to maintain other certifications through  
surveillance audits on ISO 9001: 2015 Quality Management 
Systems, ISO 14001: 2015 Environmental Management 
Systems, ISO 45001: 2018 Occupational, Health and 
Safety Management Systems and ISO / IEC 27001: 2013 
Information Security Management Systems. 

The results of external audits of our QHSSE Management 
System also reflected the positive strides we have made  
over the last seven (7) years. All 11 external audits that  
took place during the year were successful with zero 
fines. These were audits conducted by Department of  
Occupational Safety and Health (DOSH) Headquarters 
and State enforcement officers, third party environmental  
auditors for Euro 4M / H2GEN site and SIRIM.

For the first time ever, HRC was declared the winner of the 
National Council of Occupational Safety & Health (NCOSH) 
Award 2019, a prestigious national award in the category of 
Major Industries – Petroleum / Gas / Chemicals. In addition 
to that, the Company was also nominated as one of the 
finalists in the CEO Award category. 

For more details on our Safety programmes, please refer to our QHSSE  
Management and Performance in our Sustainability Report.

Preserving Process Safety  
(under Strategic Priority 1)

Process Safety is the engineering / asset match to personal safety.  
The science of Process Safety focus is to ensure hydrocarbons 
stay inside the process units at all times to avoid environmental 
damage, fires and explosions. Any leak, no matter how small, is 
classified as a Loss of Primary Containment (LOPC) and is tracked 
and followed up for learning and elimination.

HRC has international standard systems and processes in 
place to maintain and improve Process Safety performance.  
They include Ensuring Safe Production, Operating Window 
management, structured process safety reviews of plant design 
against current standards and Management of Change. The  
asset integrity management and enhancing maintenance 
execution on corrective inspection requests also support Process 
Safety. These preventive measures are important to ensure the 
plant remains safe and operationally sustainable. Improvement 
opportunities are being tracked systematically for execution on 
the run if possible, or during plant shutdowns. 

KEY PROCESS SAFETY INITIATIvES

• “8 Key Steps” which is a collection of process safety 
improvement tactics undertaken over the last several years,  
has been completed and efforts are on-going with the two 
other components, namely “Keep It In The Pipe” and “Process 
Safety 9 Fundamentals (PS9F)” 

• Completed four (4) process safety reviews which identified 
opportunities that will reduce site exposure to major process 
safety risks to as low as reasonably practicable

• Completed the Hazard and Effect Management Process 
(HEMP) Cycle for 14 out of 22 systems throughout the refinery, 
as scheduled

• Activated a concentrated focus on reducing the Corrective 
Action Inspection Request (CAIR) backlog

HIGHLIGHTS:

Three API Tier 2 LOPC incidents were recorded in 2019.  
Two of these were hydrocarbon leaks and one was a fire 
which was initiated by sparks from a pump motor bearing 
failure. All were mitigated in a timely manner by our 
operations and emergency response teams. Investigations 
on these incidents have been completed and learnings 
have been adopted, in particular on the areas of corrosion 
management, inspection plan and maintenance. It is to 
be noted that there were no injuries nor significant asset 
damage as a result of these incidences.

2019 PERFORmANCE REvIEW
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 Enhancing Operational Reliability 
 (under Strategic Priority 1) 

HRC’s efforts in enhancing our Reliability Management  
framework and reinforcing the “Reliability Mindset” resulted in 
substantial improvements in plant reliability in 2019 with HRC 
reaching world class availability levels during the year.

KEY RELIABILITY INITIATIvES

• Elimination of threats to availability. A significant number of 
identified threats were mitigated or eliminated through various 
projects and repair activities

• The master list of single points of failure was reviewed and 
on-going detailed analysis of selected equipment where 
outages have very high business impact, by using reliability 
centred maintenance, risk-based inspection and instrumented 
protective function studies

• The proactive technical monitoring programme that has been 
established was expanded and coverage was extended to 
include key process parameters   

•  Identifying and eliminating possible causes of future incidents 
through Proactive Threats Identification and Elimination (PTIE) 
and Asset Integrity Assessment (AIA)

• Sharing of knowledge and learnings from incidents to prevent 
future recurrence

HIGHLIGHTS:   

• HRC’s on-going improvements and focus on defects 
elimination, led to high reliability performance in 2019.  
Crude processing was very high with almost no Unplanned 
Downtime (UPDT) in the first three quarters of the year. 
Cumulative UPDT at the end of third quarter (Q3) was  
only 0.4 per cent which is world class.

• The LRCCU set an all-time run record of seven months 
without outages.

•  Unfortunately, an unexpected leak at the PLEM which is  
the underwater section of the crude oil offloading  
facilities on 29 September 2019 had reduced crude 
processing in the fourth quarter (Q4). The Company 
responded immediately to the matter. However, the  
repair works were challenging and slow due to the water 
depth, poor visibility and strong currents. The refinery 
production was slowed down but product supply to 
customers continued without any disruption. Crude  
intake returned to normal operational levels earlier than 
expected at the end of October 2019. The repair was 
completed in compliance to the environmental regulatory 
requirements despite difficult working conditions.  

•  This resulted in an overall unplanned downtime  
percentage of 3.7 per cent against a target of 2.0 per 
cent. Consequently, overall operational availability which 
includes planned and unplanned downtime was 96.3  
per cent, slightly below the business plan target of 96.6 
per cent.

•  Total crude processing in 2019 was 38.8 million barrels, 
slightly below the target due to the PLEM incident 
impacts, but 6.3 million barrels higher than 2018 due to 
improved refinery operations, uptime and capability after 
the major turnaround in 2018.

Ensuring Product Quality (PQ) 
(under Strategic Priority 1)

Except for a minor supply disruption to our customers for one 
and a half days, there were no major PQ issues during 2019. 
The sole PQ incident was promptly investigated, and immediate 
corrective and precautionary measures were put in place to 
resolve the issue and avoid any repetition. 

KEY PRODUCT QUALITY INITIATIvES

• A PQ health check structure was put in place and has 
commenced the trial run with good success. This structure will 
form the basis of the PQ health check framework for 2020  
and beyond

• Training with a reputed Oil Major was completed to increase 
the overall site competency and ensure quality work process

• The refinery petrol blending and storage assets needed to be 
converted from the high sulphur Euro 2 specification to the 
Euro 4M specification in Q4 2019 to ensure the whole system 
was converted by the gazetted date of 1 January 2020

• The assessment of requirements to release 95 octane grade 
petrol with zero giveaway on octane or vapour pressure using 
online analysers was completed

• The 95 octane grade blending process was rolled out and is 
now part of normal operations. As a result, 2019 had the least 
giveaway on product quality since records began. This provides 
a considerable economic benefit and also provides flexibility  
to blend petrol directly to ships rather than batch blending via 
on shore tankage
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 HIGHLIGHTS:  

• A multi-disciplinary team within HRC has commenced 
planning for the transition to Euro 5 quality diesel by 
September 2020.

• During the year, HRC was honoured with certification 
of the new ISO 17025: 2017 Testing and Calibration 
Laboratories by the Department of Standards Malaysia. 
This was completed one year ahead of the mandated 
timeline and we were also successfully recertified with  
ISO 9001: 2015 Quality Management Systems to ensure 
the refinery meets the prescribed product quality.

Ethical Business Culture  
(under Strategic Priority 6) 

HRC has built a legacy of trust and integrity over the years and 
this is a distinction we intend to maintain long into the future. 
We are committed to stay and grow by operating responsibly 
and ethically. Our commitment to conduct our business at the 
highest level of integrity is highlighted in the policies, procedures 
and practices adopted throughout our value chain to support 
our ethical business culture. Additionally, integrity is now a key 
message in the refreshed Mission and Values of the Company. 

In compliance with the legislative requirements in Malaysia, 
HRC has adequate measures in place on anti-bribery and  
anti-corruption to further promote better governance and  
ethical culture across the organisation.

KEY INITIATIvES

• Conducted on-boarding training programmes for new 
employees on compliance to HRC’s General Business 
Principles, Code of Conduct, Anti-Bribery & Corruption and  
Anti-Money Laundering Manual and the Whistleblowing Policy

• Provided refresher training to existing employees and business 
partners 

• Highlighting the value of Integrity in the redefined Mission  
and Values

• Organised a Business Integrity Week to focus on values, 
business principles and risks

 HIGHLIGHTS:    

HRC received certification for ISO 37001: 2016 Anti-Bribery 
Management Systems in July 2019.

Whistleblowing management policies were reviewed and 
improved with a Whistleblowing Committee set up at  
board level. 

Please refer to page 56 of our Corporate Governance Overview Statement for more 
details on the enhancement of our Whistleblowing policy and procedures.

Key Investment Projects  
(under Strategic Priority 3)

Critical to our rejuvenation focus was the execution of  
on-going major projects which will ensure business continuity 
through compliance with industry regulations. These include  
the Environmental Quality (Clean Air) Regulations 2014 (CAR 
2014), Euro 4 Malaysia (Euro 4M), Euro 5 Gasoil (Euro 5G) and 
H2GEN projects. 

Clean Air Regulations (CAR)

CAR 2014 was gazetted by the Department of Environment  
in June 2014 and was mandated for compliance in Q3 
2019. There were three main scopes to the CAR project; the  
installation of the Air Pollution Control System (APCS) on our 
platformer and LRCCU vented streams, and the Predictive 
Emission Monitoring System (PEMS).

CURRENT STATUS: The project was successfully completed 
and delivered below budget by 5 per cent. The key APCS at 
Platformer and LRCCU flawlessly started up on 4 July 2019 and 
11 September 2019 respectively, making HRC the first refinery 
in Malaysia to comply with the regulatory requirements. The 
PEMS was commissioned in stages as each stack was converted 
with the last coming on stream before the compliance date  
and has operated smoothly since.

The new LRCCU wet gas scrubber has attracted comment  
from our local residents as it continuously and safely emits fluffy 
white plumes which are mostly pure water vapour, complying 
with the more stringent limits of CAR 2014. This is completely 
harmless to the public and the environment and is a key step  
on our path to minimising our environmental footprint. Several 
face to face engagements were conducted with the local 
communities to eliminate their concern on the white plumes.

2019 PERFORmANCE REvIEW
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Euro 4 malaysia

The Euro 4 Malaysia (Euro 4M) project is crucial for the 
sustainability of the business to meet the new Malaysian petrol 
specification requirements. The plant will have a production 
capacity of 1.15 million tonnes per year and uses a combination 
of hydro-processing and liquid-liquid extraction technology  
that has been applied successfully by the licensor in various 
operating plants in China.

The project will allow the refinery to continue optimising its  
crude slate to be commercially competitive.

CURRENT STATUS: The project is currently working towards 
completion as per revised timeline. The Company will ensure the 
quality and safety standards of the project are met.

From 1 January 2020 onwards until project completion, 
the Company will continue to produce and supply Euro 4M 
specification product to customers by producing and securing  
the blend accordingly. To date there was no impact to the 
Company’s operations and no supply disruption to the market.

Euro 5 Gasoil

The Government has mandated that refineries are to comply  
with Euro 5 specifications for diesel by 1 September 2020.  
This project has created job opportunities during construction 
periods, mostly from within Malaysia. Upon completion,  
the refinery will be able to refine higher sulphur crudes than 
at present, which would potentially produce higher refining 
margins.   

CURRENT STATUS: The project is on schedule with design and 
procurement. All tie-in projects were completed during Major 
Turnaround 2018, so the Euro 5 Project commissioning will  
have only minor impacts on the operating refinery. The 
project scope was extensively reduced after in-house reviews 
with considerable capital savings and the project has been  
re-optimised to be managed in-house.  

H2GEN Project

Once the Euro 4M and Euro 5G projects are completed, HRC 
will be short of hydrogen used to desulphurise mogas and  
gasoil components, which would result in loss of product  
margin. The H2GEN project is developed to produce hydrogen  
by taking natural gas as feedstock from a national oil and  
gas company. 

CURRENT STATUS: The project is on track to complete as  
per schedule to coincide with the Euro 5 specification change 
date. HRC has appointed an internationally recognised 
Engineering, Procurement, Construction and Commissioning 
(EPCC) contractor with the requisite credentials to meet the 
timeline. The project design is completed, most orders have been 
placed and fabrication is in progress. 

Employees morale and Wellness 
(under Strategic Priority 2)  

Our people are the vital drivers of our Company Purpose and 
keeping them loyal and motivated is critical to retaining them 
within the current competitive landscape. HRC actively ensures 
our Employee Value Proposition (EVP) remains attractive in terms 
of salary, benefits, career prospects and training. We annually 
benchmark our EVP against the Malaysian employment market 
to ensure it is competitive.  

We have on-going inter-departmental moves to refresh and 
nurture high potential employees and promote employee career 
advancement opportunities.  

KEY PEOPLE INITIATIvES 

• The second Employee Engagement Survey was conducted  
post HRC’s 2016 transition. The survey attracted a record 
high of 90 per cent participation. There were altogether  
12 dimensions with a total of 54 questions listed. 

• Our impactful “Be Well” programme continued to thrive 
in 2019 as we enhanced employee engagement activities 
with the kick-off of the “Be Well 2.0” campaign. This is an  
employee health improvement programme which encourages 
employees to achieve healthy balanced lifestyles and  
improve their health and fitness. The programme consisted of 
three main categories, namely, “Eat Well, “Move Well” and 
“Think Well”. It was launched in August 2019 and received 
overwhelming response from the employees.

• The three-year Collective Agreement was negotiated and 
agreed together with the HRC union in June 2019. HRC’s 
Collective Agreement is one of the very few Productivity 
Link Wages System (PLWS) in Malaysia. The provision of the 
Collective Agreement encourages employees to contribute a 
higher level of performance and to be rewarded accordingly.

•  A new Human Resources Information System (HRIS) system  
has been rolled out to replace the existing Human Resource  
(HR) system. The new system comes with the Office  
Automation Application which simplifies the HR processes, 
making it more efficient.
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 HIGHLIGHTS:  

• The Employee Engagement Survey showed that employees 
viewed the Company as a responsible organisation in 
matters concerning the environment and with high 
integrity when dealing with the society / community. The 
Company scored well on employee engagement matters. 
However, a few areas for improvements were highlighted 
on Organisational Leadership and Operational Excellence. 
A team has been set up to address the issues identified.

• At the Malaysian Society for Occupational Safety & Health 
(MSOSH) for the Workplace Promotion (WPP) Health 
Award in Kuala Lumpur, HRC was the only participating 
company to be awarded “Level 3” (the highest level 
achieved in 2019 amongst contestants) in recognition 
of our well-structured “Be Well” WPP programme. The 
award was newly introduced in 2019 by MSOSH and 
Pertubuhan Keselamatan Social (PERKESO) and is open to 
all companies in Malaysia. 

• The “Be Well” programme also elevated HRC as a finalist 
for the HR Excellence Award on 17 October 2019 held in 
Kuala Lumpur. HRC was selected for the final round in the 
Corporate Wellness category, on par with other corporations 
who were seasoned participants in this competition. 

• The Company signed a Collective Agreement with the 
HRC trade union which moved the shift structure from  
an eight-hour basis to a twelve-hour basis. This is a 
significant milestone in the refinery’s long history and 
will enhance employee work / life balance and on-site 
maintenance productivity.

• The new Office Automatic Application was rolled out, 
automating and simplifying many HR internal processes 
and improving productivity across the site.

Relationships with the Community  
(under Strategic Priority 6)   

Here to stay and grow with the Port Dickson community, we 
are committed to be socially responsible in our business affairs 
and make a positive contribution. As a refinery, we continuously 
maintain a responsive community feedback mechanism and 
commit to acknowledging complaints immediately any hour of 
the day or night and addressing complaints within 48 hours of 
receipt. Other ways we engage with the community is through 
outreach programmes, community engagement activities and 
festive celebrations with our neighbours.

KEY INITIATIvES IN SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY 

• Addressed, investigated and resolved five public grievances

• Engaged in a series of outreach programmes with an 
investment of RM66,200, such as:

EDUCATIONAL:

- Contribution to the Children Library Kg Sunggala to ensure 
sustainable education for native children.

- Organised the Kampung Paya Back to School Programme to 
provide orphans and underprivileged students with school 
uniforms and other necessities for the new school year  
in 2020.

ENvIRONmENT

- Continued the Community Park Cleaning programme with 
Sekolah Menengah Chung Hua Port Dickson to educate  
the younger generation on the importance of caring for the 
environment.

- Organised a gotong-royong at the Port Dickson jetty to 
promote and encourage a safety mindset among the 
fishermen in Port Dickson.

- Encouraged local schools to educate students on being 
creative in reusing and recycling materials as part of a  
DOE World Environment Day initiative.

SOCIAL

- Food care packs and festive goodies distribution to 
underprivileged communities during Chinese New Year,  
Hari Raya and Deepavali. These events were supported by 
a team of volunteers from the HRC leadership team and 
employees. 

- Engagement session with Kampung Arab committee 
members and resident representatives, to clear the 
misunderstanding on the “white smoke” released to the 
atmosphere, which is actually just “water vapour” from our 
newly commissioned Wet Gas Scrubber and is compliant 
with CAR 2014.

Note the further clarifications under the CAR 2014 compliance on page 34.

HIGHLIGHTS:  

• The engagement session served as an effective avenue 
for HRC to address residents’ concerns and correct 
misunderstandings on issues. All points raised by 
concerned residents were captured by the meeting 
committee and HRC representatives for tracking and 
follow up until closure. One of the key concerns over a 
new noise at night-time was addressed and the source 
was eliminated to the satisfaction of all residents.

2019 PERFORmANCE REvIEW
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STREAmLINING INITIATIvES

Increasing Commercial value  
(under Strategic Priority 5)

HRC has some inherent commercial advantages arising from  
our geographical location. These include control of the 
hydrocarbon jetty in Port Dickson, connection to the multi-
product pipeline supplying the Klang Valley and KLIA, commercial 
product agreements with large retail distributors, and a process 
unit configuration with a high product yield, amongst others.  

During 2019, to further strengthen our commercial position, 
we explored opportunities to further diversify our supplier and 
customer bases, drive costs down in financing and contract deals, 
and implemented further protection of margins. Investments 
in automation were also explored for more accurate and  
cost-efficient processing.

KEY INITIATIvES

• To supplement our oil supply agreement, we negotiated  
Term Deals with crude suppliers, especially within Malaysia

• Pursued new customers and alliances

• Followed more opportunities to leverage our hedging capability

• We structurally reviewed the Oil Loss systems and processes

• Third Party Spending – we reviewed our high value contracts  
to target structural costs decreases

•	 We	 automated	 our	 gantry	 system	 to	 create	 a	 more	 flexible	 
and robust loading schedule and less waste

 HIGHLIGHTS: 

• A new crude term supply agreement was forged with 
a Malaysian oil producer and eight new crudes were 
processed during the year. 

• HRC has also onboarded one new local customer and 
began positive trials with another. In addition, the 
Company has signed commercially attractive deals with 
customers for three new product cuts and have optimised 
our supply into the new post IMO 2020 low sulphur fuel 
oil markets. This was upon completion of a successful 
transition from high to low sulphur petrol specification 
within refinery assets, as discussed under Product Quality. 

• We completed the implementation of hydrocarbon 
hedging by adding inventory hedging to our portfolio and 
improved measurement and calculation of hydrocarbon 
balances to improve Oil Losses to well below target,  
with more improvements in progress. 

• We reviewed and renegotiated our high value contracts 
for plant maintenance services with significant structural 
cost reductions. 

• We replaced the HR application with a new customised 
in-house Office Automation (OA) system, generating 
significant cost reductions. 

• We generated structural operating cost savings by 
developing internal talent to take over Contract and 
Procurement services formerly rendered by external third-
party service contractors. 

• We continue to be open to new ventures for gantry 
sales and ensured that we are ready to take on any such 
opportunities with our fully automated gantry system. 

All these efforts combined contribute to better risk management, 
more competitive net margins and provide a continuous stable 
market for our products. Operational expenditure has reduced 
and the break-even operating cost for 2020 is significantly 
reduced from the 2019 actual levels.

managing Environmental Footprint  
(under Strategic Priority 3)

HRC’s aspiration is to reduce our environmental footprint over 
the long-term. In our operations, we seek to minimise costs, 
waste and environmental impacts through active monitoring and 
management of our resources. Our areas of focus include water 
and effluents, waste management, gas emissions, and energy 
management. These are anchored on HRC’s Environmental 
Policy and the standards of the ISO 14001: 2015 Environmental 
Management Systems. 

Separately, monitoring samples are tested by an independent 
third-party laboratory and the results are reported to the 
Department of Environment (DOE). Parameters are monitored 
against the DOE’s Environmental Quality (Industrial Effluent)
Regulations 2009 and the Malaysia Marine Water Quality 
Criteria & Standards (MMWQCS). To calculate gas emissions we 
refer to the American Petroleum Institute (API) Compendium  
of Greenhouse Gas Emission Methodologies for the Oil and  
Gas Industry 2009 and ISO 14064-1. Our refinery Energy 
performance is measured using the Solomon Associates Energy 
Intensity Index (EII).

Detailed records, measurements and analysis on these areas are reported in our 
Sustainability Report available at www.hrc.com.my.
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2019 PERFORmANCE REvIEW

KEY ENvIRONmENTAL mANAGEmENT INITIATIvES 

• Commissioned the CAR project to comply with the  
government’s CAR 2014 specifications in improving and 
monitoring refinery emissions

•	 Installed a pH adjuster system as part of the effluent water 
system to have a better handle in releasing effluent water 
within the recommended pH specification

• On-going continuous efforts to reduce carbon footprint 
by minimising greenhouse gas emissions. This is done by 
managing energy efficiently and reducing flaring through  
daily monitoring, reviews and regular inspection programmes

• Developed the 2019 Energy Improvement Plan to facilitate  
the refinery towards achieving its energy goals for 2019. The 
plan is composed of five key strategies with detailed tactics 
under each strategy

• Development of the Wastewater Masterplan (WWMP) to 
improve the quality and assurance of treated effluent water 
discharges

• In collaboration with Indah Water Konsortium (IWK), HRC 
has embarked on a feasibility study to improve the wider 
Port Dickson’s area water consumption through the usage of 
recycled treated sewage water in the refinery process

• Campaigned on waste segregation awareness through a  
series of roadshows at site in collaboration with in-house 
contractors. This was done to identify new ways to reduce, 
recycle or recover generated waste

 HIGHLIGHTS:

• Successful completion of the CAR project in compliance 
with CAR 2014 – see more detailed discussions above 
under Key Investment Projects.

• Improved energy efficiency with EII index of 110.9 in 2019 
compared to 111.7 in 2018.

• Sustained use of raw water in 2019. We are undertaking 
assessment on recycling of IWK water and if deemed 
feasible, this will be undertaken in 2020.

•	 Phase 1A of the WWMP was completed.

• Favourable findings from two environmental compliance 
audits carried out at the Euro 4M site by DOE approved 
external auditors. There were zero fine issues, nine 
environmental best practices observed, two opportunity 
for Improvements identified and only one finding (on soil 
erosion protection and on-site sediment control) which 
was closed within two weeks from the audit date.

Full descriptions and further details may be found in the Sustainability Report 
at www.hrc.com.my.

Information Technology (IT) Improvements   
(under Strategic Priority 6)

IT systems and applications are a key enabler for a highly 
productive company. IT systems can also be at risk from  
phishing, hacking and other malicious attacks from external  
parties. In 2019, HRC focused on reinforcing its IT security and 
infrastructure to safeguard against such risks.

KEY INFORmATION TECHNOLOGY INITIATIvES 

• Replaced the HR application and implemented the OA  
platform for business process productivity improvements 

• Focused on IT security and user awareness. These included 
upgrading of IT Firewalls, rolling out the Email Advance Threat 
Protection and perpetually conducting IT awareness training to 
combat against phishing, malware and cyber threat activities 

• Upgrading of key network infrastructures with additional 
Internet link and core switches upgrade to provide redundancy 
support for the business

• Successfully automated the Omega Gantry system to interface 
with multiple enterprise resource planning (ERP) systems

 HIGHLIGHTS: 

• Our network firewalls, Multifactor Authentication and 
other security features have been installed to detect, 
monitor and block malicious activities. These systems are 
now current and state of the art (with Next Generation 
Firewalls).

• Additional Internet link and core switches upgrade 
have provided redundancy support for the network 
infrastructure and business systems.

• We have successfully obtained ISO / IEC 27001: 2013 
Information Security Management Systems accreditation 
as an external assurance of our IT security systems.

• The gantry system has been upgraded to have seamless 
data transfer between multiple business systems and is 
scalable for future growth.
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FINANCIAL REvIEW
mARGIN AND FINANCIAL PERFORmANCE

In financial year (FY) 2019, the Company posted a profit of 
RM35.0 million as compared to RM31.0 million in the previous 
financial year. Refining margins and crude prices continued to 
remain volatile during the year. Average current cost of stock 
margin (CCS) for FY2019 was USD2.49 / bbl vs USD3.44 / bbl  
for FY2018. First-in, first-out (FIFO) margin for FY2019 was 
slightly higher at USD3.32 / bbl vs USD 3.00 / bbl in FY2018. 
Further analysis of the financial performance is as follows:

Revenue and Gross margin

In FY2019, the Company recorded 19 per cent higher sales 
volume as compared to FY2018. Total sales volume for FY2019 
was at 41.9 million barrels vs 35.1 million barrels in FY2018. 
Annual sales volume was higher as compared to previous 
financial year due to scheduled production downtime of  
11 weeks in delivering the Major Turnaround 2018 (MTA). 
Revenue for the year was comparably higher due to 19 per cent 
higher sales volume but was dragged down by lower market 
quoted product prices in FY2019. Market quoted product prices 
averaged USD75 / barrel in FY2019 as compared to USD82 / 
barrel in FY2018.

BRENT OIL PRICE

In FY2019, the price of average Brent crude oil averaged at  
USD64 / bbl, USD7 / bbl lower than its FY2018 average. 
Brent crude oil traded within relatively narrow price ranges  
throughout the year, with the lowest at USD59 / bbl and the 
highest at USD71 / bbl. Throughout FY2019, increases in US 
shale petroleum production had dampened oil prices. The US 
shale boom has resulted in Brent crude oil staying stubbornly 
range-bound. Efforts from production cut announcements  
from the Organisation of the Petroleum Exporting Countries 
(OPEC), production outages at Libyan fields and the drone and 
missile attacks on Saudi oil infrastructure could not keep Brent  
at USD70 / bbl for more than a few days.

Stockholding gains for FY2019 (including the effects of 
commodity swaps) were USD 0.75 / bbl (2018: USD 0.13 / bbl)  
with further uplift recognised on the effects of margin swap at 
USD 0.42 / bbl (2018: USD 0.05 / bbl).

The hedging strategy undertaken by the Company has protected 
the Company’s FIFO margin from eroding although the Company 
faced internal and external factors such as the PLEM issue and 
market volatility.

The business improvement tactics delivered a value of USD52.9 
million (2018: USD37.7 million). This was attributed to crude 
optimisation of USD30.0 million, product optimisation of 
USD12.3 million, refinery process improvement of USD9.4  
million and spend optimisation of USD1.2 million.

Average CCS margin for the year was USD2.49 / bbl compared to 
USD 3.44 / bbl in FY2018. The Company’s CCS margin was badly 
impacted in Q4 2019 due to the damage of the Underwater Pipe 
Line End Manifold (PLEM) valve. The Company had to reduce its 
crude intake by 20 per cent to 50 per cent over a 30-day period 
and incurred additional costs in the form of prompt product  
and feedstock purchases, demurrages, diversions and freight 
charges in mitigating the effects of the PLEM shutdown. These 
strategies were done to ensure that the refinery continued to 
operate and meet the committed sales volumes.

Income and Expenses

In the current financial year, the Company continued to partially 
reverse an impairment loss on its property, plant and equipment 
that was previously recognised in FY2014. The reversal was  
made after taking into consideration the successful completion 
of the Clean Air Regulation (CAR) project and higher certainty  
on the progress of the other key regulatory driven projects,  
namely Euro 4M, Euro 5G and H2GEN units.
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The valuation basis of these assets is as stated in our accounting 
policies.

• The Company’s current assets comprise of derivatives that 
have maturity of less than 12 months, inventories, receivables 
and cash. Current assets have increased from RM2.7 billion 
to RM3.7 billion, an increase of 35.0 per cent as compared 
to FY2018. The increase is mainly attributable to increase in 
cash balances as at year end. Inventory balances increased by 
22.4 per cent or RM273 million mainly due to higher inventory 
volume which coincides with higher sales volume.

Total liabilities have increased by RM1.5 billion from RM2.1 billion 
in FY2018, to RM3.6 billion. Further details are set out below: 

• Current liabilities comprise mainly of payables, derivatives with 
maturity less than 12 months, revolving credit and a portion 
of term loan balances that are repayable within the next  
12 months. Trade payables mainly relates to payables for crude 
purchases and payables relating to capital expenditure. Trade 
payables are higher in FY2019 due to the timing of crude 
payments and capital expenditure.

• Non-current liabilities comprise of term loans, deferred 
tax liabilities and derivatives with maturity more than 12 
months. Term loans are repayable over a three (3)-year period, 
denominated in USD and are secured by way of charges on  
the Company’s assets.

Cashflow

As at year end, there was significant improvement in cash  
balance which stood at RM1.0 billion. This was contributed by 
RM1.3 billion cash surplus from operations. The net operating 
cash inflows were utilised in financing approved capital 
expenditure, repayment of loans and borrowings and servicing 
the interest charges.

Dividends

The Board of Directors has formed a view that it would not be 
prudent for the Company to declare dividends at this juncture. 
The fluid situation of Covid-19 since late January 2020 and  
slump in oil prices from March 2020 as well as the pending 
completion of large projects such as Euro 4M, H2GEN unit 
and Euro 5G has resulted in the Board of Directors taking  
a very conservative approach in sustaining the operations 
of the Company. The Board will continue to review the  
dividend prospects considering long-term value creation to  
its shareholders.

The Company recorded higher operating expenditure, other 
operating losses and taxation whilst being offset by lower 
depreciation and amortisation and finance costs. The overall 
impact resulted in profit after tax increasing by 13 per cent as 
compared to FY2018. Included in other operating expenditure  
is RM6.2 million relating to the repair cost for the PLEM 
underwater valve. The Company also donated RM5.0 million to 
the Food Bank Malaysia programme as part of HRC’s corporate 
social responsibility towards helping the poor cope with  
increased cost of living whilst reducing food waste. 

The year’s operating losses included a RM48.6 million loss 
related mainly to negative fair value returns from commodity 
swaps, whereas in FY2018, the Company recorded a fair value 
gain amounting to RM76.9 million. Higher taxation was due to 
reversal of deferred tax assets arising from unutilised tax losses. 
The reversal is due to the Malaysia Finance Act 2018 disallowing 
unutilised tax losses to be carried forward beyond seven (7) years.

Lower depreciation and amortisation reflect the extended useful 
life of the refinery assets based on an assessment carried out in 
the previous financial year. There were lower finance costs for the 
year due to capitalisation of borrowing costs for major projects 
such as Euro 4M, H2GEN and Euro 5G.

Total Assets and Liabilities

Total assets increased 35.5 per cent or RM1.5 billion from the 
previous financial year. Details of total assets of RM5.7 billion in 
FY2019 is set out below:

• Carrying amount of fixed assets i.e. property, plant and 
equipment, intangible assets, right-of-use assets of RM2.0 
billion comprises:

2019 PERFORmANCE REvIEW

CARRYING 
AmOUNT OF 
FIxED ASSETS

•	 4% Land and Buildings

•	13% Hijau

• 8% LRCCU

•	 6% MTA 2018

•	 8% CAR

• 45% Assets under  
  construction 

•	 1% Intangible Assets

•	 2% Right-of-use-assets

•	13% Others   
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KEY PERFORmANCE INDICATORS (KPIs) AT A GLANCE
Our KPIs assess the performance of the Company across all aspects of operations in a balanced Business Performance Scorecard.  
Non-financial indicators include measures of production and reliability, safety, commercial relevance, sustainability and governance.  
Financial indicators cover margin, financial performance and return on investment. Additional KPIs tied to sustainability are elaborated 
in our Sustainability Report 2019 which is available on our website at http://hrc.com.my/sustainability-report.html.

            2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Million Exposure Hours Worked 4.52 3.5 2.0 1.3 1.9

Lost Time Injuries (LTI) 0 0 0 1 1

Process Safety Events (API Tier 1) 0 1 1 1 0

Process Safety Events (API Tier 2) 3 1 0 2 1

First Aid Cases (FAC) 6 11 5 1 5

Operational Availability 96.3% 79.4% 97.4% 82.1% 86.1%

Unplanned Downtime (UPDT) 3.7% 3.1% 2.3% 7.2% 4.5%

Production Volume (million bbl) 38.8 32.5 39.7 37.5 33.9

Refining Margin (FIFO) (USD / bbl) 3.32 3.0 8.4  5.5 6.1 

Sales Volume (‘000 bbl) 41.9 35.2 41.1 39.0 36.3

Revenue (RM million) 12,637 11,241 11,583 8,365 9,080 

Profit After Tax (RM million) 35.0 31.0 930 335 352 

Cash Generated From / (Used in)  
Operations (RM million) 1,317 380 477 (5) 783 

Quick Ratio (Current asset- 
inventory) / Current liability

0.8 1.0 2.5 1.8 0.7 

Shareholders’ Funds (RM million) 2,011 2,022 1,789 1,010 677 

Earnings / (Loss) Per Share (sen) 12 10 310 112 117 

Return on Average Capital Employed 
(times) (EBIT / (Average total assets-
average current liability) – – 0.4 0.2 0.4 

Energy Intensity Index (EII) 110.9 111.7 111.5 114.0 113.5 

Effluents – Average Oil in Water 
Concentration (avg mg / l) 1.0 1.0 1.2 0.9 1.0 

Waste Management
•	 Effluent	Treatment	plant	(ETP)	 

Sludge (MT) 
•	 Spent	Oil	Water	Emulsion	(MT)	

305 
1,374

184 
2,175

663  
1,794

624  
1,835

957
2.084

Public Complaints 5 3 5 2 5 

Social / Community Project 
Investment (RM‘000) 66.2 68.8 41.9 52.4 NA

SAFETY

PRODUCTION & 
RELIABILITY

mARGIN & 
FINANCIAL 

PERFORmANCE

RETURN ON 
INvESTmENT

SUSTAINABLE 
DEvELOPmENT
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RISKS & OPPORTUNITIES 

STRATEGIC RISKS AND OPPORTUNITIES

COmPANY-RELATED RISKS AND OPPORTUNITIES

HRC has risks and opportunities related to the oil refining  
business itself, the current state of the oil markets and our 
geographical location within Malaysia and Southeast Asia.

•	 Oil price dynamics, and supply / demand movements 

 As discussed in this Annual Report and the accompanying 
Sustainability Report, we are impacted by crude oil price 
volatility, the oversupply of products in the region due to new 
competitor refineries and weak global demand. However, 
pricing volatility from the frequent global geopolitical 
disturbances creates both risks and opportunities which can 
be harnessed with hedging tools. HRC has been successful in 
turning this volatility into an opportunity through its active use 
of hedging mechanisms.

The additional amount of crude being added into the market  
by Saudi Arabia and Russia will amplify an oversupply. Moreover, 
as the inventory of crude and refined products continues to  
grow amidst plummeting demand for petrol, diesel and jet  
fuel, the oversupply situation should persist for months even 
after the COVID-19 crisis. With the build-up of refined product 
inventories, the refining industry is expected to be depressed.

HRC has in place a robust risk assessment matrix that captures  
all significant risks and opportunities which is reviewed on 
quarterly basis by the Leadership Team and the Board of  
Directors. This enables HRC to identify and assess the Company’s 
risks and prepare mitigation plans in advance.

•	 Asset	integrity

 Refineries are exposed to several inherent risks to safety, 
productivity and environment associated with diminished 
asset integrity. Over the past 100 years the refining industry 
has developed very sound methodologies to manage and 

•	 Industry trends

 As the future outlook for oil and gas indicates a general  
long-term decline in petrol consumption and the move away 
from hydrocarbon fuels, HRC is preparing itself to adapt 
and evolve into new areas of growth that include capturing 
opportunities in petrochemicals, new energy and other 
potential alternative energy businesses like Liquified Natural 
Gas. This is reflected in HRC’s refreshed Vision statement: 
“To be a Leading Global Energy and Petrochemical Company, 
Pioneering Sustainable Solutions”.

In these unusual times, measures to slow inventory build-up are 
likely, though their impact on the continued depressed price of 
crude and refined products that exist is yet to be determined. 
Within this challenging environment, HRC has identified the 
following risks and opportunities, and is committed to remain 
agile and responsive to opportunities.

mitigate these risks. HRC applies and continues to enhance 
best practices for all these risks through strategies pertaining 
to QHSSE, Process Safety, IT Security, Plant Reliability and 
Product Quality Management. Controls that have been put 
in place include investment in process automation, adherence 
to scheduled turnarounds, frequent monitoring and audits on 
business processes, quality control and assurance processes 
by independent Inspection teams. This high level of risk 
management is reflected with our continuous re-certification 
of ISO accreditations. 

Going forward, uncertainties and volatility on the oil and gas front have escalated as the price 
of crude oil has dropped to levels not seen in a generation; and due to the prolonged impact 
of the COVID-19 pandemic. The global demand for oil until recently was about 100 million  
barrels per day. According to the International Energy Agency Oil Market Report (April 2020), 
global oil demand is expected to fall by a record 9.3 mb / d year-on-year in 2020.
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•	 Project risks

 As with past and on-going projects, part of the due diligence 
for each new project includes risk assessments and mitigations 
for a broad range of technical and construction risks, including 
wider context risks such as corruption, environment, safety 
and labour issues, amongst others. HRC is fully aware of 
project risks and has on-going dialogues with the main 
contractors to ensure that quality, schedule and cost are 
within the contractual terms. HRC successfully delivered its 
CAR project in 2019 within the stipulated contractual period. 
However, Euro 4M schedule remains as a challenging task  
due to complexity of the project while other large projects  
such as Euro 5G and H2GEN, are expected to be completed 
within schedule.

•	 margin and commercial risk

 As an independent refinery, HRC is exposed to oil price 
fluctuations which are beyond the Company’s control.  

In these extraordinary times, efforts we have made to embed 
sustainability into every aspect of our operations, culture and 
mindset can stand us in good stead to tide us through.

As a Group, HRC moves into 2020 primed to leverage on 
inherent strengths, together with strategies put in place, to  
help buffer us as we navigate the impacts from the contagion 
effect of COVID-19 and the oil price slump.  

Notwithstanding the challenging landscape that we are 
operating in today, HRC is rooted in its commitment to be agile 
in capitalising on the opportunities that lie ahead. 2019 was a 
year of consolidation and construction. The next few years will 
be focused on completing the construction while harvesting 
the benefits and fine-tuning the business. As we move into  
2020, our key focus will be on the following six areas: 

To mitigate such risks, HRC has taken initiatives to selectively 
hedge against crude price and refining margin fluctuations 
together with inventory hedging to reduce exposure to  
sudden oil price changes. HRC also understands that to remain 
in business and to reduce reliance on a single customer is key 
for the refinery’s survival. Therefore, in recent years HRC has 
actively developed sales to various oil and gas players in the 
market, both domestically and internationally. Such moves 
have already borne fruit as we have diversified our sales to 
new customers in recent months and will continue to break 
the dependency on a single customer.

•	 Cleaner Energy

 HRC is cognisant of the general trend towards a higher 
demand for cleaner energy and potentially a slowdown in 
demand for hydrocarbon transport fuels. The Company is 
looking into options for future investments in petrochemicals 
and renewable energy / alternative energy to add on to our 
strong presence in hydrocarbon products. 

•	 Maintain and further improve safety culture and performance. 

•	 Increase profitability (operational quick wins, creeping intake, 
energy, margin, optimise operating costs, hedging). 

•	 Complete major projects on schedule.

•	 Prepare for 2022 MTA to improve asset reliability and 
rejuvenation. 

•	 Enhance employees’ morale, talent management and 
productivity. 

•	 Strengthen the brand and deepen relationship with local 
stakeholders.

STRATEGY FOR 2020 AND BEYOND

The Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19) outbreak in China at the end of 2019 has now developed  
into a global pandemic, posing a significant risk on global economies with its impact on  
tourism-related businesses and wide-scale closures of manufacturing, commercial and retail 
businesses in many countries. Domestically, Bank Negara Malaysia and the Ministry of Finance 
have taken swift action to prescribe stabilisation policies in order to mitigate the economic 
impact arising from the virus spread, however the prolonged and unprecedented impact of the 
COVID-19 creates very challenging prospects for Malaysia’s economy. 



enhancing  

ENTREPRENEURIAL
courage and mindset

Being agile and nimble will enable  

HRC to explore both short term and  

long term new possibilities.  

In the short term, these relate to  

margin gains; in the long term, these 

relate to opportunities in new energy  

and alternative energy businesses. 

We are constantly looking to close gaps  

in talent and skills development, 

productivity and to further cultivate 

entrepreneurial thinking among  

our management and employees. 

In the next two decades we aspire to  

pioneer sustainable solutions in  

energy and petrochemicals.

19.4%     

increase in  
Production volume 

17.6%     

increase in  
contracts awarded 
based on competitive 
bidding 

Value of  

USD52.9 
million 
derived from Business 
Improvement Tactics
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

01 WANG, YOUDE 
Chairman 
Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

02 WANG, ZONGQUAN 
Deputy Chairman 
Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

03 ALAN HAmZAH SENDUT 
Independent Non-Executive Director

04 FAUZIAH HISHAm 
Independent Non-Executive Director

05 LIANG KOK SIANG 
Independent Non-Executive Director

06 SURINDERDEEP SINGH  
mOHINDAR SINGH 
Independent Non-Executive Director

01 02

03 04

05 06

BOARD DIvERSITY

NationalityEthnicity Age Group

50-60

61-70

67% - 4

33% - 2

33.3% - 2 
Malay (Malaysian)

16.7% - 1 
Chinese (Malaysian)

16.7% - 1 
Indian (Malaysian)

33.3% - 2 
Chinese (Foreign)

67% Malaysian

33% Non-Malaysian
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ PROFILE

Date of Appointment

22 December 2016

Academic Qualification

Master’s Degree in Business Management from  
Nankai University, Tianjin, China

Experience

•	 Chairman	of	the	Board	and	General	Manager,	Shandong	
Hengyuan Petrochemical Company Limited 
(2001-present)

•	 Executive	President	of	the	China	Chamber	of	Commerce	 
for the Petroleum Industry (2017-2019)

•	 Vice	President	in	the	China	Chamber	of	Commerce	for	 
the Petroleum Industry (2007-2017)

•	 Deputy	Mayor,	Linyi	County	(2001-2013)

•	 Representative	of	the	12th National People’s Congress of 
the People’s Republic of China (2013-2018)

Directorship of Other Listed Issuers / Public Companies

None

membership of Board Committees in HRC

•	 Chair	of	Board	Projects	Review	Committee

•	 Chair	of	Board	Tender	Committee	

•	 Member	of	Board	Nominating	and	Remuneration	
Committee 

•	 Member	of	Board	Whistleblowing	Committee	

01 Wang, YouDe
 Chairman 
 Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

Chinese 57 years old Male

Date of Appointment

22 December 2016

Academic Qualification / Professional membership

Degree in Chemical Machinery, Chengdu Institute of Water 
Conservancy and Hydropower Survey and Design

02 Wang, ZongQuan
 Deputy Chairman 
 Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

Chinese 57 years old Male

Experience

•	 Deputy	General	Manager,	Shandong	Hengyuan	
Petrochemical Company Limited (2002-present)

•	 14	years	of	experience	in	refining,	units	installation	and	
management departments of the petrochemical business 
in Shandong Hengyuan Petrochemical Company Limited 
including as Head of the Equipment Control department 
of an installation engineering company within the Group 
(1988-2002)

Directorship of Other Listed Issuers / Public Companies

None

membership of Board Committees in HRC

•	 Chair	of	Board	Risk	Management	Committee

•	 Member	of	Board	Projects	Review	Committee

•	 Member	of	Board	Tender	Committee



48 2019  ANNUAL REPORT 

LEADERSHIP

BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ PROFILE

Date of Appointment

1 June 2017

Professional membership

Associate member of The Chartered Governance Institute, 
United Kingdom

Date of Appointment

25 May 2017

Academic Qualification

Bachelor of Science (Hons) University of Wales, 
Aberystwyth, United Kingdom

Professional memberships

•	 Qualified	as	a	Member	of	the	Institute	of	Chartered	
Accountants England and Wales

•	 Chartered	Audit	Committee	Director,	Institute	of	Internal	
Auditors Malaysia

•	 Member	of	the	Malaysian	Institute	of	Accountants

•	 Fellow	of	the	Institute	of	Corporate	Directors	Malaysia	

04 Fauziah Hisham
 Independent Non-Executive Director

03 Alan Hamzah Sendut
 Independent Non-Executive Director

Malaysian Malaysian60 years old 64 years oldMale Female

Experience

•	 Over	30	years	of	experience	in	the	banking	industry	with	
various leadership roles, including as:

– Chairman of the Board of Directors, J.P. Morgan Chase 
Bank Berhad (January 2015 to March 2018)

– Country Group Representative & Executive Director, 
Institutional Banking, Australia & New Zealand Banking 
Group Ltd

– Managing Director, Strategic Client Coverage Group, 
Standard Chartered Bank Malaysia Berhad

– Chief Executive Officer, J.P. Morgan Chase Bank Berhad 
(February 2002 to February 2006)

Directorship of Other Listed Issuers / Public Companies

•	 Agensi	Kaunseling	&	Pengurusan	Kredit	(a	subsidiary	of	
Bank Negara Malaysia)

•	 Malayan	Banking	Berhad

•	 Maybank	Philippines	Inc	

•	 Maybank	Trustees	Berhad	

membership of Board Committees in HRC

•	 Member	of	Board	Audit	Committee

•	 Member	of	Board	Nominating	and	Remuneration	
Committee

Experience

•	 Over	35	years	of	finance	and	business	experience	across	 
multiple industries

•	 Over	25	years	in	C-Suite	/	Senior	Manager	roles	in	
companies involved in motor and heavy equipment 
distribution, manufacturing, plantation, corporate strategy, 
corporate finance, and mergers and acquisitions, including:

– Group Finance Director, Tractors Malaysia Holdings 
Berhad (1996-2001)

– Group Finance Director, Consolidated Plantations  
Berhad (2002-2004)

– Executive Vice President, Group Corporate Finance, 
Strategy and Business Development, Sime Darby  
Berhad (2010-2014)

– Managing Director, Energy and Utilities (Non-China) 
Division, Sime Darby Berhad (2015-2016)

•	 Served	with	PriceWaterhouse,	London,	United	Kingdom	
(1982-1986)

Directorship of Other Listed Issuers / Public Companies

Hong Leong Islamic Bank Berhad

membership of Board Committees in HRC

•	 Chair	of	Board	Audit	Committee

•		Member	of	Board	Risk	Management	Committee

•		Member	of	Board	Tender	Committee	

•		Member	of	Board	Whistleblowing	Committee
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Date of Appointment

1 June 2017

Academic Qualification

Bachelor of Science Hons (Chemistry), University of Malaya

Professional memberships

•	 Fellow,	Institute	of	Corporate	Directors	Malaysia

•	 Member,	Malaysian	Institute	of	Chemistry

05 Liang Kok Siang
 Independent Non-Executive Director

Malaysian 64 years old Male

Experience

•	 35	years	with	Shell	Malaysia,	including	as:

–  Managing Director, Shell MDS (2016)

–  Director and General Manager, Marketing and 
Commercial, Shell MDS (2001-2016)

– Founder and General Manager, BonusLink (1997-2001)

– Various commercial leadership positions in the Retail, 
Lubricants and Chemicals businesses (1981-1997)

Directorship of Other Listed Issuers / Public Companies

None

membership of Board Committees in HRC

•	 Chair	of	Board	Whistleblowing	Committee	

•	 Member	of	Board	Audit	Committee

•	 Member	of	Board	Risk	Management	Committee

•	 Member	of	Board	Tender	Committee

Date of Appointment

23 February 2019

Academic Qualification

•	 Bachelor	of	Computer	Science	(Hons)	University	of	
Technology, Malaysia

•	 Master	of	Business	and	Administration,	 
Henley Management College, United Kingdom

06 Surinderdeep Singh 
 Mohindar Singh
 Independent Non-Executive Director

Experience

•	 Head	of	Enterprise	Business	and	Solutions	in	Celcom	 
Axiata Sdn Bhd (2017-2018)

•	 24	years	with	the	Shell	Group	of	Companies,	including	as:

– General Manager, Strategy and Portfolio, Shell Malaysia 
Ltd (2014-2016)

– General Manager, Shell Marine Products (2009-2014)

– Managing Director, Shell India Marketing Private Limited 
(2007-2008)

– Vice President Director, Shell Indonesia (2004-2006)

– Various leadership positions, including Regional Retail 
Manager, Operations Excellence Manager and Site 
System Techincal Analyst with Pilipinas Shell Petroleum 
Company and Shell Malaysia Trading Sdn Bhd  
(1993-2004)

Directorship of Other Listed Issuers / Public Companies

None

membership of Board Committees in HRC

•	 Chair	of	Board	Nominating	and	Remuneration	Committee	

•	 Member	of	Board	Audit	Committee

•	 Member	of	Board	Projects	Review	Committee	

Malaysian 51 years old Male

NOTE: Unless otherwise stated, all Directors have no family relationship with any other Director and / or major shareholder of 
our Company. They have no conflict of interest with our Company and have not been charged with any offence within 
the past 10 years.
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Erkki Tapio Ranta
Chief Executive Officer 

Finnish 56 years old Male

Appointed with effect from
March 2020

Erkki holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Process Technology from Tampere Institute of Technology in Finland. He brings with him vast 
experience in the oil and & gas industry, and has held a variety of engineering, executive and directorship roles in the last 29 years. 

Erkki commenced his career with Air-Ix Oy, Turku located in Finland as a Plant Design Engineer in 1990. Then, he joined Neste Oil 
Oyj, a downstream oil company in Finland, where he held numerous positions in engineering, operations and was made the HSEQ  
Director of Naantali, Porvoo, Singapore and Rotterdam refineries. Subsequently, he joined Rijeka Refinery, INA in Croatia in 2015 as  
the Refinery Director. In 2019, he served as the Chief Expert of Refining and Marketing with INA before assuming his current role 
in HRC in March 2020.

mANAGEmENT TEAm PROFILE

David Ronald Keat
Chief Executive Officer 

New Zealander 59 years old Male

Jocelyn Wang Chao-Jen
Deputy Chief Executive Officer 

Taiwanese 56 years old Female

Appointed with effect from
June 2018

Jocelyn holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Accountancy from Fu-Jen Catholic University, Taiwan and has 30 years of extensive experience in 
a wide range of operational and executive roles in Taiwan, China and global organisations.

She began her career in 1988 as a Finance Auditor at KPMG Taipei and from 1992 was the Finance Manager of Taiwan Chlorine 
Industries. She joined Shell Taiwan in 2000 as the Finance Vice President of CPC and Shell Lubricants Corporation and was reassigned 
to Shell China in 2004 for various senior managerial positions, including Finance Manager of China Retail, Deputy General Manager of 
Yueyang Sinopec and, Shell Coal Gasification Company, and Regional Audit Manager, Finance of Shell Internal Audit. During her tenure 
in China Retail, she was also appointed as the Finance Director in seven joint venture companies, making significant contributions  
to the joint venture governance of China Retail.

Effective from
March 2018 - February 2020

David holds Degrees in Chemical Engineering (Chemical and Materials) and Science (Chemistry) in University of Auckland,  
New Zealand and has 34 years of experience in the oil and gas industry.

He began his career with Shell in the New Zealand Refining Company Ltd in 1985. Since then, he has held a wide range of operational, 
technical, project and executive roles in oil refining, gas and Gas to Liquids in New Zealand, Oman, Abu Dhabi, the Netherlands and 
Malaysia. He was the Refining Manager in New Zealand, Vice President Technical Support in a large sour gas plant in Abu Dhabi and 
SMDS Operations Manager in Bintulu, Malaysia. Other significant roles have been in Operations, Technology, IT, E&S and Major Projects.

He was appointed as Chief Operations Officer in November 2017. David did not renew his employment contract with HRC and  
thus relinquished his position in late February 2020.
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Eric Lee Chiong Wong
Chief Operations Officer

Malaysian 58 years old Male

Appointed with effect from
December 2018

Eric holds a Degree in Engineering (Mechanical) from the National University of Singapore and has 35 years of working experience,  
of which 29 years have been in the oil and gas industry.

He began his career with Ebara Engineering Singapore Pte. Ltd. in 1985, and joined Shell SMDS (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd in 1991. Since 
then, he has held a wide range of technical, maintenance, operational and management roles in SMDS, management and consultancy 
roles in Gas to Liquids, gasification and clean coal energy with Shell Global Solutions in The Netherlands and China. His last job was 
the General Manager for Coal Gasification Technology and Technical Services in Shell Projects and Technology Worldwide and based in 
Beijing, China. Other significant roles have been in IT and asset management, Turnarounds and Major Projects.

Justin Quek Ting Chin
Chief Financial Officer

Malaysian 48 years old Male

Appointed with effect from
October 2019

Justin holds a Bachelor’s Degree of Accountancy from the University of Bolton (UK) and a Master of Business Administration  
(with a specialisation in Finance) from the University of Southern Queensland (Australia). He is a Fellow of the Institute of Public 
Accountants (IPA, Australia), member of the Chartered Institute of Management Accountants (CIMA, UK), member of Chartered 
Global Management Accountant (CGMA) and Chartered Accountant of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (MIA).

He has more than 25 years of extensive experience across financial management, accounting, audit, risk management, and senior  
level strategic planning. His professional career began with Chartered Accountancy firm, DFK International, and has since expanded 
across diverse industries including onshore and offshore oil and gas services, building construction, civil engineering, property 
development, steel and mining. Justin was with Sunway Construction Berhad and Leighton Offshore Pte Ltd (a subsidiary of Leighton 
Holdings Limited in Australia) where he served for 12 years and 4 years respectively; and he was the Chief Financial Officer in  
GuocoLand (Malaysia) Berhad and Mah Sing Group Berhad, between 2014 to 2018.

Justin was the Group Chief Financial Officer in TSLaw Holdings Group before assuming his current role in HRC.

Zulhazmi Mohamad
Chief Projects Officer

Malaysian 49 years old Male

Appointed with effect from
March 2018

Zulhazmi holds a Bachelor of Electrical Engineering (Hons) from the University of Southampton, United Kingdom. He joined the 
Company in 1994, and has held multiple jobs in projects, engineering, and maintenance over 24 years, including the detailed design 
and construction of the state-of-the-art Long Residue Catalytic Converter Unit (LRCCU) project. He was also involved in the design, 
construction, commissioning and startup of the HIJAU complex for HRC in Port Dickson.

He was the HRC Engineering Senior Manager from 2011 and was appointed as Chief Projects Officer in 2018. In his current role,  
he oversees several major projects in HRC such as Project E4M Mogas, Clean Air Regulation, H2GEN, E5G and ATLAS II.
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Zackaria Abdulah
Manager, Quality and HSSE

William Chen Jung Huei
Chief Commercial Officer

Johan Jainudin
Senior Manager, Technology

Malaysian 40 years old Male

Taiwanese 47 years old Male

Malaysian 42 years old Male

Appointed with effect from
November 2012

Zackaria holds a Bachelor of Environmental Sciences & Management (Hons) from the University of Malaya, and is a 
Certified ISO 14001 Lead Auditor by IRCA. He has over 17 years experience in the field of HSSE and Quality Assurance,  
with expertise in HSSE regulatory compliance, management systems, incident investigation and emergency response.

Prior to joining HRC, he was with Schlumberger, BP, Accenture and Dutch Lady in various capacities, including senior roles at site level, 
corporate and consulting.

Appointed with effect from
April 2017

William holds a Masters in International Business Management from Soochow University, Taiwan.

He began his career with Formosa Plastics Group, Taiwan in 1999, and has over 18 years of commercial experience including being  
a crude oil trader, a trading manager of naphtha supply and a general manager of petrochemical feedstocks.

Appointed with effect from
February 2012

Johan has a Degree in Chemical Engineering from University of Manchester Institute of Science and Technology (UMIST), United  
Kingdom, and is a Chartered Engineer of the Institution of Chemical Engineers (IChemE) and Engineering Council, United Kingdom.  
He has 21 years of experience in the oil and gas industry.

He started his career with PETRONAS in 1999. He has worked for 17 years in the refining industry in various roles including technical 
services, production and major project design and commissioning. He also held a strategic planning role for two years where he  
worked on group-level strategy projects.
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Eddie Lim Yong Joo
Risk and Integrity Officer

Malaysian 33 years old Male

Islamiah Idris 
Human Resources Manager

Malaysian 52 years old Female

Appointed with effect from
August 2018

Islamiah graduated from Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia (UKM) with LLB.Hons in 1992 and was admitted to the Malaysian Bar  
in 1993.

She started her career as a Magistrate in the KL Magistrate Court and subsequently became a Human Resource practitioner.  
Prior to joining Hengyuan Refining Company Berhad, she was the Human Resource Manager for Shell Malaysia Trading Sdn Bhd  
and the downstream business for Shell in Malaysia. She has working experience in several multinational companies such as  
Motorola Malaysia and amura Electronics (M) Sdn Bhd.

Nur Izatul Fitri Hussein
Chief Internal Auditor

Malaysian 37 years old Female

Appointed with effect from
February 2018

Izatul holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Accountancy (Hons) from Universiti Utara Malaysia and a Certification in Risk Management Assurance 
from The Institute of Internal Auditors Inc. She is a Certified Internal Auditor, Certified Fraud Examiner and Chartered Accountant 
who has over 14 years of extensive and varied experience in internal controls, enterprise risk management and corporate governance.

She is a Chartered Member of The Institute of Internal Auditors Malaysia, member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants and 
member of Association of Certified Fraud Examiners. She began her career as a consultant at Ernst & Young Advisory Services Sdn Bhd. 
She later joined several public listed companies from diverse industries as an Internal Auditor and Risk Management Officer, specialising 
in financial and operational audit, governance and compliance, business and project risk, business continuity management, IT general 
control review, project management review and fraud investigation.

Appointed with effect from
April 2018

Eddie holds a Bachelor of Commerce (Hons) Accounting from Universiti Tunku Abdul Rahman and a Certificate Risk Management 
Assurance from The Institute of Internal Auditor Inc. He is a Certified Internal Auditor and Chartered Accountant who has over 12 
years of extensive and varied experience in internal and external audits, business process control, enterprise risk management, fraud 
investigation, corporate governance and corporate integrity.

He is a Chartered Member of The Institute of Internal Auditors Malaysia, Fellow Member of Association of Chartered Certified 
Accountants and member of Malaysian Institute of Accountants. He began his career with a reputable audit firm before joining a few 
public listed companies from diverse industries as Internal Auditor and Risk Manager.

Eddie also oversees the legal, governance and compliance units in HRC starting from 1 January 2020.



We are proud of our capable and  

loyal employees. The reliability  

mindset and accountability at all  

levels are strongly cultivated in our 

Company’s corporate culture.

In HRC, employees are empowered  

to take ownership of their work,  

work as self-motivated teams and  

stay united towards achievements  

like Goal Zero and long-term  

sustainability targets.

Operational Availability   

96.3% 

10.1 million    

man hours without           

Lost Time Injury



ACCOUNTABLE 
leadership at  

all levels   
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CORPORATE GOvERNANCE OvERvIEW STATEmENT

The Board of Directors (Board) of Hengyuan Refining Company Berhad (Company) recognises 
the importance of good corporate governance culture within the Company and is committed 
to instilling the highest standard of its core values (integrity, honesty and respect for people) in 
the conduct of its businesses and operations. The Board believes these standards are the key to 
sustainability and delivering long-term value to its shareholders and stakeholders.

The Board is pleased to provide an overview of the Company’s corporate governance  
practices during the financial year ended 31 December 2019 (FY 2019), with reference to the 
Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance. This statement should be read together with the 
Company’s Corporate Governance Report 2019 which is made available on the Company’s 
website at www.hrc.com.my.

PRINCIPLE A: BOARD LEADERSHIP AND 
EFFECTIvENESS

I. Board Responsibilities

The primary role of the Board is to represent, promote and protect 
the interests of the Company which include the shareholders 
and stakeholders. To effectively discharge the Board’s functions 
and responsibilities, certain powers were delegated to the 
Management and relevant Board Committees as follows:

i. Board Audit Committee (BAC);

ii. Board Nominating and Remuneration Committee 
(BNRC);

Amongst others, the Board assumes the following responsibilities: 

No Principal Responsibilities Explanation and updates for FY 2019

i To promote good corporate 
governance culture within the 
Company which reinforces 
ethical, prudent and 
professional behaviour

The Company has a full set of governance controls including a full set of appropriate 
policies such as HRC’s General Business Principles, Code of Conduct, Manual of 
Authorities, a control framework, approval checks at various levels and many other 
controls. Management always seeks to live by and to enforce these principles and controls.

On 26 July 2019, the Company was certified by SIRIM to have achieved  
ISO 37001: 2016 on Anti-Bribery Management Systems. The certificate attests to  
the Company’s commitments to uphold and promote good corporate governance 
culture within the Company, supported by its existing Core Values, Code of 
Conduct, General Business Principles and Anti-Bribery & Corruption and Anti-Money  
Laundering Manual.

ii Reviewing and adopting a 
strategic plan for the Company

On 27 November 2019, the Board approved a Business Strategy tabled by the 
Management which sets out the strategy timelines to achieve both short-term and 
long-term value creation for the Company. The focus for 2020 is to complete the  
major projects and mitigation of supply and financial impacts.

On the same day, the Board approved the Company’s new Purpose, Vision, Mission 
and Values, setting out a new direction for the upcoming years which will be launched  
and implemented in 2020.

iii. Board Risk management Committee (BRmC);

iv. Board Projects Review Committee (BPRC);

v. Board Tender Committee (BTC); and

vi. Board Whistleblowing Committee (BWC).

On 27 November 2019, the Board established a BWC to assist 
the Board to further strengthen the Company’s corporate 
governance culture by ensuring the highest standards of integrity, 
openness and accountability in the conduct of its businesses  
and operations are met.
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No Principal Responsibilities Explanation and updates for FY 2019

iii Overseeing the conduct of the 
Company’s business

A Scorecard based on Key Performance Indicators for Management is determined by 
the Board annually as a mechanism to measure the effectiveness and performance of 
the Management from time to time. 

Board and Board Committees meetings are also held in accordance to the frequency 
specified in the Board Charter and respective Terms of Reference for Board Committees, 
with additional meetings to be convened as and when necessary to review, challenge 
and decide all important matters pertaining to the Company which include proposals 
tabled by the Management.

iv Identifying principal risks and 
ensuring the implementation 
of appropriate internal controls  
and mitigation measures

To ensure appropriate internal controls and mitigation measures are in place, the  
BAC and BRMC assist the Board in assessing and anticipating potential risks to the 
Company and recommending appropriate actions to be taken to mitigate the risks.

v Succession planning The BNRC assists the Board to oversee the nomination and remuneration  
functions to ensure orderly succession planning for directors and key members of the 
senior management holding the positions of Chief Executive Officer (CEO), Deputy 
Chief Executive Officer (DCEO), Chief Financial Officer (CFO) and Human Resource 
(HR) Manager is in place. The BNRC also undertakes the annual assessment of the 
effectiveness of the Board and Board Committees.

vi Overseeing the development  
and implementation of a 
stakeholder communications 
policy for the Company

The Company reaches out to its investors and other stakeholders mainly through 
communications published on the Company’s website and announcements made 
via quarterly financial reports, Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (Bursa Malaysia),  
circulars or press statements, whenever required. Apart from that, the Company  
continues to engage in active communications with the communities near the  
Company located in Port Dickson to foster close relationships while consistently 
updating its stakeholders on the business affairs especially on matters that may affect 
the community.

vii Reviewing the adequacy and  
the integrity of the 
management information and 
internal control systems of  
the Company

The Board and Management continues to base the efficacy of the Company’s 
internal control systems on the control framework approved by the Board  
since 2018.

Further details of the risk management and internal control framework are provided 
in the Board’s Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control and is available  
on page 63 of this Annual Report.

The primary roles and responsibilities of the Board and respective Board Committees are available in the latest version of the  
Company’s Board Charter and Terms of Reference for Board Committees, published on the Company’s website at www.hrc.com.my.
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Separation of Positions of the Chairman and Chief 
Executive Officer

Mr Wang, YouDe continues to hold the position of Chairman  
of the Board and is responsible for instilling good corporate 
governance practices, leadership and effectiveness of the 
Board. The role of the Chairman and the CEO are distinct and  
separate, and the positions are held by different individuals.

The current CEO of the Company is Mr Erkki Tapio Ranta.  
Mr David Ronald Keat was the ex-CEO of the Company. He  
ceased his responsibilities as the CEO of the Company 
with effect from 29 February 2020 upon the expiry of his  
employment contract and Mr Erkki Tapio Ranta assumed the 
position with effect from 1 March 2020. An announcement  
was made on 28 November 2019 through Bursa Malaysia on  
the change of principal officer.

Neither Mr David Ronald Keat nor Mr Erkki Tapio Ranta were or 
are members of the Board.

Company Secretary 

The Company is supported by two (2) professionally qualified  
and competent Company Secretaries who provide advisory 
services to the Board on corporate disclosures, corporate 
governance issues and compliance with relevant policies and 
procedures, laws and regulatory requirements and assist the 
Board in applying governance practices to meet the Board’s 
needs and stakeholders’ expectations.

Access to meeting materials

The notices and agenda of meetings duly endorsed by the 
Chairman together with the relevant board papers are circulated 
to the members of the Board and Board Committees, at least  
five (5) working days prior to the meeting date to ensure  
sufficient time and information for the Board and Board 
Committees member to review and evaluate the matters to be 
deliberated at meetings.

For FY 2019, the Board opined that the quality of the content 
and timeliness for circulation of board papers and meeting 
minutes had shown improvement in comparison to 2018 based 
on the Board Evaluation Assessment conducted in November 
2019 (BEA FY2019). However, the Board wishes to see  
further improvement in those areas by the Management to  
ensure sufficient time and adequate information presented to 
facilitate decision making on subject matters by the Board and 
Board Committees.

Board Charter

The Board regularly reviews and evaluates the adequacy of its 
Board Charter to ensure the clarity in the roles and responsibilities 
of the Board, its committees, individual directors, the relation 
between the Board and Management and issues reserved for  
the Board.

The latest Board Charter was approved by the Board on  
29 August 2019 and is published on the Company’s website  
at www.hrc.com.my.

Code of Conduct 

The Company continues to enforce strict compliance to its  
Code of Conduct that provides the information and guidelines 
for the Company to achieve its business principles and 
core values in the conduct of its businesses and operations  
addressing areas including but not limited to unethical behaviour, 
conflict of interests, breach of laws and regulations, insider 
dealing and use of information technology and electronic 
communications including risk management of data privacy, 
intellectual property, information and records management and 
business communication.

In addition to the Code of Conduct, the Company’s Anti-Bribery 
& Corruption & Anti Money Laundering Manual (ABC & AML 
Manual) further strengthens the Company’s requirements for 
its employees and business partners to comply with laws that 
prohibit bribery, corruption and money laundering.

Both the Code of Conduct and ABC & AML Manual are  
accessible on the Company’s website at www.hrc.com.my.

Whistleblowing Policy

The Board regularly reviews and updates the Company’s 
Whistleblowing Policy to ensure a smooth channel to facilitate 
disclosure of genuine and legitimate improper conduct within 
the Company. The latest revision to the Whistleblowing Policy 
was approved on 17 February 2020.

On 29 November 2019, the Board established a BWC as a  
Board sub-committee with the following primary objectives:

i. To review, investigate and resolve complaints of improper 
conduct of any member of the Board or any employee of 
the Company that is submitted to the BWC through the 
Company’s whistleblowing channel;

ii. To develop the Company’s Whistleblowing Policy and 
procedures and to implement them together with the 
management of the Company; and

iii. To periodically assess the adequacy and effectiveness of the 
Company’s Whistleblowing Policy and procedures and to 
revise them as necessary.
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The composition of the BWC consists of three (3) members 
of the Board, with a majority being independent directors. 
The Chairman of BWC is Mr Liang Kok Siang, an independent  
Non-Executive Director of the Board.

The Whistleblowing Policy and Terms of Reference for BWC  
are published on the Company’s website at www.hrc.com.my.

II. BOARD COmPOSITION

The Board consists of six (6) Directors, comprising two (2) 
Non-Independent Non-Executive Directors and four (4) 
independent Non-Executive Directors to ensure balance of  
power and authority within the Board.

As at 31 December 2019, none of the Company’s independent 
directors have served beyond nine (9) years on the Board and 
the Company’s Board Charter has set out that the tenure of 
an independent non-executive director should not exceed a 
cumulative term limit of nine (9) years.

The Board recognises the importance of having a diverse board 
with mix of relevant skills, expertise and experience required to 
provide diverse perspectives and insights for decision making in 
the best interests of the Company and the BNRC continues to 
assist the Board with screening and selection for the Board and 
certain members of the Company’s management team, having 
regards to skills, knowledge, expertise and experience, time 
commitment, character, professionalism and integrity, ability to 
work cohesively with other members of the Board, age, gender 
and cultural background.

As at 31 December 2019, the Board consists of:

Race / Ethnicity Nationality

Number  
of  
Directors

Malay Chinese Indian Others Malaysian Foreigner

2 1 1 2 4 2

Age Group Gender

Number  
of  
Directors

50-59 60-69 Male Female

4 2 5 1

No Experience / Skills Percentage

1 Corporate Governance 83%

2 Regulatory Compliance / Legal 67%

3 Internal Controls / Risk Management / Audit 100%

4 Finance: Accounting / Treasury / Tax 67%

5 Corporate Finance / Mergers & Acquisitionss 67%

6 Commercial, Economics and Scheduling 83%

7 QHSSE 83%

8 Strategy and Oil & Gas 67%

9 Supply / Marketing / Sales 50%

10 Contracting and Procurement 33%

11 Project Management / Engineering 67%

12 Human Resource & Development 67%

13 Information Technology 50%

14 Banking 17%

As at 31 December 2019, the Company’s Management team 
consists of:

Race / Ethnicity Nationality

Number of 
Management 
members

Malay Chinese Indian Others Malaysian Foreigner

5 3 - 3 8 3

Age Group Gender

Number of 
Management 
members

30-39 40-49 50-59 Male Female

3 4 4 8 3

*On 1 October 2019, Mr Quek Ting Chin was appointed the 
Chief Financial Officer of the Company.

The Board does not set specific targets on gender diversity for 
the Company but recognises the importance of gender diversity. 
For FY 2019, the Board comprises of six (6) Directors, one (1) of 
whom is female, representing 17% female representation.

However, the Board opined that the current composition of 
the Board is sufficient and shall consider on an annual basis or 
whenever necessary, if appointment of additional member(s) 
to the Board is required based on the Company’s needs or any 
changes to the current composition to the Board.
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Board Nominating and Remuneration Committee

The Chairman of BNRC is Mr Surinderdeep Singh Mohindar 
Singh, an independent Non-Executive Director appointed to the 
Board since 23 February 2019.

The BNRC is responsible for assisting the Board on nomination 
and remuneration functions. For screening and selection 
of suitable candidates to the Board and even for senior  
management with the positions of CEO, DCEO, CFO and HR 
Manager, BNRC may solicit and consider the views of existing 
Board members, management, major shareholders, independent 
search firms and a variety of other independent sources.  
If independent sources were not used, the Board will disclose 
to that effect in the Company’s annual report and explanation  
will be provided as to why other sources were not used.

Aside from the above, the BNRC is responsible for assisting 
the Board in establishing procedures and processes towards an  
annual assessment of the effectiveness of the Board as a whole 
and each Board Committee (including its size and composition),  
as well as the contribution of each individual Director. For  
FY2019, the BNRC decided that the BEA FY2019 would be 
conducted internally with expansion of the scope to the  
existing template of questionnaires to cover a holistic perspective 
to identify areas for improvement. 

The results of the BEA FY2019 show that the Board is satisfied 
with the operation and overall effectiveness of the Board for  
FY2019 and that the Board has effectively discharged its duties  
in accordance to the Company’s Board Charter. However, the 
Board opined that there are areas for improvement such as 
efficiency of Board meetings and succession planning. 

The Board Committees (BAC, BNRC, BRMC, BPRC and BTC) had 
respectively carried out self-evaluation and the members of the 
Board Committees are satisfied with the overall effectiveness of 
the respective Board Committees.

III. REmUNERATION

On 27 November 2019, a Directors Remuneration Policy was 
approved by the Board with the objectives to ensure that the 
compensation packages to the directors are reflective of the 
Company’s demands, complexities and performance as a whole 
as well as the skills and experience required, in line with the 
strategic objectives of the Company which rewards contribution 
to the long-term success of the Company.

The BNRC is guided by the following principles prior to its 
endorsement and recommendation to the board of the 
remuneration to be paid to the individual directors:

i. The demand, complexities and performance of the Company 
as a whole;

ii. The level of responsibilities, skills, expertise and experience 
required;

iii. That the remuneration is set at a competitive level for similar 
roles and responsibilities within current market practices by 
comparable companies; and

iv. That any such remuneration incentives do not conflict  
with the directors’ obligations to bring objectivity and 
independent judgment to the Company.

The remuneration structure for positions of CEO, DCEO, CFO 
and expatriate employees will continue to be regulated by the 
BNRC and in accordance with its Terms of Reference,

The Directors Remuneration Policy and the Terms of Reference 
of the BNRC are available on the Company’s website at  
www.hrc.com.my.
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PRINCIPLE B: EFFECTIvE AUDIT AND RISK 
mANAGEmENT

I. BOARD AUDIT COmmITTEE

The Chairman of BAC is Mr Alan Hamzah Sendut, an  
independent Non-Executive Director, who is not the Chairman 
of the Board. The Committee comprises solely of four (4) 
independent non-executive directors with a diverse mix of 
skills, knowledge, experience and perspectives in the areas 
of accounting, corporate finance, banking, the oil and gas  
industry, strategy, corporate governance and banking, which 
enables the BAC to discharge its duties.

The BAC members continuously update themselves of the latest 
developments in accounting and auditing standards, practices 
and rules. The list of training courses attended by the members 
of the Board including the members of the BAC can be found  
on page 150 of this Annual Report.

Internal and External Audit Function

The adequacy of the HRC Control Framework and effectiveness 
of the internal control system has been reviewed and endorsed 
by the BAC based on the assurance provided by management, 
the internal and external auditors. 

For FY 2019, the details of remuneration breakdown of individual Directors, including fees, salary, bonus, benefits-in-kind and other 
emoluments (received or to be received from the Company) are as follows:

(in Rm’000)
Salaries, Bonus 

and Salaries 
Related Benefits Fees

Attendance 
and Other 

Allowances Total

Wang, YouDe N/A 793 4 797

Wang, ZongQuan N/A 234 4 238

Lim Tau Kien N/A 53 1 54

Alan Hamzah Sendut N/A 242 4 246

Fauziah Hisham N/A 186 4 190

Liang Kok Siang N/A 219 4 223

Surinderdeep Singh Mohindar Singh N/A 206 3 209

Total 1,933 24 1,957

The Directors of the Company were insured against certain liabilities under a Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance policy for which 
the Company paid an aggregate sum of RM57,000.00.

The Terms of Reference of the BAC provides that a former key  
audit partner of the external auditors shall be subject to a  
minimum of two (2) years cooling-off period before being 
appointed as a member of the BAC. At present, none of the 
Board members is or has been a key audit partner of the 
Company’s external auditors.

When dealing with external auditors, the BAC is responsible for 
recommending to the Board the appointment or re-appointment 
of external auditor(s) and the associated audit fee after reviewing 
their suitability, resources, competency and independence and 
any resignation or dismissal of the external auditor and secure 
the reasons therefor.

The internal audit charter of the Company’s Internal Audit 
Department (IAD) provides that the IAD will maintain its 
objectivity and independence at all times and will have no direct 
operational responsibility or authority over any of the activities 
audited. However, the BAC is also responsible for reviewing  
the independence of the internal audit function and assessing 
the performance of the internal audit members and services 
provided by the internal audit function annually.  

The BAC’s report is available on page 68 of this Annual Report.
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II. RISK mANAGEmENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL 
FRAmEWORK

The Board strives to maintain a sound internal control and 
risk management system to ensure a smooth running of the 
business and aims to manage its risks and to control its business 
and financial affairs economically, efficiently and effectively so 
as to be able to deliver profitable business opportunities in a  
disciplined way, to avoid or mitigate risks that can cause loss, 
reputational damage or business failure, and to enhance 
resilience to external events. 

The Chairman of the BRMC is Mr Wang, ZongQuan, a  
Non-Independent Non-Executive Director of the Board.  
The Committee comprises of three (3) members, two (2) of 
whom are independent non-executive directors. 

The BRMC provides oversight and direction on risk management 
matters to ensure prudent risk management over the Company 
businesses and operations. The Management is responsible 
for conducting a systematic and comprehensive evaluation of  
the key risk areas which were deliberated and presented to  
the BRMC. The implementation of risk controls is monitored, and 
the results are presented during the BRMC meetings.

Further details of the risk management and internal control 
framework are provided in the Board’s Statement on Risk 
Management and Internal Control which is available on  
page 63 of this Annual Report.  

PRINCIPLE C: INTEGRITY IN CORPORATE 
REPORTING AND mEANINGFUL 
RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

I. Communication with Stakeholders

The Board acknowledges the importance of effective 
communications to ensure that stakeholders are kept informed 
of the Company’s objectives and strategic aims, performance  
and major developments affecting its business.  

The Company has a Corporate Affairs Department to ensure 
effective, transparent and regular communication between the 
Company and its stakeholders via channels including:

i. town hall meetings;

ii. one-to-one engagements, regular visits and meetings 
especially to the neighbouring communities near the 
Company’s refinery; 

iii. engagements with local, state and federal government 
authorities to ensure compliance to laws and regulations 
applicable to the Company especially on financial, tax, 
governance, environment and health & safety matters;

iv. transparent and up-to-date announcements through  
financial reports, annual and sustainability reports, 
announcement via Bursa Malaysia, circulars and press 
releases.

II. Conduct of General meetings

The Company’s Board Charter provides that the Board shall 
ensure that shareholders are given all necessary information  
and notice of the annual general meeting of the Company, at 
least 21 days before the meeting. In practice, the Company 
has been circulating the notice of annual general meeting 
of the Company at least 28 days before the meeting. For the  
Company’s 60th Annual General Meeting held on 28 May 2019, 
the notice of meeting was circulated on 25 April 2019 which  
was 33 days before the meeting.

The Company regards general meetings as important 
platforms for dialogue amongst Directors, Management and 
shareholders and aims to encourage active participation by the 
shareholders during such meetings. The Board Charter provides 
that all Directors and the Chairs of the respective Committees 
must attend general meetings to allow shareholders to raise 
questions and receive meaningful response to questions  
raised by them.

During the Company’s 60th Annual General Meeting held on  
28 May 2019, all Directors and Chairs of the respective 
Committees, CEO, DCEO and CFO attended the meeting and 
responded to the key matters raised by the shareholders in 
relation to the performance of the Company.

The minutes of the 60th Annual General Meeting are published 
at www.hrc.com.my.

The Company’s Corporate Governance Report and Corporate 
Governance Overview Statement was approved by the Board  
on 17 February 2020.
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STATEmENT ON RISK mANAGEmENT AND  
INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board of Directors (Board) of Hengyuan Refining Company Berhad (Company or HRC) is 
committed to maintaining a sound internal control and risk management system to ensure 
the smooth running of the business. It is HRC’s aim to manage its risks and to control its 
business and financial affairs economically, efficiently and effectively so as to be able to deliver 
profitable business outcomes in a disciplined way, to avoid or mitigate risks that can cause 
loss, reputational damage or business failure, and to enhance our resilience to external events. 
The following statement outlines the nature and scope of HRC’s internal control and risk 
management in 2019.

BOARD’S RESPONSIBILITY

The Board affirms its overall responsibility for HRC’s risk 
management and the internal control system, and for reviewing 
the system’s adequacy and integrity. The Board recognises 
that this system is designed to manage, rather than eliminate, 
the risks of not achieving HRC’s objectives and adhering to 
the policies. Due to the inherent limitations, the system can 
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against  
material misstatement, fraud or loss or the occurrence of 
unforeseeable circumstances.

The Board Audit Committee (BAC) assists and supports the 
Board’s responsibility of overseeing the suitability, objectivity and 
independence of the Company’s external auditor and internal 
audit function. The adequacy of the HRC Control Framework and 
effectiveness of the internal control system has been reviewed 
and endorsed by the BAC based on the assurance provided by 
management, the internal and external auditors. Audit issues 
and actions taken by Management to address the issues tabled 
by the auditors during the year were deliberated on during the 
BAC meetings.

The Board Risk Management Committee (BRMC) provides 
oversight and direction on risk management matters to ensure 
prudent risk management over HRC’s business and operations. 
Management has conducted a systematic and comprehensive 
evaluation of the Key Risk Areas which were deliberated  
and presented to the BRMC. The implementation of risk  
controls is monitored, and the results are presented during the 
BRMC meetings.

Internal control and risk-related matters which warrant the 
attention of the Board are recommended by the BAC and  
BRMC to the Board for its deliberation and approval.

mANAGEmENT’S ROLE

Whilst the Board assumes responsibility for HRC’s internal  
controls and risk management, the Management holds the 
key role in the implementation of the internal controls and risk 
management system. Management is accountable for regularly 
assessing that the systems continue to operate efficiently  
and effectively.

RISK mANAGEmENT

The risk management function is formalised to provide 
an enterprise-wide view of risk management within HRC. 
The objective of risk management is to promote advanced  
awareness and define boundaries for risk-taking, and to apply 
fit-for-purpose risk responses in order for HRC to provide a 
reasonably sufficient, but not an absolute assurance, against 
material misstatements, fraud or loss. In addition, it allows HRC 
to operate and achieve its objectives, within a managed and 
acceptable risk profile.

Fit-for-purpose risk responses are primarily intended to:

•	 Minimise the likelihood of a risk occurring by actively 
managing the sources of the risk and ensuring competent 
people are overseeing the risk on a regular basis; and

•	 Mitigate the impact of a risk should it arise, often through 
the application of some form of alert that the risk has 
materialised, followed by the initiation of a contingency or 
recovery plan to reduce the potential consequences and  
also future occurrences.

HRC adopts the best practices from ISO 31000: 2018  
Risk Management to manage the risks of its business and 
operations. HRC has an established and structured process for 
the identification, assessment, communication, monitoring  
and continual review of risks and the effectiveness of risk 
mitigation strategies and controls.
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RISK mANAGEmENT GOvERNANCE

The HRC risk register is segregated into three (3) major 
components, which are: Quality, Health, Safety, Security and 
Environment (QHSSE) Risk, Operational Risk and Commercial 
Risk. All risks will be deliberated on a quarterly basis by the  
senior management before being brought to the BRMC for 
review and further deliberation.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

HRC’s internal control system comprises the following key 
processes:

1. AUTHORITY AND RESPONSIBILITY

a. Certain responsibilities are delegated to the Board 
Committees through clearly defined Terms of Reference 
(TOR) which are reviewed annually.

b. The Manual of Authorities is reviewed periodically 
to reflect the authority and authorisation limits of 
Management in all aspects of HRC’s major business 
operations and regulatory functions.

2. ORGANISATION STRUCTURE AND mANAGEmENT 
COmmITTEE

a. An organisational structure, which is aligned to the 
business and operational requirements, and with clearly 
defined lines of responsibility, accountability and levels 
of authority, is in place to assist in implementing HRC’s 
strategies and day-to-day business activities. 

b. The Management Team serves in an advisory capacity 
to the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and Deputy Chief 
Executive Officer (DCEO) in accomplishing the vision, 
strategies and objectives set for HRC.

c. Various functional committees have also been  
established across the Company to ensure HRC’s  
activities and operations are properly aligned towards 
achieving its organisational goals and objectives.
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d. The Chief Financial Officer (CFO) is required to provide 
assurance to the BAC that:

•	 appropriate accounting policies have been adopted 
and applied consistently, the going concern basis 
applied in the Annual Financial Statements is 
appropriate, and that prudent judgements and 
reasonable estimates have been made in accordance 
with the requirements set out in the Malaysian 
Financial Reporting Standards (MFRSs) and the 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs);

•	 adequate processes and controls are in place for 
effective and efficient financial reporting and 
disclosure under the requirements of MFRSs, IFRSs,  
the Companies Act 2016 and Bursa Malaysia 
Securities Berhad’s Main Market Listing Requirements 
(MMLR); and 

•	 the Annual Financial Statements and the quarterly 
Financial Statements give a true and fair view of 
the financial position and financial performance 
of the Company and do not contain any material 
misstatement.

3. PLANNING, mONITORING AND REPORTING

a. An annual planning and budgetary exercise are 
undertaken by all departments to prepare business 
plans and budgets for the forthcoming year. These are 
deliberated on by the BAC to ensure alignment with  
the strategy as agreed at the latest strategy review. 
Thereafter, the BAC recommends the updated plans 
and budget to the Board for approval before its 
implementation.

b. HRC’s financial performances are reviewed regularly by 
Management. The financial results and variances (if any) 
are presented to the Board on a quarterly basis.

c. There is a regular and comprehensive flow of 
information from Management to the Board on all 
aspects of HRC’s operations to facilitate the monitoring 
of performance against HRC’s corporate strategy, 
business plans and regulatory requirements.

d. The sustainability strategy is developed by management 
and reviewed by the Board to ensure its robustness in 
achieving HRC’s objectives. The sustainability strategy 
was approved by the Board and is disclosed in the 2019 
Sustainability Report.

4. POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

 Clear, formalised and documented internal policies, 
standards and procedures are in place to ensure compliance 
with internal controls and relevant laws and regulations.  

A list of identified laws and regulations applicable to HRC 
is documented and maintained to facilitate compliance. 
Regular reviews are performed to ensure that documentation 
remains current and relevant. Policies and procedures 
are available on HRC’s intranet and are accessible to the 
employees.

5. COmPLIANCE mANAGEmENT

 The Management team led by the CEO is responsible for 
ensuring day to day operational compliance within the 
Company.

 HRC’s compliance management includes compliance to all 
relevant laws, regulations, rules and guidelines. It also covers 
risk-based compliance to the Company’s internal policies, 
procedures and code of conduct. 

 In 2019, no major non-compliance was encountered.

6. CODE OF CONDUCT

 The Code of Conduct (Code) applies to every employee, 
director and officer in HRC as well as contract employees 
working for HRC. Contractors and consultants who are 
agents of, or working on behalf of, or in the name of HRC 
(through outsourcing of services, processes or any business 
activity), are required to act consistently with the Code when 
acting on HRC’s behalf. Contractors and consultants are also 
made aware of the Code as it applies to their dealings with 
HRC employees.

 The Code outlines the following:

•	 Our responsibilities and a guide to ethical decision 
making.

•	 The standards of good behaviour that HRC expects from 
every employee, all contractors and all consultants as 
well as contract employees.

•	 That we have the right to expect the same standards of 
behaviour from our colleagues.

•	 The system for handling of sensitive information and 
HRC’s Intellectual Property.

•	 Guidelines to help in keeping our business interactions 
legal, ethical and professional, ensuring that we protect 
ourselves from any suspicion of wrongdoing and to 
safeguard HRC’s reputation.

7. INFORmATION AND COmmUNICATIONS TECHNOLOGY

 Information and communications technology are  
extensively deployed in HRC to automate work processes 
where possible and to efficiently collect and report key 
business information. 
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 HRC is certified under the Information Security Management 
Systems (ISMS), MS ISO / IEC 27001: 2013 and shall 
continue to enhance its information and communication 
systems to ensure that it can act as an enabler to improve 
business processes, work productivity and decision making 
throughout the Company.

 In year 2019, HRC successfully implemented a new office 
automation platform that enables automation of internal 
workflows to increase operational efficiency. The project 
aims to convert high-risk and critical manual workflows to 
full automation and reduce redundancy and heavy reliance 
on its manual paperwork.

8. EmPLOYEES PERFORmANCE mANAGEmENT

 HRC selects individuals for employment through a  
structured recruitment process. The professionalism and 
competency of employees is continuously enhanced through 
a structured training and development programme. 

 A performance management system is in place which 
measures employee’s performance against agreed goals on 
an annual basis.

9. WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

 HRC has established a Whistleblowing Policy (Policy) which 
provides an avenue for employees and members of the 
public to disclose any improper conduct in accordance with 
the procedures under the Policy.

 Under the Policy, a whistleblower will be accorded the 
protection of identity confidentiality, to the extent reasonably 
practicable. A whistleblower will also be protected against 
any adverse or detrimental actions for disclosing improper 
conduct that has been committed or is about to be 
committed within HRC, to the extent reasonably practicable, 
provided that the disclosure is made in good faith. Such 
protection is accorded even if investigations later reveal 
that the whistleblower is mistaken as to the facts, rules and 
procedures involved.

 The Policy is available on HRC’s corporate website.

10. QUALITY, HEALTH, SAFETY, SECURITY AND 
ENvIRONmENT (QHSSE), SUSTAINABILITY, SOCIAL 
AND GOvERNANCE

 HRC upholds its highest commitment to QHSSE, 
sustainability, social responsibilities and governance  
practices via the establishment of HRC’s General Business 
Principles and various policies and procedures. 

 HRC periodically reviews the risks and procedures in place 
including scenario planning and holds mock exercises and 
incident simulations to test the readiness of the employees 
in responding to those incidents.

 A comprehensive list of activities and initiatives performed 
by HRC is highlighted in the HRC Sustainability Report 2019.

BUSINESS INTEGRITY

In 2018, the Malaysian Anti-Corruption Commission Act 
2009 (MACC Act) was amended to incorporate, among other 
changes, a new Section 17A relating to offences by a commercial 
organisation or commonly known as Corporate Liability. In 
supporting the Malaysian Government’s strong determination  
to fight corruption, HRC has set up the integrity unit which is led 
by the Risk and Integrity Officer to champion corporate integrity 
matters within HRC. BRMC oversees the implementation of 
business integrity within HRC and ensures its management 
systems work in accordance with its intended purposes.

Section 17A of the MACC Act also specifies that if a commercial 
organisation has adequate procedures in place to prevent an 
act of corruption, the commercial organisation can use that as 
a defence in corruption cases involving persons associated with  
the commercial organisation. In December 2018, the Guidelines 
on Adequate Procedures pursuant to Section 17A of the 
MACC Act was launched by the MACC to assist commercial 
organisations in understanding the adequate procedures that 
should be implemented to prevent corrupt practices. A checklist 
detailing the HRC current capability against the MACC guideline 
was presented to BRMC in February 2019. 

HRC has been certified for the ISO 37001: 2016 Anti-Bribery 
Management Systems in July 2019, being one of the first  
private organisations in Malaysia to achieve this standard.

HRC’s business integrity management comprises the following 
key controls:

1. ANTI-BRIBERY & CORRUPTION AND ANTI-mONEY 
LAUNDERING mANUAL

 The HRC Anti-Bribery & Corruption and Anti-Money 
Laundering Manual (ABC & AML Manual) outlines the 
procedure, integrity screening and ethical behaviours 
expected from the employees and business associates 
to avoid any instances of bribery, corruption or receipt of 
monies derived from money laundering activities.

 The ABC & AML Manual was approved by the Board who 
is committed to ensuring that ethical business practices 
are being adhered to and that the Company has put in 
place adequate controls to mitigate the risk of bribery and 
corruption. Business integrity is also recognised as one of  
the main pillars of HRC’s General Business Principles.
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 The ABC & AML Manual covers areas such as:

a. The contracting and procurement process

b. Offering and receiving gifts and hospitality

c. Conflicts of interest

d. Facilitation payments

e. Funding social investment, donation and sponsorship

f. Political payments and activities

g. Recruitment

 The ABC & AML Manual and its contents have been 
communicated to all employees via memorandum, HRC’s 
intranet and in-house training. The same has also been 
communicated to all vendors, suppliers, contractors and 
any third parties that have business dealings with HRC 
through supplier summits and awareness programmes  
held annually. Supplier summits in 2019 were held on  
11 July 2019 and 6 November 2019 respectively.

 Employees and parties having business dealings with HRC 
have also been requested to sign a declaration of their 
commitment to comply with the ABC & AML Manual and to 
disclose any conflict of interest via HRC’s annual declaration 
process. Business associates and senior management are 
subject to integrity due diligence checks from time to time.

 The ABC & AML Manual and HRC’s General Business 
Principles are accessible to the public on HRC’s corporate 
website.

2. BUSINESS INTEGRITY ACTIvITIES

 In year 2019, various activities were organised to strengthen 
the culture of business integrity within the Company.

 During the first week of September 2019, the Risk & 
Integrity unit organised the annual Business Integrity Week 
comprising of awareness trainings, exhibitions, business 
integrity forums, a MACC talk and exciting activities to  
build-up the business integrity culture within the company. 
The event was attended by Directors, employees and 
selected business partners. 

INTERNAL AUDIT

The Board recognises that the internal audit function is an  
integral component of the governance process. The Chief  
Internal Auditor reports directly to the BAC Chair. The Internal 
Audit Department supports the BAC by providing an independent 
and objective assurance designed to add value and improve 
HRC’s operations. 

In 2019, the following reviews were performed and reported  
to the BAC:

a. Audit engagements were carried out based on the annual 
internal audit plan approved by the BAC. The auditors assessed 
the audit areas with regard to risk exposures, compliance 
with approved policies and procedures and relevant laws and 
regulations. For any significant gaps identified, the auditors 
provided recommendations to Management to improve the 
effectiveness of controls where applicable.

b. Certification / recertification audits were carried out by: 

•	 SIRIM Berhad for ISO 9001: 2015 Quality Management 
Systems, ISO 14001: 2015 Environmental Management 
Systems, ISO 45001: 2018 Occupational Health and 
Safety Management Systems, ISO / IEC 27001: 2013 
Information Security Management Systems,  
ISO 37001: 2016 Anti-Bribery Management Systems; and 

•	 The Department of Standards Malaysia for ISO / IEC 
17025: 2017 Accreditation for Testing and Calibration 
Laboratories.

The reviews concluded that HRC conformed to the requirements 
of the management systems.

REvIEW OF THIS STATEmENT
As required by Paragraph 15.23 of the MMLR, the External 
Auditors have reviewed this Statement on Risk Management and 
Internal Control. Their limited assurance review was performed 
in accordance with Audit and Assurance Practice Guide  
(AAPG) 3 issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants.  
AAPG 3 does not require the External Auditors to form an opinion 
on the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and 
internal control systems of the Company.

CONCLUSION
The Board has received assurance from the CEO and the DCEO 
that HRC’s financial records are properly maintained and that 
its risk management and internal control system is operating 
adequately and effectively in addressing the material risks within 
the Company in its current business environment.

The Board has reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of the 
risk management and internal control system of the Company 
and is of the view that they are sound and provide a reasonable 
level of confidence, but not absolute assurance, that HRC is not 
affected by any event that cannot be reasonably foreseen.

In the year under review, the Board is not aware of any significant 
control failure or weakness that would have resulted in material 
losses, contingencies or uncertainties requiring separate disclosure 
in this Annual Report.

This Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control is 
approved by the Board on 8 May 2020.
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COmPOSITION AND ATTENDANCE
HRC’s Board Audit Committee (BAC) comprises four (4) 
members with a diverse mix of skills, knowledge, experience 
and perspectives in the areas of accounting, corporate finance, 
banking, the oil and gas industry, strategy and corporate 
governance, which enables the BAC to discharge its duties.  

The BAC consists solely of independent non-executive 
directors (NEDs). All of the independent NEDs satisfied 
the test of independence under Bursa Malaysia Securities  
Berhad’s Main Market Listing Requirements (MMLR). The BAC  
meets the requirements of paragraph 15.09(1)(a) and (b) of  
the MMLR and Practice 8.4 under Principle B of the  
Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance (MCCG). The BAC 
members’ attendance records are outlined on page 147 of this  
Annual Report.

The BAC Chairman, Alan Hamzah Sendut, is a Chartered 
Accountant of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England 
and Wales (1986) and Malaysian Institute of Accountants  
(1987). He is also a Chartered Audit Committee Director,  
Institute of Internal Auditors Malaysia (2018). Accordingly,  
HRC complies with paragraph 15.09(1)(c)(i) of MMLR.

The Board reviews the terms of office of the BAC members and 
assesses the performance of the BAC and its members through 
an annual Board Committee effectiveness evaluation. The 
Board was satisfied that the BAC and its members discharged  
their functions, duties and responsibilities in accordance with  
the BAC’s Terms of Reference (TOR) which is accessible for 
reference on the Company’s website at: www.hrc.com.my. The 
TOR of the BAC was also reviewed and amended in August 2019.

mEETINGS
The BAC held six (6) meetings during the financial year ended  
31 December 2019.

The Chief Executive Officer (CEO), Deputy Chief Executive  
Officer (DCEO) and Chief Financial Officer (CFO) were invited 
to all BAC meetings to facilitate direct communication as well 
as to provide clarification on audit issues and the Company’s 
operations. The Chief Internal Auditor (CIA) attended all BAC 
meetings to table the respective Internal Audit (IA) reports.  
The relevant responsible Management members were invited to 
brief the BAC on specific issues arising from the audit reports or 
on any matters of interest.

As part of the BAC’s efforts to ensure the reliability of 
HRC’s quarterly financial statements and compliance with 
applicable Financial Reporting Standards, the external auditors, 
PricewaterhouseCoopers PLT (External Auditors or PwC)  
were engaged to conduct a limited review of HRC’s quarterly 
financial statements before these were presented to the BAC 
for review and recommendation for the Board’s approval  
and adoption.

PwC briefed the BAC on the outcome of the statutory audit for 
the financial year ended 31 December 2019, significant auditing 
and accounting matters, internal control recommendations and 
developments in relevant laws and regulations.

The BAC held its independent meetings with PwC on  
22 February 2019 and 20 March 2020 without the presence  
of Management to discuss and provide feedback on the 
Company’s audit for the financial year ended 31 December 
2018 and 2019 respectively, the level of cooperation received 
from Management, any specific audit concerns and the quality 
of financial reporting.

Minutes of each BAC meeting were recorded and tabled 
for confirmation at the next following BAC meeting and  
subsequently presented to the Board for notation. In 2019, the 
BAC Chair presented to the Board the BAC’s recommendations 
to approve the annual and quarterly financial statements.  
The BAC Chair also conveyed to the Board, matters of significant 
concern as and when raised by the external auditors or internal 
auditors in the respective quarterly presentations.

The Board of Directors (Board) of Hengyuan Refining Company Berhad (Company or HRC) 
presents the Audit Committee Report which provides insights into the manner in which  
the Board Audit Committee discharged its functions in 2019.
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ACTIvITIES OF THE BAC

The BAC holds the overall responsibility for monitoring HRC’s 
management of financial risk processes, accounting and  
financial reporting practices and ensuring the adequacy and 
effectiveness of internal controls.  

The BAC’s key activities for the financial year ended  
31 December 2019 comprised the following: 

1. Financial Reporting

 In overseeing HRC’s financial reporting, the BAC reviewed 
the quarterly financial statements for the fourth quarter  
of 2018 and the annual audited financial statements for 
2018 at its meetings on 22 February 2019 and 29 March 
2019, respectively. 

 The quarterly financial statements for the first, second and 
third quarters of 2019, which were prepared in compliance 
with the Malaysian Financial Reporting Standard (MFRS) 
134 Interim Financial Reporting, International Accounting 
Standard (IAS) 34 Interim Financial Reporting and paragraph 
9.22, including Appendix 9B of the MMLR, were reviewed 
at the BAC meetings on 21 May 2019, 27 August 2019 and  
21 November 2019, respectively. 

 On 17 February 2020 and 20 March 2020, the BAC reviewed 
the quarterly financial statements for the fourth quarter  
of 2019 and the annual audited financial statements for 
2019 respectively.

 The BAC’s recommendations were presented for approvals 
at the subsequent Board meetings.

2. External Audit

 The BAC reviewed PwC’s audit plan and scope for the 
financial year ended 2019 and the payment of auditors’ 
statutory and non-audit fees.

 Results of PwC’s annual audit and audit findings together 
with recommendations and Management’s response were 
reviewed by the BAC. Matters included in the Management 
representation letter were also reviewed by the BAC.

 In addition to the review of the annual audit of HRC’s 
financial statements, the External Auditors were engaged 
to conduct reviews of the quarterly financial results during 
2019 in accordance with the International Standard on 
Review Engagements 2410 “Review of Interim Financial 
Information Performed by the Independent Auditor of the 
Entity” which were reported and reviewed by the BAC.

 

 On 17 February 2020, the CIA reported that non-audit fees 
incurred in 2019 amounted to RM33,932, constituting 
approximately 6 per cent of the total remuneration of 
RM555,682 to the External Auditors for 2019.

 The BAC is satisfied with the objectivity and independence 
of PwC, whose appointment was approved by shareholders 
of the Company at HRC’s 60th Annual General Meeting.

3. Internal Audit 

 The IA team conducted the audit work as per the 2019 
Annual Audit Plan approved by the BAC on 19 November 
2018.

 In year 2019, the internal audit function of HRC is monitored 
by the BAC and consists of two segments:

(1) An Internal Audit Department (IAD), which acts as an 
independent evaluating body to assist and provide 
assurance to the Board, the BAC and Management 
of HRC. The IAD is headed by the CIA who reports 
functionally to the Chair of the BAC and administratively 
to the DCEO. There are two (2) Internal Auditors who 
report to the CIA. The internal auditors have sufficient 
mix of knowledge, skills and competencies to execute 
the audit plan; and

(2) HRC’s Site Internal Assurance (SIA), which comprises 
41 trained and / or ISO certified site internal auditors 
from various departments of HRC. The SIA carries out 
the site internal audits and process effectiveness of 
HRC and reports to the Quality & Health, Security,  
Safety and Environment Manager. All SIA internal audit 
reports are reviewed by the CIA before finalisation.

 Moving forward, in year 2020, the SIA function shall be 
fully under the monitoring of the CEO and the BAC shall no 
longer be receiving the quarterly updates on SIA activities 
directly. 

 Urgent issues arising from the internal audit processes are 
highlighted to the Management promptly.

 The total costs incurred by the internal audit function 
of the Company for the financial year under review was 
RM683,319.
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4. HRC Assurance Plan 2019

 The BAC oversaw HRC’s approved internal audit and 
assurance plan for the year 2019 which consisted of nine 
(9) regulatory and statutory audits, 19 internal audits and 
seven (7) process effectiveness reviews to ensure business 
processes and regulatory compliance. These are:

Name of Audit / Review

Regulatory / Statutory Audits

Financial Audit and Interim Financial Reviews by External Auditor

ISO 9001 Surveillance Audit

ISO 14001 Surveillance Audit

ISO 45001 Surveillance Audit

ISO 27001 Surveillance Audit

ISO 37001 (Stage 1) Certification

ISO 37001 (Stage 2) Certification

ISO 17025 Accreditation and Migration to 2017 Revision

International Ships and Port Facility Security

Internal Audits

Green House Gas Verification

HRC Regulatory Compliance Process

Risk Management Process

Warehousing and Inventory Management Processes

Scrap Management

Loading Gantry Management

Human Resources Processes

Finance and Treasury Processes 

Asset Management 

Custody Transfer Meter and Mass balance

FAIR – Pressurized Equipment Integrity

ISO 9001

ISO 14001

ISO 45001

ISO 17025

ISO 27001

ISO 37001

Causal Learning 

Ensure Plan Delivery 

Name of Audit / Review

Process Effectiveness Reviews

Ensure Safe Production

Reliability Centered Maintenance

Pressurized Equipment Integrity

Emergency Response and Preparedness

Mitigate Threats to Availability

Hazard Effect Management Process

Management of Change

 The progress of the Internal Audit and Assurance Plan 2019 
and its audits were reported to the Board on a quarterly 
basis.

 From 1 January to 26 November 2019, the BAC received four 
(4) whistleblowing disclosures via various whistleblowing 
channels and deliberated reports prepared by the CIA on 
two (2) of the disclosures. Reports on the two (2) remaining 
disclosures were presented and deliberated at the Board 
Whistleblowing Committee (BWC) meeting.

 Where appropriate, the BAC directed Management to rectify 
and improve internal control processes based on the auditors’ 
recommendations and suggestions for improvement based 
on severity of findings and ratings of audits.

5. Related Party Transactions

 In the year 2019, the BAC reviewed the Company’s  
Circular to Shareholders in relation to the proposed 
new shareholders’ mandate for recurrent related party 
transactions for the period from 28 May 2019 to the  
61st Annual General Meeting of the Company.

 The BAC also oversaw the Company’s compliance with 
MMLR in respect of related party transactions and 
recurrent related party transactions. Quarterly reports on 
detailed related party transactions and recurrent related 
party transactions were prepared by the Management 
and reviewed by the CIA before being presented and  
deliberated by the BAC. In addition, the BAC ensured  
that the necessary announcements were made to Bursa 
Malaysia Securities Berhad accordingly. 
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(c) The review of reports on 2018 crude, margin and foreign 
exchange (FX) hedging activities and outcome;

(d) The Company’s cash forecast and financing planning;

(e) The solvency outlook of the Company in the next  
12 months and dividend proposal;

(f) The review of the revised Hedging Policy, which was 
subsequently approved by the Board on 29 March 2019;

(g) The review of the External Auditor Assessment policy, 
which was subsequently approved by the Board on  
29 March 2019;

(h) The review of the revised Manual of Authorities, which 
was subsequently approved by the Board on 29 March 
2019;

(i) The basis and invoicing analysis of the Recurrent Related 
Party Transactions;

(j) The review of the final report of an independent 
management review performed by Malaysia Hengyuan 
International Limited; and

(k) HRC’s information technology framework, initiatives and 
programmes for improving the efficiency, security and 
robustness and risk management actions taken against 
cyber or digital threats.

6. Whistleblowing Disclosures

 Prior to November 2019, the BAC was responsible for 
overseeing the implementation of the Whistleblowing  
Policy (Policy). Complaints received via whistleblowing 
channels were reported by the CIA for the BAC’s notation 
on a quarterly basis. 

 However, with the establishment of the BWC on 27 November 
2019, the responsibility to oversee and implement the Policy 
had been handed over to the BWC and all complaints shall 
be received directly by the BWC members independently  
via various whistleblowing channels. This was done to assist 
the Board to further strengthen the Company’s corporate 
governance culture by ensuring the highest standards of 
integrity, openness and accountability in the conduct of its 
businesses and operations are met.

7. Others

 Other matters discussed by the BAC during its meetings 
include:

(a) The review of 2018 impairment assumptions and tests;

(b) The review of the BAC Report and the Statement on Risk 
Management and Internal Control for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2018 during the BAC’s meeting 
on 29 March 2019 for the purpose of inclusion in the 
Company’s 2018 Annual Report;
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The Directors hereby submit their report to the members together with the audited financial statements of the Company for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Company consist of refining and manufacturing of petroleum products. There has been no significant 
change in these activities during the financial year.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The results of the operations of the Company for the financial year were as follows:
  RM’000

Profit for the financial year 34,984

DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for the financial year ended 31 December 2019.

RESERVES AND PROVISIONS 

All material transfers to or from reserves and provisions during the financial year are shown in the financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors in office during the financial year and during the period from the end of the financial year to the date of this report are:

Wang, YouDe

Wang, ZongQuan

Alan Hamzah Sendut

Fauziah binti Hisham

Liang Kok Siang

Surinderdeep Singh Mohindar Singh (appointed on 23 February 2019)

Lim Tau Kien (resigned on 22 February 2019)

DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS

During and at the end of the financial year, no arrangements subsisted to which the Company is a party, being arrangements with the 
object or objects of enabling Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, 
the Company or any other body corporate.

Since the end of the previous financial year, no Director of the Company has received or become entitled to receive any benefit 
(other than benefits disclosed as Directors’ remuneration in Note 12 to the financial statements) by reason of a contract made by the 
Company or a related corporation with the Director or with a firm of which the Director is a member, or with a company in which the 
Director has a substantial financial interest.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND DEBENTURE

According to the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings required to be kept under Section 59 of the Companies Act 2016, none of the 
Directors who held office at the end of the financial year held any shares or debentures in the Company or its holding company during 
the financial year.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Details of Directors’ remuneration are set out in Note 12 to the financial statements.

INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE COSTS

Indemnity insurance for Directors and Officers of the Company during the financial year amounted to RM57,000.

STATUTORY INFORMATION ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Before the financial statements were prepared, the Directors took reasonable steps:

(a) to ascertain that proper action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the making of provision for 
doubtful debts and satisfied themselves that there were no known bad debts and that adequate provision had been made for 
doubtful debts; and

(b) to ensure that any current assets which were unlikely to be realised in the ordinary course of business including the values of 
current assets as shown in the accounting records of the Company had been written down to an amount which the current 
assets might be expected so to realise.

At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances:

(a) which would render the amount written off for bad debts or the amount of the provision for doubtful debts inadequate to any 
substantial extent; or

(b) which would render the values attributed to current assets in the financial statements of the Company misleading; or

(c) which have arisen which would render adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities of the Company 
misleading or inappropriate.

No contingent or other liability has become enforceable or is likely to become enforceable within the period of twelve months after 
the end of the financial year which, in the opinion of the Directors, will or may substantially affect the ability of the Company to meet 
its obligations when they fall due.

At the date of this report, there does not exist:

(a) any charge on the assets of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial year which secures the liability of any 
other person except as disclosed in Note 27 to the financial statements; and

(b) any contingent liability which has arisen since the end of the financial year.

At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances not otherwise dealt with in this report or the financial 
statements of the Company, which would render any amount stated in the financial statements misleading.

In the opinion of the Directors:

(a) the results of the Company’s operations during the financial year were not substantially affected by any item, transaction or 
event of a material and unusual nature except as disclosed in Note 3 to the financial statements; and

(b) there has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report any item, transaction or event 
of a material and unusual nature likely to affect substantially the results of the operations of the Company for the financial year 
in which this report is made.  
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IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANIES  

The Directors regard Malaysia Hengyuan International Limited (“MHIL”), a company incorporated in Labuan, Malaysia and Shandong 
Hengyuan Petrochemical Group Company Limited, a company incorporated in China, as the Company’s immediate and ultimate 
holding companies respectively.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

Details of auditors’ remuneration are set out in Note 9 to the financial statements.

AUDITORS

The auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers PLT (LLP0014401-LCA & AF 1146), have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment 
as auditors.

This report was approved by the Board of Directors on 8 May 2020. Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors:

WANG, YOUDE ALAN HAMZAH SENDUT
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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We, Wang, YouDe and Alan Hamzah Sendut, two of the Directors of Hengyuan Refining Company Berhad, do hereby state that, in 
the opinion of the Directors, the accompanying financial statements set out on pages 84 to 140 are drawn up so as to give a true  
and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2019 and financial performance of the Company for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2019 in accordance with the Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial 
Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the Directors dated 8 May 2020.

WANG, YOUDE ALAN HAMZAH SENDUT
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR

STATEMENT BY DIRECTORS
PURSUANT TO SECTION 251(2) OF THE COMPANIES ACT 2016
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I, Quek Ting Chin, the officer primarily responsible for the financial management of Hengyuan Refining Company Berhad, do solemnly 
and sincerely declare that the financial statements set out on pages 84 to 140 are, to the best of my knowledge and belief, correct  
and I make this solemn declaration conscientiously believing the same to be true, and by virtue of the provisions of the Statutory  
Declarations Act, 1960.

QUEK TING CHIN
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

Subscribed and solemnly declared by the abovenamed at Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia, on 8 May 2020.

Before me:

COMMISSIONER FOR OATHS

STATUTORY DECLARATION
PURSUANT TO SECTION 251(1) OF THE COMPANIES ACT 2016
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Our opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements of Hengyuan Refining Company Berhad (“the Company”) give a true and fair view of the 
financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2019, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the financial 
year then ended in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and the 
requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia.

What we have audited

We have audited the financial statements of the Company, which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 
2019, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the financial  
year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, as set out on  
pages 84 to 140.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on Auditing.  
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements” section of our report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Independence and other ethical responsibilities

We are independent of the Company in accordance with the By-Laws (on Professional Ethics, Conduct and Practice) of the Malaysian 
Institute of Accountants (“By-Laws”) and the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the By-Laws and the  
IESBA Code.

Our audit approach

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the financial statements 
of the Company. In particular, we considered where the Directors made subjective judgements; for example, in respect of significant 
accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our 
audits, we also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including among other matters, consideration of 
whether there was evidence of bias that represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud.

We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide an opinion on the financial statements 
as a whole, taking into account the structure of the Company, the accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which the 
Company operates.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF HENGYUAN REFINING COMPANY BERHAD
(INCORPORATED IN MALAYSIA) (COMPANY NO. 3926 U)
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial 
statements of the Company for the current financial year. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial 
statements of the Company as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on  
these matters.  

Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matters

Reversal of impairment of refinery assets and reversal of 
deferred tax asset

Refer to Note 2 Significant accounting policies: Note 2.3 
- Property, plant and equipment, Note 2.5 - Prepaid lease 
payments, Note 2.6 - Intangible assets, Note 2.7 - Impairment 
of non-financial assets, Note 2.20 - Leases, Note 2.22 - Current 
and Deferred Income Tax, Note 3 Critical accounting estimates 
and judgements: (a) reversal of impairment of refinery assets, 
(b) reversal of deferred tax assets, Note 13 - Property, plant 
and equipment, Note 14 - Prepaid lease payments, Note 15 - 
Intangible assets, Note 16 - Leases, Note 28 - Deferred Taxation.

As at 31 December 2019, the carrying amount of the Company’s 
property, plant and equipment, prepaid lease payments, 
intangible assets and right-of-use assets (collectively cash-
generating-units “CGU” or refinery assets) is RM1.96 billion, net 
of accumulated impairment losses of RM220.6 million and the 
deferred tax liability is RM141.2 million.  

We focused on these areas considering the material amount 
involved and the significant judgements and estimates made 
by the Directors in determining the fair value less costs to sell 
(“FVLCTS”) of the refinery assets for its impairment assessment 
and the projections of taxable profits to assess the extent of 
utilisation of unutilised tax losses.

The key assumptions considered in the FVLCTS calculation 
include:

•	 the	 projected	 refining	 margins	 which	 fluctuates	 based	 on	
the oil price, Malaysian and global economic outlook;

•	 the	 planned	 capital	 expenditure	 to	 be	 incurred	 to	 ensure	
compliance with changes in regulations for product 
specifications; and

•	 the	discount	rate	based	on	the	Company’s	weighted	average	
cost of capital.

We performed the following audit procedures on the FVLCTS 
calculation which was approved by the Board of Directors:

•	 Discussed	 with	 the	 Board	 Audit	 Committee	 members	 and	
the senior management on the FVLCTS calculation to 
understand the key assumptions which formed the basis of 
the recoverable amount;

•	 Evaluated	 management’s	 cash	 flow	 projections	 and	 the	
process by which they were developed to ensure key inputs 
are in line with financial budgets approved by the Board of 
Directors;

•	 Corroborated	supporting	evidence	underlying	the	projected	
refining margins provided by management to market data 
and through inquiry of management on the basis used;

•	 Agreed	 the	 capital	 expenditure	 for	 key	 projects	 in	 the	
projections to the Board of Directors final investment decision 
approval and project plans and enquired with relevant 
management on the supporting and basis of deriving the 
cost estimates;

•	 Checked	the	reasonableness	of	the	discount	rate	used	with	
the assistance of our valuation experts; and

•	 Checked	 sensitivity	 analysis	 prepared	 by	 management	 on	
these key assumptions used in the impairment model.

We performed the following audit procedures on the projections 
of taxable profits:

•	 Checked	 that	 the	 projections	 of	 taxable	 profits	 are	
determined based on the same assumptions used in the 
FVLCTS calculation; and

•	 Checked	the	amount	of	tax	 losses	estimated	to	be	utilised	
in YA2020 to YA2025 are included in the computation of 
deferred tax asset recognised as at 31 December 2019.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
TO THE MEMBERS OF HENGYUAN REFINING COMPANY BERHAD 
(INCORPORATED IN MALAYSIA) (COMPANY NO. 3926 U)
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Key audit matters (continued)

Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matters

Reversal of impairment of refinery assets and reversal of 
deferred tax asset (continued)

Based on the FVLCTS computed, the Directors have reversed  
the impairment provision of RM125.5 million during the  
financial year. 

The Directors have also reversed RM45.2 million of deferred  
tax asset relating to unutilised tax losses based on the revision  
in the projected taxable profits.

Based on the procedures performed, we did not find any material 
exception to the Directors’ view on the partial reversal of the 
impairment provision and the partial reversal of the deferred  
tax asset relating to unutilised tax losses which are not probable 
of realisation.

Change in the Company’s functional currency from United 
States Dollar (“USD”) to Ringgit Malaysia (“RM”)

Refer to Note 2 Significant accounting policies: Note 2.2 - 
Foreign currencies (a) Functional and presentation currency, 
Note 3 Critical accounting estimates and judgements: (c) change 
in functional currency.

The Company changed its functional currency from USD to RM 
during the quarter ended 31 December 2019.

Management together with the Board of Directors had 
performed a reassessment of the Company’s functional 
currency and had determined that RM more faithfully represent 
the economic effects of the underlying transactions, events and 
conditions that the Company is subject to.

We focused on this area due to the significant judgement made 
by the Company in accounting for the matter.

We performed the following audit procedures:

•	 Checked	 that	 Board	 of	 Directors	 has	 approved	 the	 
accounting paper for the change of functional currency from 
USD to RM during the quarter ended 31 December 2019;

•	 Discussed	 with	 the	 Board	 Audit	 Committee	 members	 and	
senior management on the factors and events which have 
arisen resulting in a change in the Company’s functional 
currency to RM;

•	 Checked	 prior	 and	 current	 year	 information	 on	 locally	
sourced crude oil purchases made and operating expenses 
incurred by the Company to corroborate management’s 
assessment;

•	 Checked	 that	 the	 Board	 of	 Directors	 has	 approved	 the	
Company’s business plan prepared in RM; and

•	 Checked	 that	 the	 Company	 has	 entered	 into	 RM	
denominated financing facility during the year.

Based on the procedures performed, we did not find any 
material exceptions to the Directors’ view on the change in the 
functional currency of the Company from USD to RM.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
TO THE MEMBERS OF HENGYUAN REFINING COMPANY BERHAD 
(INCORPORATED IN MALAYSIA) (COMPANY NO. 3926 U)

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Information other than the financial statements and auditors’ report thereon

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Directors’ Report and 
Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control, which we obtained prior to the date of this auditors’ report, and other sections 
in the 2019 Annual Report, which is expected to be made available to us after that date. Other information does not include the 
financial statements of the Company and our auditors’ report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements of the Company does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial statements of the Company, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements of the Company or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of this auditors’ report,  
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to 
report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the financial statements

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements of the Company that give a true and  
fair view in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and the  
requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia. The Directors are also responsible for such internal control as the Directors 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements of the Company that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements of the Company, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as 
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
the Directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements of the Company as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with approved standards on auditing in 
Malaysia and International Standards on Auditing will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on Auditing, we 
exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

(a)  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements of the Company, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate  
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for  
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control.

(b) Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in  
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.



83HENGYUAN REFINING COMPANY BERHAD 

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on Auditing, we 
exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: (continued)

(c) Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related  
disclosures made by the Directors. 

(d) Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit  
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial statements of the Company or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

(e) Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements of the Company, including the disclosures, 
and whether the financial statements of the Company represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with the Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant  
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, 
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,  
and where applicable, related safeguards.

 From the matters communicated with the Directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of  
the financial statements of the Company for the current financial year and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these 
matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing  
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

OTHER MATTERS

This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 266 of the Companies Act 2016  
in Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any other person for the content of this report.

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS PLT PAULINE HO
LLP0014401-LCA & AF 1146 02684/11/2021 J
Chartered Accountants Chartered Accountant

Kuala Lumpur
8 May 2020
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  Note 2019 2018
   RM’000 RM’000

Revenue 6 12,637,317 11,241,237
Purchases  (12,103,110) (10,847,829)

   534,207 393,408

Other income 7 2,828 17,776
Manufacturing expenses  (216,660) (213,860)
Administrative expenses  (71,225) (48,122)
Depreciation and amortisation  (144,403) (186,134)
Other operating losses  (61,124) (8,355)
Finance cost 8 (22,516) (54,311)
Reversal of impairment  125,513 75,152

Profit/(loss) before taxation 9 146,620 (24,446)
Taxation 10 (111,636) 55,288

Profit for the financial year  34,984 30,842

Other comprehensive (expense)/income:

Items that will be reclassified to profit or loss:
Cash flow hedge reserve-net fair value (loss)/gain on derivatives (net of tax)  (21,166) 198,239

Cost of hedging reserve (net of tax)  (1,686) (32,373)

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:
Foreign currency translation differences  (21,368) 42,257

   (44,220) 208,123

Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the financial year  (9,236) 238,965

Earnings per unit of share (sen)-basic 11 12 10

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

The accompanying notes to the financial statements form an integral part of these financial statements.
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  Note 2019 2018
   RM’000 RM’000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 13 1,919,988 1,280,770
Prepaid lease payments 14 - 1,643
Intangible assets 15 14,070 23,032
Right-of-use assets 16 30,843 -
Derivative financial assets 20 5,087 136,852

   1,969,988 1,442,297

CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories 17 1,491,087 1,218,160
Trade receivables 18 713,863 915,840
Amounts due from immediate holding company 26 - 7,745
Other receivables and prepayments 19 18,510 228,343
Tax recoverable  2,208 1,627
Derivative financial assets 20 321,073 151,439
Bank balances 21 1,135,366 204,880

   3,682,107 2,728,034

TOTAL ASSETS  5,652,095 4,170,331

CAPITAL AND RESERVES ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS  
OF THE COMPANY 

Share capital  22 300,000 300,000
Retained earnings 23 1,698,944 1,665,040
Cash flow hedge reserve 24 175,346 196,512
Cost of hedging reserve 24 (34,059) (32,373)
Exchange translation reserve 24 (128,888) (107,520)

   2,011,343 2,021,659

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables  25 1,913,426 920,287
Amounts due to related companies 26 23,749 24,982
Lease liabilities 16 7,336 -
Derivative financial liabilities 20 136,086 8,250
Borrowings 27 796,054 555,095

   2,876,651 1,508,614

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Derivative financial liabilities 20 13,599 6,329
Lease liabilities 16 23,421 -
Borrowings 27 585,859 595,537
Deferred tax liabilities 28 141,222 38,192

   764,101 640,058

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  5,652,095 4,170,331

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

The accompanying notes to the financial statements form an integral part of these financial statements.
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  Issued and fully 
 paid ordinary 
 shares  Non-distributable  Distributable  

   Number  Cost of Exchange Cash
   of Nominal hedging translation flow hedge Retained Total
   shares      value reserve     reserve reserve earnings equity
   ‘000  RM’000  RM’000 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000

At 1 January 2019  
- as previously stated  300,000 300,000 (32,373) (107,520) 196,512 1,665,040 2,021,659
- effects of transitioning to  

MFRS 16 (Note 35)  - - - - - (1,080) (1,080)

- as restated  300,000 300,000 (32,373) (107,520) 196,512 1,663,960 2,020,579

Net profit for the financial year  - - - - - 34,984 34,984
Other comprehensive expense 
  for the financial year  - - (1,686) (21,368) (21,166) - (44,220)

Total comprehensive (expense)/ 
income for the financial year  - - (1,686) (21,368) (21,166) 34,984 (9,236)

At 31 December 2019  300,000 300,000 (34,059) (128,888) 175,346 1,698,944 2,011,343

At 1 January 2018  300,000 300,000 - (149,777) (1,727) 1,640,198 1,788,694

Net profit for the financial year  - - - - - 30,842 30,842
Other comprehensive (expense)/ 

income for the financial year  - - (32,373) 42,257 198,239 - 208,123

Total comprehensive (expense)/ 
income for the financial year  - - (32,373) 42,257 198,239 30,842 238,965

Transaction with owners
Dividends paid  - - - - - (6,000) (6,000)

Total transaction with owners  - - - - - (6,000) (6,000)

At 31 December 2018  300,000 300,000 (32,373) (107,520) 196,512 1,665,040 2,021,659

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

The accompanying notes to the financial statements form an integral part of these financial statements.
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  Note 2019 2018
   RM’000 RM’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit/(loss) before taxation  146,620 (24,446)

Adjustments for: 
Interest expense  22,350 39,169 
Interest income  (2,262) (16,623) 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  121,849 169,484 
Depreciation of right-of-use assets  8,131 - 
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments  18 16 
Amortisation of intangible assets  14,405 16,634 
Write off of property, plant and equipment  2,879 - 
Allowance for inventories, net  369 - 
Reversal of impairment of receivables  - (48) 
Amortisation of term loan commitment fees  166 15,142

 Gain on modification of lease contract  (533) -
 Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  (33) -
 Net fair value loss/(gain) on derivative 

 financial instruments - unrealised  48,590 (26,847) 
Net foreign exchange (gain)/loss - unrealised  (1,914) 13,384 
Reversal of impairment  (125,513) (75,152)

Operating profit before changes in working capital   235,122 110,713

Changes in working capital:
   Inventories  (263,079) (117,077) 

Trade, other receivables and amounts receivable  
 from immediate holding company  398,641 116,645 
Trade, other payables and amounts due to 
 related companies  945,172 254,580 

Cash generated from operations   1,315,856 364,861 
Interest received  2,262 16,623 
Net tax paid  (1,135) (1,561)

Net cash flows generated from operating activities  1,316,983 379,923

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Property, plant and equipment 
- additions  (568,328) (532,474)

Intangible assets  
- additions   (5,588) (4,690)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  33 -

Net cash flows used in investing activities  (573,883) (537,164)

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 (continued)

  Note 2019 2018
   RM’000 RM’000

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Repayment of borrowings  (4,274,544) (2,239,076)
Proceeds from borrowings  4,518,922 2,145,825
Interest paid  (49,961) (43,414)
Repayment of principal portion of lease liabilities  (9,025) -
Dividends paid  - (6,000)
Restricted cash for term loan facilities  (22,793) (74,878)
Refund of security deposit placed 
  with a licensed bank for trade facilities  - 19,897 

Net cash flows generated from/(used in) financing activities  162,599 (197,646)

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH  
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  905,699 (354,887)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE 
BEGINNING OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR  128,033 492,886

EFFECTS OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES  3,056 (9,966)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE 
END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR 21 1,036,788 128,033

During the financial year ended 31 December 2019, the Company acquired property, plant and equipment with an aggregate cost of 
RM659,212,000 (2018: RM610,007,000). Cash payments of RM568,328,000 (2018: RM532,474,000) were made for acquisitions of 
property, plant and equipment. The balance unpaid at the financial year end of RM159,372,000 (2018: RM97,042,000) is included 
within accruals for capital expenditure as disclosed in Note 25.

The Company also acquired intangible assets with an aggregate cost of RM5,588,000 (2018: RM843,000) during the financial year, 
for which cash payments of RM5,588,000 (2018: RM4,690,000) were made.

The accompanying notes to the financial statements form an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

1 GENERAL INFORMATION

 The principal activities of the Company consist of refining and manufacturing of petroleum products. There has been no 
significant change in these activities during the financial year. 

 The Company is a public limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia, and is listed on the Main Market of 
the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Malaysia”).

 The Company regards Malaysia Hengyuan International Limited (“MHIL”), a company incorporated in Labuan, Malaysia and 
Shandong Hengyuan Petrochemical Group Company Limited, a company incorporated in China, as its immediate and ultimate 
holding companies respectively.

 The address of the registered office of the Company is: 

  Unit 30-01, Level 30
 Tower A, Vertical Business Suite
 Avenue 3, Bangsar South
 No. 8, Jalan Kerinchi
 59200 Kuala Lumpur

 The address of the principal place of business of the Company is:

 Batu 1, Jalan Pantai
 71000 Port Dickson
 Negeri Sembilan 

2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1  BASIS OF PREPARATION

 The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with the Malaysian Financial Reporting 
Standards (“MFRS”), International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 2016  
in Malaysia.

 The financial statements of the Company have been prepared under the historical cost convention, unless otherwise 
indicated in the summary of significant accounting policies.

 All values are rounded to the nearest thousand (“RM’000”) except when otherwise indicated.

 The preparation of financial statements in conformity with MFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities 
at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reported period.  
It also requires Directors to exercise their judgement in the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies. 
Although these estimates and judgement are based on the Directors’ best knowledge of current events and actions, actual 
results may differ. As at 31 December 2019, the areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas 
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in Note 3.
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FINANCIAL REPORTS

2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1  BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(a) Standards, amendments to published standards and interpretations to existing standards that are 
effective to the Company

 The amendments and improvements to published standards that are effective for the Company’s financial year 
beginning on 1 January 2019 are as follows:

•	 MFRS	16	“Leases”

•	 Amendments	to	MFRS	112	“Income	Taxes”	(Annual	Improvements	to	MFRS	Standards	2015	–	2017	Cycle)	

•	 Amendments	to	MFRS	123	“Borrowing	Costs”	(Annual	Improvements	to	MFRS	Standards	2015	–	2017	Cycle)

The Company has adopted MFRS 16 for the first time in the 2019 financial statements, which resulted in changes in 
accounting policies. The detailed impact of change in accounting policies are set out in Note 35.

Adoption of the above standards and interpretations did not have any effect on the financial performance or position 
of the Company except for those discussed below:

•	 MFRS	16	“Leases”

 MFRS 16 “Leases” supersedes MFRS 117 “Leases” and related interpretations. Under MFRS 16, a lease is a contract 
that conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

 MFRS 16 eliminates the classification of leases by the lessee as either finance leases or operating leases. MFRS 16 
requires a lessee to recognise a “right-of-use” (“ROU”) of the underlying asset and a lease liability reflecting future 
lease payments for most leases.

 The ROU asset is depreciated in accordance with the principle in MFRS 116 “Property, Plant and Equipment” and 
the lease liability is accreted over time with interest expense recognised in profit or loss. 

 For lessors, MFRS 16 retains most of the requirements in MFRS 117. Lessors continue to classify all leases as either 
operating leases or finance lease and account for them accordingly.

 The Company has reviewed major leasing arrangements in light of the new accounting rules in MFRS 16. The 
standard will affect primarily the accounting for the Company’s operating leases.

 The Company has applied MFRS 16 with the date of initial application of 1 January 2019 by applying the simplified 
retrospective transition method.

 Under the simplified retrospective transition method, the 2018 comparative information was not restated and 
the cumulative effects of initial application of MFRS 16 where the Company is a lessee were recognised as an 
adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings as at 1 January 2019. The comparative information 
continued to be reported under the previous accounting policies governed under MFRS 117 “Leases”.

•	 Amendments	to	MFRS	112	“Income	Taxes”	(Annual	Improvements	to	MFRS	Standards	2015	–	2017	Cycle)

 The amendments clarify that where income tax consequences of dividends on financial instruments classified 
as equity is recognised (either in profit or loss, other comprehensive income or equity) depends on where the 
past transactions that generated distributable profits were recognised. Accordingly, the tax consequences are 
recognised in profit or loss when an entity determines the payments on such instruments are distribution of profits 
(that is, dividends). Tax on dividend should not be recognised in equity merely on the basis that it is related to a 
distribution to owners. Judgement is required in determining whether such payments are distribution of profits 
(i.e. dividends).

 The adoption of the Amendments to MFRS 112 did not have any material impact on the Company as the Company 
did not declare any dividends for financial year ended 31 December 2019.
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2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1  BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(a) Standards, amendments to published standards and interpretations to existing standards that are 
effective to the Company (continued)

•	 Amendments	to	MFRS	123	“Borrowing	Costs”	(Annual	Improvements	to	MFRS	Standards	2015	–	2017	Cycle)

 The amendments clarify that if a specific borrowing remains outstanding after the related qualifying asset is ready 
for its intended use or sale, it becomes part of general borrowings. Since the Company’s current practice is in line 
with these amendments, there is no material impact on its financial statements.

(b) Standards, amendments to published standards and interpretations to existing standards that are 
applicable to the Company but not yet effective

 The Company will apply the new standards, amendments to published standards and interpretations to existing 
standards in the financial year beginning 1 January 2020:

•	 The	Conceptual	Framework	for	Financial	Reporting	(“Framework”)	(Revised	2018)

•	 Amendments	to	MFRS	101	“Definition	of	Material”	

•	 Amendments	to	MFRS	108	“Definition	of	Material”	

•	 IC	Interpretation	23	“Uncertainty	Over	Income	Tax	Treatments”

•	 The	Conceptual	Framework	for	Financial	Reporting	(“Framework”)	(Revised	2018)	

 The Framework was revised with the primary purpose to assist the International Accounting Standards Board  
(“IASB”) to develop International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) that are based on consistent concepts 
and enable preparers to develop consistent accounting policies where an issue is not addressed by an IFRS. The 
Framework is not an IFRS and does not override any IFRSs.

 Key changes to the Framework are as follows:

i) Objective of general purpose financial reporting - clarification that the objective of financial reporting is to 
provide useful information to the users of financial statements for resource allocation decisions and assessment 
of management’s stewardship. 

ii) Qualitative characteristics of useful financial information - reinstatement of the concepts of prudence when 
making judgement of uncertain conditions and “substance over form” concept to ensure faithful representation 
of economic phenomenon. 

iii) Clarification on reporting entity for financial reporting - introduction of new definition of a reporting entity, 
which might be a legal entity or a portion of a legal entity.

iv) Elements of financial statements - the definitions of an asset and a liability have been refined. Guidance in 
determining unit of account for assets and liabilities have been added, by considering the nature of executory 
contracts and substance of contracts. 

v) Recognition and derecognition - the probability threshold for asset or liability recognition has been removed. 
New guidance on de-recognition of asset and liability have been added. 

vi) Measurement - explanation of factors to consider when selecting a measurement basis have been provided. 

vii) Presentation and disclosure - clarification that statement of profit or loss (‘P&L’) is the primary source of 
information about an entity’s financial performance for a reporting period. In principle, recycling of income/
expense included in other comprehensive income to P&L is required if this results in more relevant information 
or a more faithful representation of P&L. 

 The Company does not expect any material changes upon the adoption of the Framework as the key changes are 
largely consistent with the Company’s practice.
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FINANCIAL REPORTS

2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1  BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(b) Standards, amendments to published standards and interpretations to existing standards that are 
applicable to the Company but not yet effective (continued)

•	 Amendments	to	MFRS	101	and	108	–	Definition	of	Material

 The amendments clarify the definition of materiality and use a consistent definition throughout MFRSs and the 
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting.

 The definition of ‘material’ has been revised as “Information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could 
reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial statements make 
on the basis of those financial statements, which provide financial information about a specific reporting entity”.

 The amendments also:

i) clarify that an entity assess materiality in the context of the financial statements as a whole.

ii) explain the concept of obscuring information in the new definition. Information is obscured if it have the effect 
similar as omitting or misstating of that information. For example, material transaction is scattered throughout 
the financial statements, dissimilar items are inappropriately aggregated, or material information is hidden by 
immaterial information.

iii) clarify the meaning of ‘primary users of general purpose financial statements’ to whom those financial 
statements are directed, by defining them as ‘existing and potential investors, lenders and other creditors’ that 
must rely on general purpose financial statements for much of the financial information they need.

 The amendments shall be applied prospectively.

 The Company does not expect any material changes upon the adoption of the these Amendments.

•	 IC	Interpretation	23	“Uncertainty	Over	Income	Tax	Treatments”

 IC Interpretation 23 “Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments” provides guidance on how to recognise and 
measure deferred and current income tax assets and liabilities where there is uncertainty over a tax treatment. 

  If an entity concludes that it is not probable that the tax treatment will be accepted by the tax authority, the effect 
of the tax uncertainty should be included in the period when such determination is made. An entity shall measure 
the effect of uncertainty using the method which best predicts the resolution of the uncertainty.

  IC Interpretation 23 will be applied retrospectively.

 The Company does not expect any effect on its financial statements upon the adoption of IC Interpretation 23 as 
there is no uncertainty over income tax treatments.

2.2  FOREIGN CURRENCIES

 The basis of accounting for foreign currency transactions is as follows:

(a) Functional and presentation currency

 A company’s functional currency should reflect the underlying transactions, events and conditions that are relevant 
to it which includes the currency of the primary economic environment in which a company generates and expends 
cash, the currency in which funds from financing activities are generated and the currency in which receipts from 
operating activities are usually retained. 

 The financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia.
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2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2  FOREIGN CURRENCIES (continued)

 The basis of accounting for foreign currency transactions is as follows: (continued)

(b) Transactions and balances

 Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the 
dates of the transactions or valuation where items are remeasured. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date. Non-monetary items 
denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at historical cost are translated using the exchange rates as at 
the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items denominated in foreign currencies measured at fair value 
are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. Foreign exchange gains 
and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of 
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss.

2.3 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

 Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost or valuation deemed as cost. The cost of an item of property, plant and 
equipment is recognised as an asset if, and only if, it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item 
will flow to the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The cost of an item of property, plant and 
equipment initially recognised includes its purchase price, import duties, non-refundable purchase taxes and any cost that 
is directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in 
the intended manner. Cost also includes borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or 
production of a qualifying asset (refer to accounting policy Note 2.16 on borrowing costs).

 Subsequent to initial recognition, property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses. When significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced in 
intervals, the Company recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives. The carrying amount of any 
component accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when replaced. 

 Freehold land is not depreciated as it has an infinite life.

 All property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis to allocate the cost, or the revalued amounts 
deemed as cost, to their residual values, over their estimated useful lives at the following annual rates: 

 Land improvements and buildings   2.5% - 5.0% 
Plant, machinery and equipment   3.3% - 33.3% 
Motor vehicles        20%

 Depreciation on work-in-progress commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

 Plant, machinery and equipment comprise components of the refinery which are subject to different refurbishment cycle. 
Residual values and useful lives of assets are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

 At the end of each reporting period, the Company assesses whether there is any indication of impairment. If such 
indicators exist, the carrying amount of the asset is assessed and written down immediately to its recoverable amount. 
Refer to accounting policy Note 2.7 on impairment of non-financial assets. An item of property, plant and equipment is 
derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Gains and losses 
on derecognition of the asset is included in the profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised. 

2.4 MAINTENANCE COSTS

 Asset replacement costs incurred by the Company for major scheduled maintenance of the refinery are capitalised as part 
of the refinery assets and depreciated on a straight-line basis over the period until the next major scheduled maintenance. 
All other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss in the financial period they are incurred.  
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2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

 Prepaid lease payments are initially measured at cost. Following the initial recognition, prepaid lease payments are 
measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Refer accounting policy Note 2.7 on 
impairment of non-financial assets. The prepaid lease payments are amortised over their respective lease terms.

2.6 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

 Intangible assets comprise software costs that are acquired by the Company, which have finite useful lives, and are 
measured at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

 Intangible assets are amortised from the date that they are available for use and assessed for impairment whenever there is 
an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. Amortisation is based on the cost of an asset less its residual value. 
Amortisation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the intangible assets.

 The estimated useful lives of intangible assets are between 3 and 10 years. Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual 
values are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted, if appropriate.

 Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

2.7 IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

 The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such 
indication exists, the Company makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount.

 An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell (“FVLCTS”) and its value in use. For the 
purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash 
flows (cash-generating-units (“CGU”)).

 In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset are discounted to their 
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value and the risks specific 
to the asset. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is written down to its 
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.

 An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised impairment 
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has 
been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was 
recognised. If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That increase 
cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been 
recognised previously. Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss.

2.8 FINANCIAL ASSETS

 Financial assets are recognised in the statement of financial position when, and only when, the Company become a party 
to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. 

(a) Classification

 The Company classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:

•	 those	to	be	measured	subsequently	at	fair	value	(either	through	other	comprehensive	income	(“OCI”)	or	through	
profit or loss), and

•	 those	to	be	measured	at	amortised	cost.

 The classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual terms 
of the cash flows. For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. The 
Company reclassifies its debt instruments when and only when its business model for managing those assets changes.
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2.8 FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)

(b) Recognition and measurement

 Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Company 
commits to purchase or sell the asset.

 At initial recognition, the Company measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not 
at fair value through profit or loss (‘FVTPL’), transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the 
financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVTPL are expensed in profit or loss.

 Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether their cash 
flows are solely payment of principal and interest (‘SPPI’).

 Debt instruments

 Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Company’s business model for managing the asset 
and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. The Company reclassifies debt instruments when and only when its 
business model for managing those assets changes.

 There are three measurement categories into which the Company classifies its debt instruments.

(i) Amortised cost

 Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent SPPI are measured at 
amortised cost and subject to impairment. Interest income from these financial assets is included in other income 
using the effective interest rate method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss within administrative 
expenses when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

(ii) Fair value through other comprehensive income (‘FVOCI’)

 Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the financial assets, where the assets’ 
cash flows represent SPPI, are measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are taken through OCI, 
except for the recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest income and foreign exchange gains and losses 
which are recognised in profit or loss. When the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss 
previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss. Interest income from these financial 
assets is included in other income using the effective interest rate method.

(iii) Fair value through profit or loss (‘FVTPL’)

 Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVTPL. The Company may also 
irrevocably designate financial assets at FVTPL if doing so significantly reduces or eliminates a mismatch created 
by assets and liabilities being measured on different bases. Fair value changes is recognised in profit or loss 
within other operating gains/losses.

(c)	 Subsequent	measurement	–	impairment

Impairment for debt instruments

 The Company assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit losses (“ECL”) associated with its debt 
instruments carried at amortised cost and FVOCI. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there 
has been a significant increase in credit risk. 

 The Company’s financial instruments that is subject to ECL model are trade receivables, other receivables and 
intercompany receivables. While cash and cash equivalents are also subject to impairment requirements of MFRS 9, 
the identified impairment loss was immaterial.
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2.8 FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)

(c)	 Subsequent	measurement	–	impairment	(continued)

Impairment for debt instruments (continued)

 ECL represent a probability-weighted estimate of the difference between present value of cash flows according to 
contract and present value of cash flows the Company expects to receive, over the remaining life of the financial 
instrument.

 The measurement of ECL reflects:

•	 an	unbiased	and	probability-weighted	amount	that	is	determined	by	evaluating	a	range	of	possible	outcomes;

•	 the	time	value	of	money;	and	

•	 reasonable	and	supportable	information	that	is	available	without	undue	cost	or	effort	at	the	reporting	date	about	
past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

 For trade receivables, the Company applies the simplified approach permitted by MFRS 9, which requires expected 
lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the receivables. Therefore, the Company does not track 
changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. 

 For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs 
are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible within the next 12 months (12-month 
ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, 
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining useful life of the exposure, irrespective of 
the timing of default (a lifetime ECL).

 Significant increase in credit risk

 The Company considers the probability of default upon initial recognition of asset and whether there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting period. To assess whether there 
is a significant increase in credit risk, the Company compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset as at the 
reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of initial recognition. It considers available reasonable and 
supportable forward-looking information.

 The following indicators are incorporated:

•	 actual	or	expected	significant	adverse	changes	in	business,	financial	or	economic	conditions	that	are	expected	to	
cause a significant change to the debtor’s ability to meet its obligations;

•	 actual	or	expected	significant	changes	in	the	operating	results	of	the	debtor;	or

•	 significant	changes	in	the	expected	performance	and	behaviour	of	the	debtor,	including	changes	in	the	payment	
status of debtor in the Company and changes in the operating results of the debtor.
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2.8 FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)

(c)	 Subsequent	measurement	–	impairment	(continued)

 Definition of default and credit-impaired financial assets

 The Company defines a financial instrument as default, which is fully aligned with the definition of credit-impaired, 
when it meets one of more of the following criteria:

 Quantitative criteria:

 The Company defines a financial instrument as default, when the counterparty fails to make contractual payment 
within 90 days of when they fall due.

 Qualitative criteria:

 The debtor meets unlikeliness to pay criteria, which indicates the debtor is in significant financial liability. The 
Company considers the following instances:

•	 the	debtor	is	in	breach	of	financial	covenants;

•	 concessions	have	been	made	by	the	lender	relating	to	the	debtor’s	financial	difficulty;

•	 it	is	becoming	probable	that	the	debtor	will	enter	bankruptcy	or	other	financial	reorganisation;	or

•	 the	debtor	is	insolvent.

 Write off

 Trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no 
reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan 
with the Company.

 Impairment losses on trade receivables is presented as net impairment losses within operating profit. Subsequent 
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the same line.

 The Company writes off financial assets, in whole or in part, when it has exhausted all practical recovery efforts 
and has concluded there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. The assessment of no reasonable expectation of 
recovery is based on unavailability of debtor’s sources of income or assets to generate sufficient future cash flows 
to repay the amount. The Company may write off financial assets that are still subject to enforcement activity. 
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off will result in impairment gains.

(d) Derecognition

 Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or 
have been transferred and the Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. On 
derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the carrying amount and the sum of the 
consideration received and any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is 
recognised in profit or loss.

2.9 DERIVATIVES AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES

 Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 
remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period. 

 The accounting for subsequent changes in fair value depends on whether the derivative is designated as hedging 
instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged.  The Company designates certain derivatives as either:

–	 	Hedges	of	the	fair	value	of	recognised	assets	or	liabilities	or	a	firm	commitment	(fair	value	hedges);	or

–	 	Hedges	 of	 a	 particular	 risk	 associated	 with	 the	 cash	 flows	 of	 recognised	 assets	 and	 liabilities	 and	 highly	 probable	
forecast transactions (cash flow hedges).
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2.9 DERIVATIVES AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES (continued)

 The Company documents at the inception of the hedge relationship, the economic relationship between hedging 
instruments and hedged items including whether changes in the cash flows of the hedging instruments are expected to 
offset changes in the cash flows of the hedged items. The Company documents its risk management objective and strategy 
for undertaking its hedge transactions. 

 The fair values of various derivative financial instruments used for hedging purposes are disclosed in Note 20. Movements 
in the hedging reserve in shareholders’ equity are shown in Note 24. The full fair value of a hedging derivative is classified 
as a non-current asset or liability when the remaining maturity of the hedged item is more than 12 months; it is classified 
as current asset or liability when the remaining maturity of the hedged item is less than 12 months. Trading derivatives are 
classified as a current asset or liability.

(a)  Cash flow hedge reserve 

 The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges 
is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in reserves in equity. The gain or loss relating to the 
ineffective portion is recognised immediately in profit or loss within “other operating gains/losses”.

 Amounts accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item affects profit 
or loss, as follows: 

•	 The	gain	or	loss	relating	to	the	effective	portion	of	interest	rate	swaps	hedging	variable	rate	borrowing	is	recognised	
in profit or loss within finance cost at the same time as the interest expense on the hedged borrowings.

•	 The	gain	or	loss	relating	to	the	effective	portion	of	refining	margin	swaps	hedging	the	volatility	in	refining	margin	
is recognised in profit or loss within purchases in the same period as the forecast purchases of crudes and sale of 
petroleum products took place.

 When a hedging instrument expires or is sold or terminated, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge 
accounting, any cumulative gain or loss and deferred cost of hedging in equity is reclassified to profit or loss in the 
same period that the hedged cash flows affect profit or loss. When hedged future cash flows or forecast transaction 
is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss and deferred cost of hedging that was reported in equity 
is immediately reclassified to profit or loss.

(b) Cost of hedging reserve

 MFRS 9 introduces the concept of “cost of hedging” which is seen as cost of achieving the risk mitigation inherent 
in the hedge. When refining margin swap contracts are used to hedge forecast transactions, the Company generally 
designates only the change in fair value of the refining margin swap contracts related to the spot component as 
the hedging instrument. Gains or losses relating to the effective portion of the change in the spot component of 
the refining margin swap contracts are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in cash flow 
hedge reserve within equity. The change in the swap basis spread of the contract that relates to the hedged item is 
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in costs of hedging reserve within equity. The deferred 
cost of hedging will be recycled from equity and recognised in profit or loss in the same period that the hedged cash 
flows affect profit or loss.
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2.9 DERIVATIVES AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES (continued)

(c) Hedge effectiveness

 Hedge effectiveness is determined at the inception of the hedge relationship, and through periodic prospective 
effectiveness assessments to ensure that an economic relationship exists between the hedged item and  
hedging instrument.

 For refining margin swap hedges, the Company enters into hedge relationships where the critical terms of the 
hedging instrument match exactly with the terms of the hedged item. The Company therefore performs a qualitative 
assessment on the effectiveness. If changes in circumstances affect the terms of the hedged item such that the 
critical terms no longer match exactly with the critical terms of the hedging instrument, the Company uses the 
hypothetical derivative method to assess effectiveness.

 In refining margin swap hedges, ineffectiveness may arise if there is a change in delivery date of crude oil, change 
in volume of hedged items or if there is a change in credit risk of the Company or the derivative counterparty. As all 
critical terms matched during the year, the economic relationship was 100% effective. There was no ineffectiveness 
during the year in relation to refining margin swap hedges.

 The Company enters into interest rate swaps that have similar critical terms as the hedged item, such as reference 
rate, reset dates, payment dates, maturities and notional amount. The Company does not hedge 100% of its loans, 
therefore the hedged item is identified as a proportion of the outstanding loans up to the notional amount of the 
swaps. As all critical terms matched during the year, the economic relationship was 100% effective.

 Hedge ineffectiveness for interest rate swaps is assessed using the same principles as for refining margin swap  
hedges. It may occur due to change in credit risk of the Company or the derivative counterparty, timing of interest rate 
swaps interest payment or reduction in the notional amount of the interest rate swaps. There was no ineffectiveness 
during the year in relation to interest rate swaps.

(d) Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting

 Certain derivative instruments do not qualify for hedge accounting. These derivatives are classified as held for trading 
and accounted for at fair value through profit or loss in “other operating gains/losses”.

(e) Embedded derivatives

 Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments or other host contracts are treated as separate derivatives when 
their risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of the host contracts and the host contracts are not 
carried at fair value. 

 Crude purchases resulting in variability in the payable associated with the commodity price gives rise to an embedded 
derivative which is not closely related to the host financial instrument. The Company has an accounting policy 
choice for subsequent changes in the fair value of the embedded derivative. Cost of inventory could be adjusted to 
reflect subsequent changes in the fair value of the embedded derivative on the basis that such changes are part of 
the purchase and other costs incurred in bringing the inventory to its present location and condition. Alternatively, 
these changes could be charged to profit or loss in accordance on the basis that the cost of inventory is determined 
at the time of delivery and the bifurcated embedded derivative should be accounted for separately as if it was a 
freestanding instrument. 

 The Company opted to reflect subsequent changes in the fair value of the embedded derivative as part of the cost 
of inventory. The chosen policy will be consistently applied.
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2.10 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

 Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for oil products sold in the ordinary course of business. Other 
receivables generally arise from transactions outside the usual operating activities of the Company. If collection is expected 
in one year or less, they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets. Trade receivables 
are recognised initially at the amount of consideration that is unconditional unless they contain significant financing 
components, where they are recognised at fair value plus transaction costs. Other receivables are recognised initially at fair 
value plus transaction costs. Transaction costs include transfer taxes and duties. 

 The Company holds trade and other receivables with the objective of collecting the contractual cash flows and therefore 
measures them subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less allowance for impairment. 
Details about the Company’s impairment policies and the calculation of ECL are provided in the accounting policy  
Note 2.8.

2.11 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

 For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash 
commitments rather than for investment or other purposes. Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash, bank balances, 
deposits with licensed banks and other short-term and highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or 
less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

 Bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Company’s cash management are 
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows. In the statement of financial 
position, banks overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities.

2.12 INVENTORIES

 Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

 Cost comprises direct purchase costs (including transportation, insurance and premium) and is determined using the first 
in, first out method. The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises design costs, raw materials, direct labour, 
other direct costs and an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed overhead expenditure, the latter being allocated 
on the basis of normal operating capacity and gains/losses on qualifying cash flow hedges for purchase of raw materials. 
It excludes borrowing costs. The cost of finished products includes the cost of crude oil, direct materials, labour and an 
appropriate proportion of fixed and variable manufacturing overheads.

 Net realisable value is the estimate of selling price in the ordinary course of business, less any cost of completion and  
selling expenses.

2.13 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

 Financial liabilities are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and the  
definitions of a financial liability. 

(a) Classification

 Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss or other financial 
liabilities.

(i) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and financial 
liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. Financial liabilities held 
for trading include derivatives entered into by the Company that do not meet the hedge accounting criteria. 
Liabilities in this category are classified within current liabilities if they are either held for trading or are expected 
to be settled within 12 months after the reporting date. Otherwise, they are classified as non-current.
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2.13 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (continued)

(a) Classification (continued)

(ii) Other financial liabilities

 The Company’s other financial liabilities include trade payables, other payables, intercompany payables,  
lease liabilities and borrowings. Lease liabilities and loans and borrowings are classified as current liabilities 
unless the Company has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after 
the reporting date.

(b) Recognition and initial measurement

 Derivative liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair 
value plus directly attributable transaction costs. Loans and borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of 
transaction costs incurred. Lease liabilities are recognised initially at the present value of the lease payments not paid 
at that date.

(c)	 Subsequent	measurement	–	gains	and	losses

 Derivative liabilities are subsequently stated at fair value, with any resultant gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. 
Net gains or losses on derivatives include exchange differences. Trade and other payables and loans and borrowings 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Lease liabilities are subsequently 
measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest, and to reduce the carrying amount to reflect the lease 
payments made. For other financial liabilities, gains and losses are recognised in the profit or loss when the financial 
liabilities are derecognised, and through amortisation process.

(d) Derecognition

 A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is extinguished. When an existing financial 
liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing 
liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original 
liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in 
profit or loss.

2.14 TRADE PAYABLES

 Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business  
from suppliers. Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year after the reporting 
period (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities. 

 Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value net of transaction costs incurred, which include transfer taxes and  
duties and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. See accounting policy 2.13  
on financial liabilities.

2.15 PROVISIONS

 Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events,  
when it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and when a reliable estimate of 
the amount can be made. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

 Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation using  
a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. 
The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

 Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If it is no longer probable 
that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation, the provision is reversed.
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2.16 BORROWINGS AND BORROWING COSTS

(a) Borrowings

 Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently 
stated at amortised cost; any difference between the fair value (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value 
is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method, except for 
borrowing costs incurred for the construction of any qualifying asset.

 Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it 
is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the drawdown 
occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the 
fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity services and amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.

 Borrowings are removed from the statement of financial position when the obligation specified in the contract is 
discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has been 
extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or 
liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss as other income or finance costs.

 Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Company has an unconditional right to defer settlement of 
the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

(b) Borrowing costs

 General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying 
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, 
are added to the cost of those assets, until such time the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

 All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

2.17 OFFSETTING FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

 Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when there 
is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise 
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and 
must be enforceable in the normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy.

2.18 REVENUE

 Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company and the 
revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. 

 Revenue from contracts with customers

(a) Sale of oil products, partially refined oil products and feedstocks

 The Company refines and sells oil products, partially refined oil products and feedstocks to customers. Sales are 
recognised upon transfer of control of the goods to the customer. This is when products are delivered to the 
customer, the customer has full discretion over the channel and price to sell the products and there is no unfulfilled 
obligation that could affect the customer’s acceptance of the products. Delivery occurs when the products have been 
shipped to the specific location, the risk of loss has been transferred to the customer, and either the customer has 
accepted the products in accordance with the sales contract or the Company has objective evidence that all criteria 
for acceptance have been satisfied.

 No element of financing is deemed present as the sales are made with a credit term of 30 days, which is consistent 
with market practice.

 A receivable is recognised when the products are delivered as this is the point in time that the consideration is 
unconditional because only the passage of time is required before the payment is due.
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2.18 REVENUE (continued)

 Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(b) Procurement of oil products

 The Company has contracts with its related companies to acquire, on their behalf, oil products produced by 
customers. The Company is acting as an agent in these arrangements. 

 When another party is involved in providing goods or services to its related companies, the Company determines 
whether it is a principal or an agent in these transactions by evaluating the nature of its promise to related companies. 
The Company is a principal and records revenue on a gross basis if it controls the promised goods before transferring 
them to related companies. However, if the Company’s role is only to arrange for another entity to provide the 
goods, then the Company is an agent and will need to record revenue at the net amount that it retains for its  
agency services.

 Revenue	from	other	sources	–	interest	income

 Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset except 
for financial assets that subsequently become credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial assets, the effective interest 
rate is applied to the net carrying amount of the financial asset (after deduction of the loss allowance).

2.19 PURCHASES

 Purchases reflect all costs related to acquisition of inventories and supplies used for conversion into finished products, 
including the effects of the changes therein (cost of inventories), foreign exchange gains and losses.

2.20 LEASES

 Company as lessee

 Accounting policies applied from 1 January 2019

 From 1 January 2019, leases are recognised as right-of-use (“ROU”) asset and a corresponding liability at the date on 
which the leased asset is available for use by the Company (i.e. the commencement date).

 Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The Company allocates the consideration in the contract to 
the lease and non-lease components based on their relative stand-alone prices.

 Lease term

 In determining lease term, the Company considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic incentive to exercise 
an extension option, or not to exercise a termination option. Extension options (or periods after termination options) are 
only included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably to be extended (or not to be terminated).

 The Company reassess the lease term upon the occurrence of a significant event or change in circumstances that is within 
the control of the Company and affects whether the Company is reasonably certain to exercise an option not previously 
included in the determination of lease term. A revision in lease term results in remeasurement of the lease liabilities.  
See accounting policy on reassessment of lease liabilities.
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2.20 LEASES (continued)

 Company as lessee (continued)

 Accounting policies applied from 1 January 2019 (continued)

 Right-of-use (“ROU”) assets

(a) Initial measurement of ROU assets

 ROU assets are initially measured at cost comprising the following:

•	 The	amount	of	the	initial	measurement	of	lease	liability;

•	 Any	lease	payments	made	at	or	before	commencement	date	less	any	lease	incentive	received;

•	 Any	initial	direct	costs;	and

•	 Decommissioning	or	restoration	costs.

(b) Subsequent measurement of ROU assets

 ROU assets that are not investment properties are subsequently measured at cost, less accumulated depreciation 
and impairment loss (if any). The ROU assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life 
and the lease term on a straight-line basis. If the Company is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option,  
the ROU asset is depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life. In addition, the ROU assets are adjusted for 
certain remeasurement of the lease liabilities. ROU assets are presented as a separate line in the statement of 
financial position.

Lease liabilities

(a) Initial measurement of lease liabilities

 Lease liabilities are initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at that date. Lease 
payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, the 
lessee’s incremental borrowing is used. This is the rate that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the 
funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the ROU in a similar economic environment with similar term, 
security and conditions. 

 The lease payments include the following: 

•	 Fixed	payments	(including	in-substance	fixed	payments),	less	any	lease	incentive	receivable;	

•	 Variable	lease	payments	that	are	based	on	an	index	or	a	rate,	initially	measured	using	the	index	or	rate	as	at	the	
commencement date; 

•	 Amounts	expected	to	be	payable	by	the	Company	under	residual	value	guarantees;	

•	 The	exercise	price	of	a	purchase	and	extension	options	if	the	Company	is	reasonably	certain	to	exercise	that	option;	
and 

•	 Payments	of	penalties	for	terminating	the	lease,	if	the	lease	term	reflects	the	Company	exercising	that	option.

 Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance costs. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over 
the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for  
each period.

 The Company presents the lease liabilities as a separate line item in the statement of financial position. 
Interest expense on the lease liability is presented within the finance cost in profit or loss in the statement of  
comprehensive income.
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2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.20 LEASES (continued)

 Company as lessee (continued)

 Accounting policies applied from 1 January 2019 (continued)

 Lease liabilities (continued)

(b) Subsequent measurement of lease liabilities

 After the commencement date, a lessee shall measure the lease liability by:

i) increase the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability;

ii) reduce the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made; and

iii) remeasure the carrying amount to reflect any reassessment or lease modifications specified or to reflect  
in-substance fixed lease payments.

(c) Reassessment of lease liabilities

 After the commencement date, a lessee shall remeasure the lease liability to reflect changes to the lease payments 
by using a revised discount rate if either:

i) a change in lease term due to the lessee exercises an option (purchase/termination/extension) in a different  
way than the Company has previously determined was reasonably certain; or

ii) a change in lease term due to an event occurs that contractually obliged/prohibits the lessee from exercise  
the option.

 In contrast, a lessee shall use an unchanged discount rate to remeasure lease liability to reflect changes to lease 
payments if either:

i) a change in the amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; or

ii) a change in future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine those payments.

 A lessee shall recognise the amount of the remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to the ROU. 
However, if the carrying amount of the ROU is reduced to zero and there is a further reduction in the measurement 
of the lease liability, a lessee shall recognise any remaining amount of the remeasurement in profit or loss.

 Short term leases and leases of low value assets

 Short term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. Low value assets comprise of small items such  
as IT equipment. Payments associated with short term leases and leases of low value assets are recognised on a straight 
line basis as an expense in profit or loss.

 Accounting policies applied until 31 December 2018

 Finance leases

 Until 31 December 2018, leases of property, plant and equipment where the Company assumes substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases.

 Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s commencement at the lower of the fair value of the leased property and the 
present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges is included 
in payables. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance charges so as to achieve a constant rate of 
interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as 
to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period.
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2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.20 LEASES (continued)

 Company as lessee (continued)

 Accounting policies applied until 31 December 2018 (continued)

 Finance leases (continued)

 Property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases is depreciated over the asset’s useful life or over the shorter 
of the asset’s useful life and the lease term if there is no reasonable certainty that the Company will obtain ownership at 
the end of the lease term.

 Initial direct costs incurred by the Company in negotiating and arranging finance leases are added to the carrying 
amount of the leased assets and recognised as an expense in profit or loss over the lease term on the same basis as the  
lease expense.

 Operating leases

 Leases of assets where a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified 
as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the 
lease period.

 Initial direct costs incurred by the Company in negotiating and arranging operating leases are capitalised as  
prepayments and recognised in profit or loss over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

2.21 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

(a) Short-term employee benefits

 The Company recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses, based on a formula that takes into consideration 
the profit attributable to the Company’s shareholders after certain adjustments. The Company recognises a provision 
where contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation.

 Wages, salaries, paid annual leave, sick leave, bonuses, social security contributions and non-monetary benefits 
are accrued in the period in which the associated services are rendered by employees of the Company. Short 
term accumulating compensated absences such as paid annual leave are recognised when services are rendered 
by employees that increase their entitlement to future compensated absences, and short term non-accumulating 
compensated absences such as sick leave are recognised when the absences occur.

(b)  Post-employment benefits

 The Company’s post-employment benefit scheme comprises only of the defined contribution plan. 

 Contributions to the Employees’ Provident Fund, which is a defined contribution plan, are charged to the profit or 
loss when incurred. Once the contributions have been paid, the Company has no further payment obligations.

(c) Employee leave entitlement

 Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised as a liability when they accrue to the employees. The estimated 
liability for leave is recognised for services rendered by employees up to the reporting date.

(d) Long-term employee benefits

 The Company provides death in service and long-term disability benefits to its employees. The benefit is on a lump 
sum basis based on a multiplier of the last drawn average annual salary of the employee and is not dependent on 
the employee’s length of service. Accordingly, it is charged to profit or loss when incurred.
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2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.22 CURRENT AND DEFERRED INCOME TAX

 The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent 
that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case the tax is also recognised 
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

 The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of  
the reporting period.

 Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable  
tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to 
be paid to the tax authorities. This liability is measured using the best estimate of the most likely outcome.

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised on temporary differences arising between the amounts attributed to 
assets and liabilities for tax purposes and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. However, deferred tax is not 
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination 
that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred tax is determined using tax 
rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period and are expected 
to apply when the related deferred tax asset is realised or the deferred tax liability is settled.

 Deferred tax assets including tax benefits from reinvestment allowance are recognised for all deductible temporary 
differences, carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits 
will be available against which the deductible temporary differences and the carry forward of unused tax credits and 
unused tax losses can be utilised.

 The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. 
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has  
become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax assets to be utilised.  

 Deferred and income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax  
assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to taxes levied by the  
same taxation authority on the taxable entity.

2.23 SHARE CAPITAL

(a) Classification

 An equity instrument is any contract that evidence a residual interest in the assets of the Company, after deducting 
all of its liabilities. Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Ordinary shares are recorded at the proceeds received,  
net of directly attributable incremental transaction costs.

(b) Dividend distribution

 Dividend distribution to owners of the Company is debited directly to equity. The corresponding liability is  
recognised in the period in which the dividends are approved.
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2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.24 EARNINGS PER SHARE

 Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

–	 the	profit	attributable	to	owners	of	the	Company,	excluding	any	costs	of	servicing	equity	other	than	ordinary	shares;	
and

–	 by	the	weighted	average	number	of	ordinary	shares	outstanding	during	the	financial	year,	adjusted	for	bonus	elements	
in the ordinary shares issued during the year and excluding treasury shares.

2.25 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CONTINGENT ASSETS

 The Company does not recognise contingent liability but discloses its existence in the financial statements. A contingent 
liability is a possible obligation that arises from past event whose existence will be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events beyond the control of the Company or a present obligation that is not 
recognised because it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation. A contingent 
liability also arises in the extremely rare case where there is a liability that cannot be recognised because it cannot be 
measured reliably.

 A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events whose existence will be confirmed by the occurrence 
or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events beyond the control of the Company. The Company does 
not recognise contingent assets but discloses its existence where inflows of economic benefits are probable, but not  
virtually certain.

2.26 SEGMENT REPORTING

 Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating 
decision maker. The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance 
of the operating segments, has been identified as the Board of Directors.

 No segmental information is considered necessary for analysis by business or by geographical segments. This is because  
the Company is principally engaged in the business of refining and manufacturing of petroleum products in Malaysia, 
which is a single business segment. Also, the Company’s primary segment operations are also concentrated within 
Malaysia, hence operating within a single geographical segment.

3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

 Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated by the Directors and are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  

 The estimates and judgements that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets 
within the next financial year is:

(a) Reversal of impairment of refinery assets

 The Company reviews the carrying amount of its property, plant and equipment, prepaid lease payments, intangible assets 
and ROU assets (collectively cash-generating-units “CGU” or refinery assets) in accordance to its accounting policy stated 
in Note 2.7. The Company’s results from operations in any given period are principally driven by the demand for and price 
of petroleum products relative to the supply and cost of crude oil.
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3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(a) Reversal of impairment of refinery assets (continued)

 Key assumptions considered in the FVLCTS calculations include projected refining margins adjusted for planned turnaround 
activities as well as margin uplift initiatives from crude optimisation. The FVLCTS calculations also took into account the 
planned capital expenditure and incremental operating costs anticipated to ensure compliance with product specification 
regulations. The assessment was based on management’s assessment adjusted for market conditions to reflect market 
participants’ perspective (level three (3) in fair value hierarchy) and extrapolating the cash flows over a 20-year period, 
which reflects the remaining useful life of the refinery assets. 

 The following key assumptions were made in determination of the recoverable amount:

(i) Refining margins per barrel: Between USD3.78 to USD5.70

(ii) Post-tax discount rate: 10.5%

(iii) Production volume: Based on existing production capacity

Sensitivity analysis:

 The key estimation uncertainty over the assumptions used by management in the FVLCTS is the refining margins and 
discount rate. The sensitivity of these assumptions to the recoverable amount and impairment loss is as follows:

•	 1.0%	increase	or	decrease	over	the	20-year	period	in	refinery	margin	will	result	in	an	increase	or	decrease	in	reversal	of	
impairment by RM59,300,000.

•	 0.5%	 increase	 over	 the	 20-year	 period	 in	 the	 discount	 rate	 will	 result	 in	 a	 decrease	 in	 reversal	 of	 impairment	 by	
RM83,460,000 whereas a 0.5% decrease over the 20-year period in the discount rate will result in an increase in 
reversal of impairment by RM90,685,000.

 It is reasonably possible that the estimate of expected future cash flows may change in the near term resulting in the need 
to adjust the resulting cash flow projections to support the recoverable amount of the refinery. The cash flow forecast is 
dependent on the achievability of the refinery margins and assumptions and the corresponding sensitivities as indicated 
above.

 Refinery margins are subject to cyclical fluctuations resulting from an over-supply and supply tightness in various global 
and regional markets. Fluctuations in the short term may result in significant changes in monthly or quarterly profit and 
loss resulting in significant loss or profits.

 Despite the delay in the progress of the Euro 4 Mogas (“E4M”) project, the Company is capable of producing E4M 
specification products to meet all its contractual obligations. Should there be additional demand, the Company may either 
increase its production or import the E4M specification products, whichever is more commercially attractive. Therefore, the 
Directors do not expect the consequential margin impact from the project delay on the recoverable amount of the refinery 
assets to be material.

(b) Reversal of deferred tax assets

 Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses and unabsorbed capital allowances to the extent that it is 
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement 
is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based on the likely timing and level of 
future taxable profits.

 Assumptions about generation of future taxable profits depends on management’s estimates of future production 
and sales volume, operating costs and capital expenditure. Judgement is also required about application of income tax 
legislation. These judgements and assumptions are subject to risks and uncertainty hence there is a possibility that changes 
in circumstances will alter expectations, which may impact the amount of deferred tax assets recognised in the statement 
of financial position and the amount of unrecognised tax losses and unrecognised temporary differences.
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3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(b) Reversal of deferred tax assets (continued)

 Pursuant to the Malaysia Finance Act 2018, unused tax losses in a year of assessment can only be carried forward for a 
maximum period of 7 consecutive years of assessment (“YA”). The change in the tax treatment is effective from YA2019 
and therefore all the brought forward unused tax losses will be disregarded from YA2026. 

 Based on the Company’s projected taxable profits, there will be insufficient taxable profit for the first 6 years from  
YA2020 to YA2025 to be offset against the total amount of unused tax losses as at 31 December 2019 as a result of 
lower forecasted refining margin for these years. Accordingly, the Company has partially reversed the deferred tax assets 
of RM45,192,000 arising from the unused tax losses as at 31 December 2019.

(c) Change in functional currency

 During the fourth quarter ended 31 December 2019, the Board of Directors have reassessed the functional currency of the 
Company and concluded that Ringgit Malaysia (“RM”) more faithfully represents the economic effects of the underlying 
transactions, events and conditions that the Company is subject to due to the following:

•	 The	Company	increased	its	sourcing	of	crude	oil	purchases	locally	during	the	financial	year	ended	31	December	2019;

•	 Significant	proportion	of	operating	expenses	were	denominated	in	RM;	

•	 The	Company	had	entered	into	RM	denominated	overdraft	facility;

•	 The	Board,	being	the	Chief	Operating	Decision	Makers,	have	also	approved	its	business	plan	prepared	in	RM	as	they	are	
of the view that performance measured in RM is more reflective of the Company’s results of the operations.

 Given the changes in underlying transactions, events and conditions occurred gradually throughout the financial year, it is 
not practicable to determine the date of change at a precise point during the financial year. Therefore, management has 
determined the date of change to be 31 December 2019 as it is more closely approximates to the date of change. The 
effect of a change in functional currency is accounted for prospectively from the date of change and there is no material 
impact to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019.

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

 The Company is exposed to a variety of financial risks; market risk (including foreign currency exchange risk, interest rate risk, 
commodity price risk and refining margin risk), credit risk, liquidity and cash flow risk and capital risk. The Company’s overall 
financial risk management objective is to ensure the Company creates value for its shareholders. The Company focuses on 
the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the 
Company. Financial risk management is carried out through risk reviews, assurance plans, internal control systems, insurance 
programmes and adherence to the Company’s Treasury Policy and Procedures.

 The Company may enter into foreign exchange forward contracts to manage its exposure to foreign currency risks in receivables 
and payables. Straightforward derivative financial instruments are utilised by the Company to manage the exposure to foreign 
currency exchange risk, commodity price risk, refining margin risk and interest rate risks. The Company does not enter into 
derivative financial instruments that are speculative in nature.

 Where all relevant criteria are met, hedge accounting is applied to remove the accounting mismatch between the hedging 
instrument and the hedged item. This will effectively result in recognising interest expense at a fixed interest rate for the hedged 
floating rate loans and locking the refining margin for the hedged forecast purchases and sales.

 The Company’s accounting policy on its cash flow hedges is set out on Note 2.9(a). 

 For information about the methods and assumptions used in determining the fair value of derivatives refer to Note 5.
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4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(a) Market risk

 Market risk refers to the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and prices  
will affect the Company’s financial position and cash flows.

(i) Foreign currency exchange risk

 Foreign currency exchange risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument  
will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.

 The objective of the Company’s currency risk management policies is to allow the Company to effectively  
manage exposures that may arise from operating and financing activities.

 The Company is exposed to currency risk as a result of foreign currency transactions entered into in currencies  
other than its functional currency. The Company changed its functional currency from United States Dollar (“USD”) 
to Ringgit Malaysia (“RM”) at the end of the financial year as disclosed in Note 3(c). The financial assets and  
liabilities affected by foreign currency risk include receivables, payables, bank balances and borrowings.

 The Company may enter into foreign currency swaps and forward contracts to limit its exposure on foreign currency 
receivables and payables and on cash flows generated from anticipated transactions denominated in foreign 
currencies. These foreign currency receivables and payables do not qualify as “highly probable” forecast transactions 
and hence do not satisfy the requirements for hedge accounting (economic hedges). The foreign currency swaps and 
forward contracts are subject to the same risk management policies as all other derivative contracts. However, they 
are accounted for as “held for trading” with gains/(losses) recognised in profit or loss.

 The following analysis illustrates the Company’s sensitivity to changes in USD to RM exchange rate (2018: RM to  
USD exchange rate):

  Increase/(decrease)  
 in profit after tax 

   2019 2018
   RM’000 RM’000

 USD strengthens by 10%  (124,745) - 
USD weakens by 10%  124,745 - 
RM strengthens by 10%  - 68,791 
RM weakens by 10%  - (68,791)

 The Company’s exposure to other foreign exchange movements is not material.

(ii) Interest rate risk

 Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market interest rates. 

 The Company finances its operations through a mixture of retained earnings and bank borrowings. The Company’s 
interest rate risk arises from borrowings at variable rates and deposits with licensed banks and are managed in 
compliance with the treasury policy of the Company. 

 In the previous financial year, the Board had approved a policy for the hedging of interest rates as part of the 
Company’s risk management policy.

 Generally, the Company enters into long-term borrowings at floating rates and swaps them into fixed rates. The 
Company’s borrowings at variable rate is denominated in USD. 
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4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(ii) Interest rate risk (continued)

 Interest rate swaps currently in place cover approximately 65% (2018: 79%) of the variable loan principal  
outstanding. The fixed interest rates of the swaps range between 2.96% to 3.03% and the variable rates of the  
loans are between 1.89% to 2.74% (2018: 2.21% to 2.58%).

 The interest rate swap contracts require settlement of net interest receivable or payable every 90 days. The settlement 
date coincides with the dates on which interest is payable on the underlying debt.

 Surplus funds are placed with licensed financial institutions to earn interest income based on prevailing market rates. 
The Company manages its interest rate risks by placing such funds on short tenures of 12 months or less.

 The interest rate profile of the Company’s significant interest-bearing financial instrument has been presented in 
Note 27.

 Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

 The Company analyses its cash flow interest rate exposure on a regular basis. Various scenarios are simulated taking 
into consideration refinancing, renewal of existing positions, alternative financing and hedging. 

 Based on these scenarios, the Company calculates the impact on profit or loss of a defined interest rate shift, after 
the impact of hedge accounting. With all other variables held constant, the Company’s profit after tax is affected  
as below:

  Increase/(decrease) 
 in profit after tax

   2019 2018
   RM’000 RM’000

 100 basis points increase in interest rate  (3,419) (5,899) 
100 basis points decrease in interest rate  3,419 5,899

(iii) Commodity price risk and refining margin risk

 The Company is exposed to fluctuations in crude oil and petroleum product prices which may affect the value of the 
Company’s assets, liabilities or expected future cash flows. The Company has an approved policy to hedge refining 
margin as part of the Company’s risk management policy. Refining margins are hedged based on the Company’s 
physical exposures to prices of crude oil and its 3 main products namely mogas, gasoil and jet fuel. Competitive 
quotes are obtained from counterparties and compared to published prices as a basis for entering into a hedge. The 
purpose of executing these hedges are to stabilise refining margins exposure towards achieving a sustainable profit 
over the short and medium term. 

 In addition to hedging its refining margins, the Company also uses commodity swaps and options to manage some 
of its transaction exposures. These commodity swaps and options are not designated as cash flow hedges and are 
subject to the same risk management policies as all other derivative contracts. However, they are accounted for as 
“held for trading” with gains/(losses) recognised in profit or loss.
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4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(iii) Commodity price risk and refining margin risk (continued)

 The table shows the effect of market price changes on the fair value of the Company’s commodity swaps and 
options:

        Increase/(decrease) 
 in profit after tax

   2019 2018
   RM’000 RM’000

 10% increase in commodity price  (69,003) (22,141) 
10% decrease in commodity price  69,003 22,141

 The table shows the effect of price changes on the fair value of the Company’s refining margin swaps:

    Increase/(decrease) 
 in equity

   2019 2018
   RM’000 RM’000

 10% increase in refining margin  (88,750) (121,564) 
10% decrease in refining margin  88,750 121,564

  

(b) Credit risk

 Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the 
Company. At the reporting date, the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amounts 
of each class of financial assets recognised in the statement of financial position.

(i) Receivables

 Credit risk on customers arises when sales are made on deferred credit terms. It seeks to control credit risk by setting 
counterparty limits and ensuring that sales of products are made only to approved customers with an appropriate 
credit history. It is the Company’s policy to monitor the financial standing of the customers on an ongoing basis to 
ensure that the Company is exposed to a minimal credit risk. The maximum credit exposure associated with financial 
assets is equal to the carrying amount.

 54% (2018: 76%) of the Company’s total receivables at the reporting date are due from two (2018: two) major 
customers in the oil and gas industry in Malaysia. The Directors are of the view that such credit risk is minimal in view 
of the strength of the customers’ financial position and no history of default from these major customers.

 For some trade receivables, the Company may obtain security in the form of guarantees, deeds of underwriting of 
letters of credit which can be called upon if the counterparty is in default under the terms of the agreement.



114 2019  ANNUAL REPORT 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

FINANCIAL REPORTS

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i) Receivables (continued)

 An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date to measure expected credit losses. The provision rates are 
based on days past due and coverage by letters of credit and historical credit losses of the customers. The calculation 
reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and supportable information 
that is available at the reporting date about past events and current conditions. The Company has considered 
expected oil price and geographical area which the debtor operates in and concluded that the effect on expected 
changes in these factors do not significantly affect the historical credit loss rates. Generally, trade receivables are 
written off if past due for more than one year unless it is covered by letters of credits. These letters of credit are 
considered integral part of trade receivables and considered in the calculation of impairment. 

 Information about credit exposure on the Company’s trade receivables is disclosed in Note 18.

(ii) Deposits with licensed banks, bank balances and favourable derivative financial instruments

 The Company seeks to invest cash assets safely and profitably. Deposits, forward contracts and interest rate swaps 
entered into are placed only with financial institutions with strong long-term credit ratings based on independent 
rating agencies. The likelihood of non-performance by these financial institutions is remote based on their high 
credit ratings. 

 For other favourable derivative financial instruments such as refining margin swaps, commodity swaps, commodity 
options and forward priced commodity contracts, these are also entered into with counterparties with strong  
long-term credit ratings based on independent agencies. In addition, the Company may obtain security which can  
be called upon if the counterparty is in default under terms of agreement.

None of the financial assets have been renegotiated in the current financial year except as disclosed in Note 18.

(c) Liquidity and cash flow risks 

 Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Company’s 
exposure to liquidity risk arises principally from its payables and borrowings. The Company ensures that cash is available to 
meet working capital and other financing obligations, and that cash flows are managed efficiently. This is done through 
cash forecasts to achieve optimal cash management planning. The Company sets a minimum level of cash to be held on a 
daily basis in order to meet both firm commitments and forecast obligations. The Company has access to undrawn facilities 
from its revolving credits subject to scheduled repayment of its term loans. 

 As at year end, the Company obtained new bank overdraft facilities. These facilities may be drawn at any time and 
may be terminated by the bank without notice. As at 31 December 2019, the new bank overdraft facilities have not  
been drawdown.

 As at 31 December 2019, there are outstanding borrowings amounting to RM1,381,913,000 (2018: RM1,150,632,000) 
as disclosed in Note 27.
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4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(c) Liquidity and cash flow risks (continued)

 All financial liabilities of the Company that will be due and payable within the next 12 months are classified within 
current liabilities. The contractual cash flows of derivative financial liabilities and non-derivative financial liabilities are  
presented below:

     Total
   Between  Between  contractual  Total 

 Within  1 to  2 to  undiscounted  carrying 
 1 year  2 years  5 years  cash flows  amount 
At 31 December 2019 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade and other payables excluding 

statutory liabilities 1,900,454 - - 1,900,454 1,900,454
Lease liabilities 8,391 8,423 16,171 32,985 30,757
Amounts due to related companies 23,749 - - 23,749 23,749
Borrowings 824,082 111,665 505,233 1,440,980 1,381,913

  2,756,676 120,088 521,404 3,398,168 3,336,873

Derivative financial liabilities
Refining margin swap contracts 20,074 840 - 20,914 20,914
Refining margin and commodity options 287 - - 287 287
Commodity swap contracts 111,498 - - 111,498 111,498
Interest rate swap contracts - - 12,759 12,759 12,759
Forward foreign currency contracts (gross settled) 

–	inflow	 (326,668) - - (326,668) (326,668) 
–	outflow	 330,895 - - 330,895 330,895

  136,086 840 12,759 149,685 149,685

  2,892,762 120,928 534,163 3,547,853 3,486,558
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4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(c) Liquidity and cash flow risks (continued)

            Total
   Between  Between  contractual  Total 

 Within  1 to  2 to  undiscounted  carrying 
 1 year  2 years  5 years  cash flows  amount 
At 31 December 2018 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade and other payables excluding 

statutory liabilities 916,038 - - 916,038 916,038
Amounts due to related companies 24,982 - - 24,982 24,982
Borrowings 578,222 166,731 480,588 1,225,541 1,150,632

  1,519,242 166,731 480,588 2,166,561 2,091,652

Derivative financial liabilities
Refining margin swap contracts 2,524 - - 2,524 2,524
Refining margin and commodity options 2,169 - - 2,169 2,169
Interest rate swap contracts - - 6,329 6,329 6,329
Forward foreign currency contracts (gross settled) 

- inflow (417,592) - - (417,592) (417,592) 
- outflow 421,149 - - 421,149 421,149

  8,250 - 6,329 14,579 14,579

  1,527,492 166,731 486,917 2,181,140 2,106,231

(d) Capital risk management

 The Company’s objectives when managing capital are: 

•	 to	safeguard	the	Company’s	ability	to	continue	as	a	going	concern;	

•	 to	maximise	returns	for	shareholders;	and	

•	 to	maintain	an	optimal	capital	structure	which	minimises	the	cost	of	capital	while	maintaining	sufficient	liquidity.

 The Company monitors capital on the basis of gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as total borrowings divided by total 
capital. The capital structure of the Company consists of borrowings and total equity.

   2019 2018
   RM’000 RM’000

 Total borrowings        1,381,913 1,150,632

 Total equity         2,011,343 2,021,659 
Total borrowings        1,381,913 1,150,632

 Total capital         3,393,256 3,172,291

Gearing ratio  41% 36%

The borrowings of the Company are subject to the banks’ covenants, which include debt service cover ratio, liability to 
asset ratio, current ratio and net debt to earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, and amortisation (EBITDA) ratio, which 
the Company has complied with.
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5 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

 Financial instruments that are not carried at fair value and whose carrying amounts are reasonable approximation 
of fair value

 The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities classified within current assets and current liabilities respectively  
approximate their fair values due to the relatively short-term nature of these financial instruments.

 Non-derivative financial liabilities

 Fair values of non-derivative financial liabilities are calculated based on the present value of future principal and interest cash 
flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the end of the reporting period.

 Financial instruments carried at amortised cost

 The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities measured at amortised cost approximate their respective fair values.

 Financial instruments carried at fair value

 Refining margin swap contracts, forward foreign currency contracts, forward priced commodity contracts, commodity options, 
commodity swap contracts and interest rate swap contracts are valued using a valuation technique with market observable 
inputs. The most frequently applied valuation techniques include forward pricing model, using present value calculations. The 
models incorporate various inputs including the credit quality of counterparties and foreign exchange spot and forward rates.

 Fair value hierarchy

 The Company measures fair value using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the input used in 
making the measurements:

 Level 1 - quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

 Level 2 - inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e., 
as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices); and

 Level 3 - inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (i.e., unobservable inputs).

 Derivative financial instruments outstanding as at reporting date are detailed below:

  As at 31 December 2019
   Notional Value   Fair Value
 Derivatives  USD’000 RM’000

 Refining margin swap contracts, net  357,748 196,739 
Forward foreign currency contracts  79,753 (4,227) 
Refining margin and commodity options, net  365 5,026 
Commodity swap contracts, net  693,377 (8,304) 
Interest rate swap contracts  115,000 (12,759)

  As at 31 December 2018
   Notional Value  Fair Value
 Derivatives  USD’000 RM’000

 Refining margin swap contracts, net  385,909 233,807 
Forward foreign currency contracts  100,880 (3,557) 
Forward priced commodity contracts  54,706 26,209 
Refining margin and commodity options, net  560 1,291 
Commodity swap contracts  59,405 22,291 
Interest rate swap contracts  137,500 (6,329)
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5 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

 Fair value hierarchy (continued)

 The table below summarises all financial instruments carried at fair value as at reporting date, based on a hierarchy that  
reflects the significance of the inputs used in measuring its respective fair values.

  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 
 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000

 Financial assets/(liabilities)

Derivative financial assets: 
- Refining margin swap contracts - 217,653 - 217,653 
- Refining margin and commodity options - 5,313 - 5,313 
- Commodity swap contracts - 103,194 - 103,194

Derivative financial liabilities: 
- Refining margin swap contracts - (20,914) - (20,914) 
- Commodity swap contracts - (111,498) - (111,498) 
- Forward foreign currency contracts - (4,227) - (4,227) 
- Refining margin and commodity options - (287) - (287) 
- Interest rate swap contracts - (12,759) - (12,759)

 At 31 December 2019 - 176,475 - 176,475

 Financial assets/(liabilities)

Derivative financial assets: 
- Refining margin swap contracts - 236,331 - 236,331 
- Forward priced commodity contracts - 26,209 - 26,209 
- Refining margin and commodity options - 3,460 - 3,460 
- Commodity swap contracts - 22,291 - 22,291

Derivative financial liabilities: 
- Refining margin swap contracts - (2,524) - (2,524) 
- Forward foreign currency contracts - (3,557) - (3,557) 
-  Refining margin and commodity options - (2,169) - (2,169) 
- Interest rate swap contracts - (6,329) - (6,329)

 At 31 December 2018 - 273,712 - 273,712

 During the year and previous financial year, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements and  
no transfers into and out of Level 3 fair value measurement. The fair values were obtained from published rates of counterparties.
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6 REVENUE
   2019 2018
   RM’000 RM’000

Sale of oil products:
- refined   12,634,960 11,239,519
- crude oil  2,357 1,718

   12,637,317 11,241,237

The sale of oil products is recognised at point in time.

7 OTHER INCOME
   2019 2018
   RM’000 RM’000

Interest income  2,262 16,623
Operating and transport fees  - 24
Gain on modification of lease contract  533 -
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  33 -
Cost recovery from intellectual property buy-out  - 1,129

   2,828 17,776

8 FINANCE COST
   2019 2018
   RM’000 RM’000

Interest expense:
- borrowings  16,543 37,241 
- amortisation of term loan commitment fees  166 15,142 
- interest rate swaps   2,688 1,928 
- lease liabilities  1,545 - 
- factoring arrangement  646 - 
- interest charged by hedging counterparties on collateral held  928 -

   22,516 54,311
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9 PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION
   2019 2018
   RM’000 RM’000

The profit/(loss) before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

Auditors’ remuneration:
- statutory audit fees  374 378
- audit-related fees   148 111
- fees for non-audit services  34 254
Cost of inventories  12,303,981 10,871,294
Staff cost:
- salaries, bonus and allowances  95,100 87,684
- defined contribution plan  10,637 12,133
- other employee benefits  5,919 7,010
Foreign exchange loss/(gain):
- realised  14,448 76,972
- unrealised           (1,914) 13,384
Net fair value gain on derivative financial instruments  (49,632) (82,001) 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  121,849 169,484
Depreciation of right-of-use assets  8,131 -
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments  18 16
Amortisation of intangible assets  14,405 16,634
Allowance for inventories  369 -
Write off of property, plant and equipment  2,879 -
Reversal of impairment of receivables  - (48)

10 TAXATION
   2019 2018
   RM’000 RM’000

Current	tax	–	Malaysian	tax
- current financial year  663 -
- under accrual in prior year  - 1,583

   663 1,583
Deferred taxation (Note 28)
- origination and reversal of temporary differences  121,237 (23,495)
- over accrual in prior year  (10,264) (33,376)

   110,973 (56,871)

Taxation recognised in profit or loss  111,636 (55,288)

Deferred taxation (Note 28)
- origination and reversal of temporary differences  (7,216) 52,295

Taxation recognised in other comprehensive income  (7,216) 52,295
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10 TAXATION (continued)

 Income tax is calculated at the Malaysian statutory tax rate of 24% (2018: 24%) of the estimated assessable profit for the year. 
The numerical reconciliation between the effective tax rate and the applicable statutory tax rate is as follows:

   2019 2018
   % %

Applicable statutory tax rate  24 (24)
Tax effects in respect of: 
- expenses not deductible for tax purposes  5 56
- income not subject to tax  (2) (10)

 - effects arising due to difference between functional  
 and tax reporting currency  25 (118)

 - over accrual in prior years arising from difference in tax 
 treatment on functional currency  - (136)
- (over)/under accrual in prior year  (7) 6
- deferred tax asset not recognised on unutilised tax losses  31 -

Effective tax rate  76 (226)

11 EARNINGS PER UNIT OF SHARE

 Basic earnings per unit of share of the Company is calculated by dividing the profit for the financial year by the weighted  
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the financial year.

   2019 2018

Profit for the financial year (RM’000)  34,984 30,842
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (‘000)  300,000 300,000
Basic earnings per unit of share (sen)  12 10

12 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 
   2019 2018
   RM’000 RM’000

Fees   1,933 1,974
Allowances  24 36

   1,957 2,010

 Indemnity insurance for Directors and Officers of the Company during the financial year amounted to RM57,000  
(2018: RM57,000).
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13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
     Plant, 

    machinery, 
    equipment 
 Freehold  Land   and motor  Work-in- 
 land improvements  Buildings  vehicles  progress  Total 
2019 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000

 Cost or deemed cost
 At 1 January 46,710 14,451 100,851 3,454,690 447,439 4,064,141
 Additions - - - - 659,212 659,212
 Disposal - - - (153) - (153)
 Write off - - - - (2,879) (2,879)
 Reclassification - - - 207,535 (207,535) -
 Effect of exchange rate changes (491) (152) (1,060) (38,607) (9,683) (49,993)

 At 31 December 46,219 14,299 99,791 3,623,465 886,554 4,670,328

 Accumulated depreciation
 At 1 January - 13,391 61,447 2,360,190 - 2,435,028
 Charge for the financial year - 112 2,303 119,434 - 121,849
 Disposal - - - (153) - (153)
 Effect of exchange rate changes - (142) (672) (26,131) - (26,945)

 At 31 December - 13,361 63,078 2,453,340 - 2,529,779

 Accumulated impairment losses
 At 1 January - - - 348,343 - 348,343
 Reversal of impairment - - - (125,513) - (125,513)
 Effect of exchange rate changes - - - (2,269) - (2,269)

 At 31 December - - - 220,561 - 220,561

 Carrying amount
 At 31 December 46,219 938 36,713 949,564 886,554 1,919,988
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13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

     Plant, 
    machinery, 
    equipment 
 Freehold  Land   and motor  Work-in- 
 land improvements  Buildings  vehicles  progress  Total 
2018 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000

 Cost or deemed cost
 At 1 January 45,797 14,169 98,876 3,106,513 159,735 3,425,090
 Additions - - - - 610,007 610,007
 Write off - - - (53,932) - (53,932)
 Reclassification - - - 332,780 (332,780) -
 Effect of exchange rate changes 913 282 1,975 69,329 10,477 82,976

 At 31 December 46,710 14,451 100,851 3,454,690 447,439 4,064,141

 Accumulated depreciation
 At 1 January - 13,019 58,016 2,200,077 - 2,271,112
 Charge for the financial year - 109 2,214 167,161 - 169,484
 Write off - - - (53,932) - (53,932)
 Effect of exchange rate changes - 263 1,217 46,884 - 48,364

 At 31 December - 13,391 61,447 2,360,190 - 2,435,028

 Accumulated impairment losses
 At 1 January - - - 417,144 - 417,144
 Reversal of impairment - - - (75,152) - (75,152)
 Effect of exchange rate changes - - - 6,351 - 6,351

 At 31 December - - - 348,343 - 348,343

 Carrying amount
 At 31 December 46,710 1,060 39,404 746,157 447,439 1,280,770

 Assets pledged as security

 Property, plant and equipment as at reporting date are pledged as security for borrowings as disclosed in Note 27.

 Capitalised borrowing costs

 The amount of borrowing costs capitalised during the year ended 31 December 2019 is RM31,164,000 (2018: RM6,321,000). 
The rate used to determine the amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is 4.56% (2018: 4.90%) which is the 
weighted average of the borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the Company.
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13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

 Reversal of impairment

 In financial year ended 31 December 2014, the company recognised an impairment of its plant, machinery and equipment. 
The impairment recognised was triggered by the declining trend in refining margins and the announcement by the relevant 
regulatory bodies of its intention to implement E4M and Euro 5 compliant fuel by 2018 and 2020 respectively. Assessment of 
the asset’s recoverable amount was made, and this resulted in the partial reversal of impairment in the previous and current 
financial years. Management and the Directors had assessed impairment for reversal after taking into consideration the  
successful completion of Clean Air Regulation (“CAR”) unit and higher certainty on the progress of the other key regulatory 
driven projects, namely Euro 5 Diesel and Hydrogen Generation (“H2GEN”) units. The recoverable amount of the refinery 
assets, being defined as a cash-generating-unit, was determined using the FVLCTS method based on management’s  
assessment adjusted for market conditions to reflect market participants’ perspective. The FVLCTS is the net present value 
of the projected future cashflow derived from the asset discounted at an appropriate discount rate. Refer Note 3(a) for the  
key assumptions used.

 Change in accounting estimates over estimated useful life of refinery

 In the previous financial year, the Board reviewed the remaining useful lives of the refinery following the assessment of the 
assets’ recoverable amount. Due to this, the estimated useful lives of some refinery assets were revised from 7 years to between 
11 to 28 years. The revision of the estimate had been applied on a prospective basis. The impact of the change in estimate on 
the Company’s profit or loss was a decrease in depreciation of RM10,785,000 in the previous financial year.

14 PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS
   2019 2018
   RM’000 RM’000

As at 1 January  1,643 1,632
Amortisation for the financial year  - (16)
Effect of exchange rate changes  - 27
Reclassification to ROU assets (Note 16)  (1,643) -

As at 31 December  - 1,643

 Prepaid lease payments as at reporting date are pledged as security for borrowings as disclosed in Note 27.

 The amortisation of prepaid lease payments is included in the “depreciation and amortisation” line item in the profit or loss.

15 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
   2019 2018
   RM’000 RM’000

Cost
At 1 January  58,864 56,862
Additions  5,588 843
Effect of exchange rate changes  (685) 1,159

At 31 December  63,767 58,864
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15 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

   2019 2018
   RM’000 RM’000

Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January  35,832 18,429
Amortisation for the financial year  14,405 16,634
Effect of exchange rate changes  (540) 769

At 31 December  49,697 35,832

Carrying amount
At 31 December   14,070 23,032

Intangible assets mainly relate to costs incurred by the Company in setting up its standalone IT systems.

The useful life of IT development and software is between 3 and 10 years (2018: 3 and 10 years).

The amortisation of IT development and software costs are included in the “depreciation and amortisation” line item in the 
profit or loss.

16 LEASES

(i) The balance sheet shows the following amounts relating to leases:

 Right-of-use assets

  Land lease  Equipment     Tugboats  Vehicles  Total 
2019 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000

 Cost 
At 1 January - - 34,497 1,780 36,277 
Reclassification (Note 14) 1,643 - - - 1,643 
Additions - 505 11,084 - 11,589 
Lease modification - - (10,463) - (10,463) 
Effect of exchange rate changes (17) (5) (372) (19) (413)

 At 31 December 1,626 500 34,746 1,761 38,633

 Accumulated depreciation/amortisation
 At 1 January - - 1,151 149 1,300
 Amortisation for the financial year 18 - - - 18
 Charge for the financial year - 83 7,692 356 8,131
 Lease modification - - (1,570) - (1,570)
 Effect of exchange rate changes (2) (1) (81) (5) (89)

 At 31 December 16 82 7,192 500 7,790

 Carrying amount
 At 31 December 1,610 418 27,554 1,261 30,843

 The depreciation of right-of-use assets is included in the “depreciation and amortisation” line item in the profit or loss.



126 2019  ANNUAL REPORT 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

FINANCIAL REPORTS

16 LEASES (continued)

(i) The balance sheet shows the following amounts relating to leases: (continued)

 Lease liabilities

   2019 2018
   RM’000 RM’000

 Current  7,336 - 
Non-current  23,421 -

 At 31 December  30,757 -

(ii) Nature of the lessee’s leasing activities and restrictions or covenants imposed by leases

 The Company leases various equipment, vehicles and tugboats. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed periods of  
3 to 5 years but may have extension options.

 Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.

 The lease agreements do not impose any covenants, but leased assets may not be used as security for borrowings,  
except for land lease.

(iii) Variable payments terms

 The Company does not have any variable payment terms on its lease agreements.

(iv) Extension options and termination options

 Extension and termination options are included in lease contracts across the Company. Lease terms are negotiated on an 
individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. Extension and termination options are included, 
when possible, to provide greater flexibility. The individual terms and conditions used vary across the lease contracts.  

 In cases in which the Company is not reasonably certain to exercise an optional extended lease term, payments associated 
with the optional period are not included within lease liabilities. 

 In the current financial year, the Company did not exercise any extension option, therefore no financial effect recognised in 
lease liabilities. However, the Company modified one of its lease contracts in the current financial year. Gain on modification 
of lease contract is included in “other income” line item in the profit or loss.

 Some of the lease agreements contain termination options. These options are used to limit the period to which the 
Company is committed to individual lease contracts and to maximise operational flexibility.

 For these lease agreements, recognised lease liabilities do not include potential future rental payments after the exercise 
date of termination options because the Company is not reasonably certain to extend the lease beyond that date. This is 
the case for most leases for which a longer lease term can be enforced only by the Company and not by the lessor, and for 
which there is no penalty associated with the option.
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16 LEASES (continued)

(v) Movement in lease payables and changes in lease liabilities arising from leasing activities is as below:

    2019
    RM’000

At 1 January/effects of transitioning to MFRS 16   36,398
 Repayment of principal portion of lease liabilities   (9,025)
Non-cash changes:  

Additions   11,589 
Modification of lease liabilities   (9,426)

 Interest expense (Note 8)   1,545
 Effect of exchange rate changes   (324)

 At 31 December   30,757

17 INVENTORIES
   2019 2018
   RM’000 RM’000

Crude oil  962,175 723,746

 Petroleum products  498,700 473,617

 Materials  30,581 20,797 
Allowance for inventories  (369) -

   30,212 20,797

   1,491,087 1,218,160

 Included within crude oil and petroleum products is stock in transit as at 31 December 2019 of RM361,849,000  
(2018: RM305,292,000).

 Inventories as at reporting date are pledged in favour of a vendor to secure credit lines for crude oil and product purchases.

18 TRADE RECEIVABLES 
   2019 2018
   RM’000 RM’000

Trade receivables  714,289 917,094
Less: Provision for impairment  (426) (1,254)

 Trade receivables   713,863 915,840

 The credit terms range between 15 to 30 days (2018: 15 to 30 days).

(i) Transferred receivables

 The carrying amounts of the trade receivables include receivables which are subject to a factoring arrangement. Under 
this arrangement, the Company has the right to transfer the relevant receivables to the financial institutions in exchange 
for cash upon submission of Purchase Request to the financial institutions when there is the need. Trade receivables are 
derecognised when the trade receivables are transferred to the financial institution through the factoring arrangement. 
In the event of default by the trade receivables, the financial institution has no recourse to the Company. The Company 
considers that the held to collect business model remains appropriate for these receivables and hence continues to measure 
them at amortised cost.
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18 TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

(ii) The Company maintains an aging analysis for trade receivables. The following table provides information 
about the exposure to ECL on trade receivables as at reporting date.

    Gross Impairment Net 
2019    RM’000  RM’000  RM’000

 Current    700,048 - 700,048
 1 to 30 days past due   13,619 - 13,619
 30 to 180 days past due   - - -
 More than 180 days past due   622 (426) 196

    714,289 (426) 713,863

 2018   

 Current    913,808 - 913,808
 1 to 30 days past due   1,846 - 1,846
 30 to 180 days past due   - - -
 More than 180 days past due   1,440 (1,254) 186

    917,094 (1,254) 915,840

(iii) Movement on the allowance for impairment of trade receivables is as follows:

   2019 2018
   RM’000 RM’000

 As at 1 January  1,254 1,306
 Amount written off  (824) -
 Reversal of provision for impairment  - (48)
 Effect of exchange rate changes  (4) (4)

 As at 31 December  426 1,254

 The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of each class of receivable mentioned 
above. The Company does not hold any collateral as security.

 Up to USD50,000,000 or RM204,800,000 of trade receivables as at reporting date are pledged in favour of a vendor to 
secure credit lines for crude oil purchases. 

19 OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS
   2019 2018
   RM’000 RM’000

Goods and Service Tax (“GST”) receivable  - 201,159
Other receivables and deposits  8,602 22,560
Prepayments  8,929 3,929
Sales tax receivables  979 695

   18,510 228,343

 The carrying amounts of financial assets (excluding prepayments, sales tax and GST) at the end of reporting date approximated 
their fair values.
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20 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)

 The Company has the following derivative financial instruments:

   2019 2018
   RM’000 RM’000

Current assets
Refining	margin	swap	contracts	–	cash	flow	hedges	 	 211,362 94,619
Refining	margin	swap	contracts	–	held	for	trading	 	 1,204 8,320
Forward	priced	commodity	contracts	–	held	for	trading	 	 - 26,209
Commodity	swap	contracts	–	held	for	trading	 	 103,194 22,291
Refining	margin	and	commodity	options	–	held	for	trading	 	 5,313 -

   321,073 151,439

Non-current assets
Refining	margin	swap	contracts	–	cash	flow	hedges	 	 5,087 133,392
Refining	margin	and	commodity	options	–	held	for	trading	 	 - 3,460

   5,087 136,852

Current liabilities
Refining	margin	swap	contracts	–	cash	flow	hedges	 	 13,918 244
Refining	margin	swap	contracts	–	held	for	trading	 	 6,156 2,280
Commodity	swap	contracts	–	held	for	trading	 	 111,498 -
Refining	margin	and	commodity	options	–	held	for	trading	 	 287 2,169
Forward	foreign	currency	contracts	–	held	for	trading	 	 4,227 3,557

   136,086 8,250

Non-current liabilities
Interest	rate	swap	contracts	–	cash	flow	hedges	 	 12,759 6,329
Refining	margin	swap	contracts	–	cash	flow	hedges	 	 840 -

   13,599 6,329

 Derivatives designated as hedging instrument

(a) Refining margin swap contracts

 The Company purchases crude on an ongoing basis as the Company requires continuous supply of crude to produce 
petroleum products. As a result of the volatility in crude price, the Company held refining margin swaps designated as 
hedge of highly probable forecast crude purchases or firm commitments and sales of petroleum products to reduce the 
volatility of cash flows.

 The contracts are intended to hedge the volatility of the refining margin (differences between purchase price of crude oil 
and sales price of petroleum products) for a period between 1 to 24 months (2018: 1 to 24 months). There was no forecast 
transactions for which hedge accounting had previously been used, but which is no longer expected to occur. 

 The cash flow hedges of the highly probable forecast crude purchases or firm purchase commitments and sales of  
petroleum products were assessed to be highly effective. During the year, a net unrealised loss of RM23,954,000  
(2018: unrealised gain of RM223,985,000), with a related deferred tax asset of RM5,749,000 (2018: deferred tax liability 
of RM53,756,000) was included in other comprehensive income in respect of these contracts. There is no ineffectiveness 
portion of hedge accounting during the current and previous financial year. 
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20 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) (continued)

 Derivatives designated as hedging instrument (continued)

(a) Refining margin swap contracts (continued)

 The amounts retained in other comprehensive income at 31 December 2019 are expected to mature and affect the profit 
or loss between 2020 to 2021. The amounts retained in other comprehensive income in the previous financial year had 
matured and had been recycled to profit or loss.

 The effects of the refining margin swap contracts on the Company’s financial position and performance are as follows:

   2019 2018

Carrying amount asset, net (RM’000)  201,691 227,767
Notional value (USD’000)  331,174 356,404
Maturity date  January 2020 to January 2019 to 

  June 2021  December 2020
Hedge ratio (%)  100 100
Change in fair value of designated hedging instruments (RM’000)  249,916 264,532
Change in value of hedged item used to determine  

hedge effectiveness (RM’000)  (249,916) (264,532)
Gross margin per barrel (USD)  5.50 to 23.05 13.75 to 23.05

(b) Interest rate swap contracts

 The Company enters into interest rate swap contracts to hedge cash flow interest rate risk arising from floating rate term 
loans (Note 27). This interest rate swap receives floating interest equal to LIBOR, pays a fixed rate of between 2.96% to 
3.03% and has the same maturity terms as the term loans. 

 The management considers the interest rate swaps as an effective hedging instrument as the term loans and the swaps 
have identical critical terms. During the year, a net unrealised loss of RM6,114,000 (2018: RM5,824,000), with a related 
deferred tax asset of RM1,467,000 (2018: RM1,398,000) was included in other comprehensive income in respect of these 
contracts. There was no ineffectiveness recognised in the current and previous financial year.

 The effects of the interest rate swap contracts on the Company’s financial position and performance are as follows:

   2019 2018

Carrying amount (liability) (RM’000)  (12,759) (6,329)
Notional amount (USD’000)  115,000 137,500
Maturity date  February 2023 February 2023
Hedge ratio (%)  100 100
Change in fair value of outstanding hedging  

instruments (RM’000)  (12,902) (6,167)
Change in value of hedged item used to determine  

hedge effectiveness (RM’000)  12,902 6,175
Weighted average hedged rate for the year (%)  2.97 2.97

 Refer to Note 24 for impact of hedging on cash flow hedge reserve and cost of hedging reserve.
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20 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) (continued)

 Derivatives not designated as hedging instrument

(a) Forward foreign exchange contracts

 The Company enters into forward foreign currency contracts to protect the Company from movements in exchange 
rates by establishing the rate at which foreign currency asset or liability will be settled. Forward currency contracts are 
mainly used to hedge cash receipts and cash payments denominated in currency other than the functional currency of  
the Company. 

(b) Forward priced commodity contracts

 The Company entered into crude purchase contracts with variability in the payables. The delivery and control of the crude 
is transferred at delivery date. The Company recognised the purchase of the crude as inventory on delivery date based on 
the forward priced of the crude. The variability in the payable associated with the crude price gives rise to an embedded 
derivative which is not closely related to the purchase contract. The embedded derivative is separated from the variable 
payables relating to the purchase of inventory. The Company has elected to adjust and reflect subsequent changes in the 
fair value of the embedded derivative as part of the cost of inventory.

(c) Commodity options, commodity swap contracts and refining margin swap contracts

 The Company also uses commodity options, commodity swap contracts and refining margin swap contracts to manage its 
commodity price risk and inventory holding cost. The Company does not designate these derivatives as hedging instrument.

21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
   2019 2018
   RM’000 RM’000

Bank balances  1,135,366 204,880
Less: Restricted cash  (98,578) (76,847)

   1,036,788 128,033

 Restricted cash comprise of amounts held in a debt service accrual account associated with the term loan facilities. 

22 SHARE CAPITAL
   2019 2018
   RM’000 RM’000

Issued and fully paid 300,000,000 units of ordinary shares
At 1 January/At 31 December  300,000 300,000

23 RETAINED EARNINGS

 The Company is able to distribute dividends out of its retained earnings under the single-tier system.
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24 OTHER RESERVES

(a) Cash flow hedge reserve and cost of hedging reserve

 The cash flow hedge reserve is used to record gains and losses on derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash 
flow hedges and that are recognised in other comprehensive income. Amounts are reclassified to profit or loss when the 
associated hedged transaction affects profit or loss.

 The cost of hedging is seen as cost of achieving the risk mitigation inherent in the hedge. It is incurred to protect the 
Company against unfavourable changes in price. The changes in the cost of hedging is initially recognised in other 
comprehensive income and removed from equity and recognised in profit or loss in the same period that the hedged cash 
flows affect profit or loss.

   Cash flow Cost of 
  hedge reserve hedging reserve 
  RM’000 RM’000

 2019

 At 1 January  196,512 (32,373)
 Interest rate swap contracts  (8,802) -
 Refining margin swap contracts  76,486 (2,218)
 Recycled to profit or loss, included in finance cost (Note 8)  2,688 -
 Recycled to profit or loss, included in purchases  (98,222) -
 Deferred tax  6,684 532

 At 31 December  175,346 (34,059)
 

 2018

 At 1 January  (1,727) -
 Interest rate swap contracts  (7,752) -
 Refining margin swap contracts  193,459 (42,598)
 Recycled to profit or loss, included in finance cost (Note 8)  1,928 -
 Recycled to profit or loss, included in purchases  73,124 -
 Deferred tax  (62,520) 10,225

 At 31 December  196,512 (32,373)
 

(b) Exchange translation reserve

 The exchange translation reserve represents the exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial  
statements of the Company whose functional currency is different from the presentation currency.
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25 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
   2019 2018
   RM’000 RM’000

Trade payables  714,235 70,189
Accruals for crude oil and petroleum products  946,463 591,895
Sundry accruals  91,931 138,296
Accruals for consumables and services  3,195 20,313
Accruals for capital expenditure  157,602 99,594

   1,913,426 920,287

 The Company’s trade payables and accruals for crude oil and petroleum products are non-interest bearing, unsecured, except 
for a balance amounting to RM491,130,000 (2018: RM427,240,000) which is secured by a charge against the Company’s 
hydrocarbon inventories and receivables as mentioned in Notes 17 and 18. The credit terms for trade payables range from 30 to 
45 days (2018: 30 to 45 days).

26 AMOUNTS DUE FROM IMMEDIATE HOLDING COMPANY/(TO) RELATED COMPANIES

 As at 31 December 2019, amounts owing from immediate holding company/(to) related companies is unsecured. Amounts due 
from immediate holding company/(to) related companies has credit terms of 30 days.

27 BORROWINGS
   2019 2018
   RM’000 RM’000

Term loans and revolving credits (secured)  1,381,913 1,150,632
Less: Amount repayable within 12 months  (796,054) (555,095)

Amount repayable after 12 months  585,859 595,537

 The remaining maturities of the borrowings are as follows:

Within 1 year  796,054 555,095
More than 1 year and less than 2 years  92,766 144,709
More than 2 years and less than 5 years  493,093 450,828

   1,381,913 1,150,632
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27 BORROWINGS (continued)

 Detailed below are changes in liabilities arising from financing activities:

   2019 2018
   RM’000 RM’000

At 1 January   1,150,632 1,205,008
Proceeds from borrowings  4,518,922 2,145,825
Repayment of borrowings (includes interest paid)  (4,320,682) (2,280,907)
Non-cash changes:
- Interest accrued  47,700 43,562
- Amortisation of term loan commitment fees  166 15,142
- Effect of exchange rate changes  (14,825) 22,002

At 31 December  1,381,913 1,150,632

As at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018, the Company does not have any unsecured borrowings.

 Details of the facilities are set out below:

•	 The	term	loan	principal	is	repayable	every	6	to	12	months	until	final	maturity	date	in	February	2023.

•	 The	revolving	credits	are	short	term	and	will	mature	within	one	year	from	the	reporting	date.

•	 Both	the	term	loans	and	revolving	credits	are	subject	to	interest	at	LIBOR	+	1.60%	per	annum.

•	 The	borrowings	are	secured:

–	 by	way	of	a	first	fixed	charge,	the	refinery	plant	owned	by	the	Company	and	the	Company’s	interest	in	the	refinery	plant.	
The refinery plant means assets, fixtures and equipment described further in the valuation report issued by Appraisal & 
Valuation Consultants Ltd dated 16 May 2017 and excludes stock in trade, such as feedstock, intermediate and finished 
products, and land;

–	 by	way	of	a	first	floating	charge,	the	Company’s	undertaking	and	all	assets,	both	present	and	future	in	the	refinery	plant	as	
stated above if and insofar as the charges therein contained shall for any reason be ineffective as fixed charges;

–	 a	charge	over	lands	belonging	to	the	Company;	and

–	 by	way	of	a	first	fixed	charge	and	assigns	and	agrees	to	assign	absolutely	to	the	Chargee,	free	from	all	liens,	charges	and	
other encumbrances, each designated bank account (including the debt service reserve account, income accounts and  
settlement accounts, which are further defined in the relevant security document), all the Company’s present and future 
rights, title and interest in and to such designated accounts and all amounts (including interest) standing to the credit of the 
designated bank accounts.

 The effective interest rates of the Company’s borrowings at the end of the reporting period ranged between 3.50% to 4.34% 
(2018: 3.37% to 4.29%) per annum.

 The fair value of borrowings outstanding as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018 approximated its carrying amount.
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28 DEFERRED TAXATION

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current 
tax liabilities and when the deferred taxes relate to the same tax authority. 

 The movements in deferred tax during the financial year are as follows:

   2019 2018
   RM’000 RM’000

As at 1 January as previously stated  (38,192) (42,042)
Effects of transitioning to MFRS 16  341 -

As restated as at 1 January  (37,851) (42,042)

(Charged)/credited to profit or loss (Note 10):
- property, plant and equipment  (35,458) (24,856)
- unrealised foreign exchange  (3,062) 640
- derivative financial assets  (18,361) (7,340)
- inventories  88 (88)
- trade receivables  - (311)
- unused tax losses  (40,472) 54,140
- other payables and accruals  (645) (3,800)
- derivative financial liabilities  27,705 (942)
- unabsorbed capital allowances  (40,918) 39,428
- right-of-use assets  1,951 -
- lease liabilities  (1,801) -

   (110,973) 56,871

Credited/(charged) to other comprehensive income (Note 24)
- cash flow hedge reserve and cost of hedging reserve  7,216 (52,295)

Effect of exchange rate changes  386 (726)

As at 31 December  (141,222) (38,192)

Deferred tax liabilities (before offsetting):
- property, plant and equipment  (170,403) (134,228)
- unrealised foreign exchange  (3,125) (100)
- derivative financial assets  (78,281) (62,899)
- right-of-use assets  (7,016) -

   (258,825) (197,227)
Offsetting  117,603 159,035

As at 31 December (after offsetting)  (141,222) (38,192)



136 2019  ANNUAL REPORT 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

FINANCIAL REPORTS

28 DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

 The movements in deferred tax during the financial year are as follows: (continued)

   2019 2018
   RM’000 RM’000

Deferred tax assets (before offsetting):
- unused tax losses  71,618 111,641
- inventories  88 -
- other payables and accruals  2,789 3,430
- derivative financial liabilities  35,727 3,500
- lease liabilities  7,381 -
- unabsorbed capital allowances  - 40,464

   117,603 159,035
Offsetting  (117,603) (159,035)

As at 31 December (after offsetting)   - -

The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities is as follows:

Deferred tax liabilities: 
- to be settled after more than 12 months  (164,422) (37,562)
- to be settled within 12 months  (94,403) (159,665)

   (258,825) (197,227)

Deferred tax assets:
- to be recovered after more than 12 months  80,304 113,164
- to be recovered within 12 months  37,299 45,871

   117,603 159,035

Deferred tax liabilities, net  (141,222) (38,192)

 The benefits of unutilised tax losses can be carried for seven consecutive years of assessment (“YA”) i.e. YA2019 to YA2025 
based on the Malaysia Finance Act 2018. The benefits will be obtained when the Company derives future assessable income  
of a nature and of an amount sufficient for these carried forward tax losses to be utilised.

 During the year, unutilised tax losses for which deferred tax assets has not been recognised amounted to RM188,300,000.  
This is because it is not probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available within the first six years (i.e. YA2020 to YA2025) 
against which the tax losses can be utilised. Refer to Note 3(b) for the details on unrecognised tax losses.
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29 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTIES DISCLOSURES

 For the purposes of these financial statements, parties are considered to be related to the Company if the party has the ability, 
directly or indirectly, to control the Company or exercise significant influence over the Company in making financial and operating 
decisions, or vice versa, or where the Company and the party are subject to common control or common significant influence. 
Related parties may be individuals or other entities.

 Key management personnel are defined as those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and 
controlling the activities of the Company either directly or indirectly. 

 Related parties of the Company comprise of Shandong Hengyuan Petrochemical Group Company Limited and its related 
companies.

 In addition to related party disclosures mentioned elsewhere in the financial statements, set out below are other significant 
related party transactions. The transactions described below were carried out on agreed terms.

   2019 2018
   RM’000 RM’000

 Transactions with immediate holding company: 
Malaysia Hengyuan International Limited (“MHIL”)

Income
(i) Sale of refined products  273,127 43,054

 Expenses
(i) Purchase of refined products  (8,459) (22,031)

(ii) Central management and administrative charges  (6,084) (6,464)

(iii) Technical advisory charges  (7,345) (7,812)

 Transactions with a fellow subsidiary of the immediate holding company:

 Expenses
(i) Purchase of refined products  (5,033) -

(ii) Central management and administrative charges  (3,480) -

(iii) Technical advisory charges  (10,767) -

 Key management personnel are those persons who have authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling  
the activities of the Company either directly or indirectly. Key management personnel of the Company include the Board of 
Directors and senior management personnel of the Company.

   2019 2018
   RM’000 RM’000

Compensation for key management personnel:
- salaries, bonus and allowances    7,744 5,524
- fees   1,933 1,974
- defined contribution plan  366 162
- benefits in kind  4 8
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30 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

 The Company is a member of an oil spill fund, namely the International Oil Pollution Compensation (“IOPC”) 1992 Fund. The 
purpose of the Fund is to help compensate parties that suffer financial loss as a result of oil spill from tankers. The members make 
contributions to the Funds depending on specific global oil spill incidents, which give rise to payments of compensation by the 
Funds. The contingent liability is unsecured, and as at the date of this report, there are no material claims outstanding.

31 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

 Approved capital expenditure for property, plant and equipment not provided for in the financial statements are as follows:

   2019 2018
   RM’000 RM’000

Approved and contracted for  291,181 622,680
Approved but not contracted for  185,052 420,238

32 SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

 The Company is principally engaged in the business of refining and manufacturing of petroleum products in Malaysia, which is 
a single business segment. The Company’s primary operations are also concentrated within Malaysia, hence operating within 
a single geographical segment. Accordingly, no segmental information is considered necessary for analysis by business or by 
geographical segments.

 This is consistent with the internal management reports reviewed by the Board of Directors (chief operating decision maker of 
the Company) where performance of the Company is measured based on refining margins and profit before tax recognised as 
a single business and geographical segment.

 In 2019, one customer on an individual basis, contributed revenue exceeding 69% (2018: 71%) of total revenue for the financial 
year, amounting to RM8,725,453,000 (2018: RM8,010,291,000).

33 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 
   2019 2018
   RM’000 RM’000

Financial assets
Financial assets designated as hedging instrument
 - Derivative financial assets  216,449 228,011

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss
 - Derivative financial assets  109,711 60,280

Financial assets at amortised cost
 - Trade receivables  713,863 915,840
 - Amounts due from immediate holding company  - 7,745
 - Other receivables excluding prepayment and statutory assets  8,602 22,560
 - Bank balances  1,135,366 204,880

   1,857,831 1,151,025

Total  2,183,991 1,439,316
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33 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued)

   2019 2018
   RM’000 RM’000

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities designated as hedging instrument
 - Derivative financial liabilities  27,517 6,573

Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss
 - Derivative financial liabilities  122,168 8,006

Other financial liabilities at amortised cost
 - Trade and other payables excluding statutory liabilities  1,900,454 916,038
 - Amounts due to related companies  23,749 24,982
 - Borrowings  1,381,913 1,150,632
 - Lease liabilities  30,757 -

   3,336,873 2,091,652

Total  3,486,558 2,106,231

34 DIVIDENDS

 The Company did not declare any dividend for the financial year ended 31 December 2019.

35 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

 As indicated in Note 2.1(a), the Company has adopted MFRS 16 “Leases” retrospectively from 1 January 2019, but has not 
restated comparatives for the 2018 reporting period, as permitted under the specific transitional provisions in the standard. The 
impact of initial adoption of MFRS 16 are recognised in the opening balance sheet on 1 January 2019. The new accounting 
policies are disclosed in Note 2.20.

 On adoption of MFRS 16, the Company recognised lease liabilities in relation to leases which had previously been classified 
as “operating leases” under the principles of MFRS 117 “Leases”. These liabilities were measured at the present value of the 
remaining lease payments, discounted using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rates as of 1 January 2019. The weighted 
average lessee’s incremental borrowing rate applied to the lease liabilities on 1 January 2019 was 4.50% per annum.

(i) Practical expedients applied

 In applying MFRS 16 for the first time, the Company has used the following practical expedients permitted by the standard:

•	 the	use	of	a	single	discount	rate	to	a	portfolio	of	leases	with	reasonably	similar	characteristics;

•	 reliance	on	previous	assessments	on	whether	leases	are	onerous;

•	 the	accounting	for	operating	leases	with	remaining	lease	term	of	less	than	12	months	as	at	1	January	2019	as	short-
term leases; 

•	 the	accounting	for	operating	leases	for	which	the	underlying	asset	is	of	low	value;

•	 the	exclusion	of	initial	direct	costs	for	the	measurement	of	the	right-of-use	asset	at	the	date	of	initial	application,	and

•	 the	use	of	hindsight	in	determining	the	lease	term	where	the	contract	contains	options	to	extend	or	terminate	the	lease.
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35 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(ii) Measurement of lease liabilities

 The reconciliation between operating lease commitments disclosed applying MFRS 117 at 31 December 2018 to the lease 
liabilities recognised at 1 January 2019 is as follows:

    RM’000

  Operating lease commitments disclosed as at 31 December 2018   -
 Add:
  Existing contracts as at 31 December 2018 previously assessed as operating lease  36,398

  Lease liabilities recognised as at 1 January 2019   36,398

 Of which are: 
 Current lease liabilities   6,782 
 Non-current lease liabilities   29,616

     36,398

(iii) Measurement of right-of-use assets

 The associated right-of-use assets were measured on a retrospective basis as if the new rules had been applied. There were 
no onerous lease contracts that would have required an adjustment to the right-of-use assets on 1 January 2019.

(iv) Adjustments recognised in the balance sheet as at 1 January 2019

 The change in accounting policy affected the following items in the balance sheet on 1 January 2019:

•	 Right-of-use	of	assets	–	increase	by	RM34,977,000

•	 Deferred	tax	assets	–	increase	by	RM341,000

•	 Lease	liabilities	–	increase	by	RM36,398,000

The net impact on retained earnings on 1 January 2019 was a decrease of RM1,080,000.

36 SUBSEQUENT EVENT

 The wide spread of the Covid-19 since the beginning of 2020 and slump in oil prices from March 2020 is a fluid and challenging 
situation facing all industries. The Company had performed a preliminary assessment of the overall impact of the situation on  
the Company’s operations and its cash flows. The uncertainty in oil prices and the consequential impact to refining margins 
together with the economic uncertainty arising from the Covid-19 outbreak may have an impact on the financial results and 
carrying amount of the property, plant and equipment of the Company. At this juncture, management is unable to reliably 
estimate the financial impact on the Company’s carrying amount of assets and liabilities, and results for the next financial year. 
The Company will continue to monitor the situation, take appropriate and timely actions to minimise the impact.

37 APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 The financial statements have been approved for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors on  
8 May 2020.
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No Tenure Address

Land area 
(square 
feet) Description

Age of 
properties/

buildings
Date of last 
evaluation

Land 
NBV 

RM’000

Land  
Improvement  

NBV 
RM’000

Buildings 
NBV 

RM’000

Net book 
value 

RM'000

1 Freehold 1236 – 1238 
GRN 62766 – 62768 
87, Jln Resthouse 
Port Dickson

76,973 A club house 
and training 
centre

55 years 01.01.1991  984 –   1,207 2,191

2 Freehold Lot 3 HS(D) 1310 
Jln Pantai 
Port Dickson

6,284,186 Refinery 56 years 01.01.1991   20,274    938   34,627 55,839

3 Freehold Lot 138 
GRN 51925 
Port Dickson

39,115 Oil Spill 
Response 
Centre

55 years 01.01.1991   239 –    258 497

4 Freehold Lot 798 GM 3203 
Kg Arab 
Port Dickson

49,955 Tank Farm 31 years 01.01.1991   128 – – 128

5 Freehold Lot 196 GM 3208 
Kg Gelam 
Port Dickson

242,845 Reserved Land 32 years 01.01.1991      628 – – 628

6 Freehold Lot 195 GM 3207 
Kg Gelam 
Port Dickson

249,389 Reserved Land 32 years 01.01.1991      634 – –   634  

7 Freehold PT 1369 HSD 35655 
Port Dickson

1,725,885 Reserved Land, 
Tank Farm

33 years 01.01.1991   5,176 – –   5,176

8 Freehold PT 1370 HSD 35656 
Port Dickson

378,384 Reserved Land, 
TA Office

33 years 01.01.1991  1,135 –     248 1,383

9 Freehold PT 1371 HSD 35657 
Port Dickson

132,030 Reserved Land 33 years 01.01.1991  396 – –   396 

10 Freehold PT 10747 HSD 35658 
Port Dickson

205,558 Reserved Land 33 years 03.09.1991     543 – –   543 

11 Freehold Lot 12284 & 12290 
GM 1961, GM 3201 
Port Dickson

112,052 Refinery 24 years 31.08.2000  438 – – 438 

12 Freehold LoT 596 GRN 244911 
Port Dickson

100,826 Tank Farm 24 years 31.08.2000 542 – –    542 

13 Freehold Lot 5471 – 5494 
GM 994 – 1017 
Lot 5496 – 5540 
GM 1019 – 1063 
Port Dickson

188,799 Tank Farm 22 years 31.08.2000   1,150 – –      1,150 

14 Freehold Lot 950 GM 2721 
Port Dickson

104,819 Reserved Land 23 years 31.08.2000   664 – –      664 

COMPANY PROPERTIES 
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019
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COMPANY PROPERTIES 
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

No Tenure Address

Land area 
(square 
feet) Description

Age of 
properties/

buildings
Date of last 
evaluation

Land 
NBV 

RM’000

Land  
Improvement  

NBV 
RM’000

Buildings 
NBV 

RM’000

Net book 
value 

RM'000

15 Freehold Lot 12425 – 12456 
GRN 146936 –146967 
Lot 5441 HSD 4418 
Lot 12458 – 12486 
GRN 146968 – 146996 
Port Dickson

212,544 Tank Farm 23 years 31.08.2000  1,111 – –   1,111 

16 Freehold Lot 834 GRN 70791 
Port Dickson

353,110 Reserved Land 24 years 31.08.2000  1,557 – –  1,557 

17 Freehold Lot 6674 GM 2774 
Port Dickson

97,726 For Pipeline 
to Jetty

30 years 01.01.1991    534 – –    534 

18 Freehold Lot 1323 GM 3199 
Port Dickson

178,595 For Pipeline 
to Jetty

30 years 01.01.1991   829 – –   829 

19 Freehold Lot 6671 GM 2771 
Port Dickson

84,249 For Pipeline 
to Jetty

30 years 01.01.1991  426 – –  426 

20 Freehold Lot 6672 GM 3195 
Kg Gelam 
Port Dickson

59,395 For Pipeline 
to Jetty

30 years 01.01.1991     328 – –     328 

21 Freehold Lot 192 GM 3206 
Kg Gelam 
Port Dickson

148,101 For Pipeline 
to Jetty

31 years 01.01.1991    405 – –    405 

22 Freehold Lot 247 GM 3202 
Port Dickson

120,330 For Pipeline 
to Jetty

31 years 01.01.1991       303 – –       303 

23 Freehold Lot 191 GM 3205 
Kg Gelam 
Port Dickson

134,495 For Pipeline 
to Jetty

32 years 01.01.1991    566 – –    566 

24 Freehold Lot 190 GM 3204 
Kg Gelam 
Port Dickson

131,770 For Pipeline 
to Jetty

32 years 01.01.1991   527 – –   527 

25 Freehold Lot 909 GRN 69309 
Port Dickson

86,768 For Pipeline 
to Jetty

28 years 01.01.1991   394 – –   394 

26 Freehold Lots 178 – 180 
GM 3196 – 3198 
Port Dickson

448,673 For Pipeline 
to Jetty

28 years 01.01.1991   1,984 – –   1,984 

27 Freehold Lot 1300 GM 3194 
Kg Gelam 
Port Dickson

58,200 For Pipeline 
to Jetty

29 years 01.01.1991  368 – –  368

28 Freehold Lot 3948 – 3951 
GM 2619 – 2622 
Port Dickson

5,042 Refinery Buffer 
Zone

23 years 30.04.2001    314 – –    314 
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No Tenure Address

Land area 
(square 
feet) Description

Age of 
properties/

buildings
Date of last 
evaluation

Land 
NBV 

RM’000

Land  
Improvement  

NBV 
RM’000

Buildings 
NBV 

RM’000

Net book 
value 

RM'000

29 Freehold Lot 3974 – 3977 
GM 2632 – 2635 
Port Dickson

5,042 Refinery 
Buffer Zone

23 years 30.04.2001   314 – –  314 

30 Freehold Lot 4961 – 4968 
GM 475 – 482 
Port Dickson

34,789 Refinery 
Buffer Zone

23 years 30.04.2001  1,158 – –  1,158 

31 Freehold Lot 5402 – 5407 
GM 345 –  350 
Port Dickson

21,883 Refinery 
Buffer Zone

23 years 30.04.2001   820 – –   820 

32 Freehold Lot 10533 GM 1653 
Kg Gelam 
Port Dickson

2,002 Refinery 
Buffer Zone

26 years 31.08.2000      18 – –      18 

33 Freehold Lot 9196 – 9214 
GM 1770 – 1788 & 
Lot 12105 GM 2959 
Kg Gelam 
Port Dickson

40,322 Refinery 
Buffer Zone

26 years 31.08.2000      364 – –      364 

34 Freehold Lot 12104 GM 2859 
Kg Gelam 
Port Dickson

570 Refinery 
Buffer Zone

26 years 31.08.2000     56 – –     56 

35 Freehold Lot 1312 – 1314 
GM 1600 – 1602 
Lot 1317 – 1318 
GM 1605 – 1606 
Port Dickson

49,729 Reserved Land 55 years 01.01.1991   307 – –   307 

36 Freehold Lot 764 GRN 65945 
Port Dickson

9,009 Reserved Land 56 years 01.01.1991   56 – –   56 

37 Freehold Lot 12086 GM 3200 
Port Dickson

62,614 Reserved Land 12 years 28.03.2008  548 – –  548 

38 Freehold Lot 9060 GM 2720 
Port Dickson

9,149 Reserved Land 56 years 01.01.1991 4 – – 4

39 Leasehold PT 9451 HSD 29075 
Mukim Port Dickson

2,822,620 Jetty Land 27 years 10.04.2004   1,643 –    374 2,017

15,067,542   47,863    938 36,714    85,515 
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FINANCIAL REPORTS

ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS 
AS AT 15 APRIL 2020

Issued and Paid-up Capital : RM300,000,000 comprising 300,000,000 ordinary shares

Class of Shares : Ordinary shares

Voting Rights : One vote per ordinary share held

Size of Holdings No of Holders % No of Shares %

1	–	99 1,006 6.406 6,410 0.002

100	–	1,000 5,545 35.313 3,985,604 1.328

1,001	–	10,000 7,560 48.146 29,501,436 9.833

10,001	–	100,000 1,457 9.279 39,541,311 13.180

100,001	–	14,999,999	(*) 132 0.840 73,896,237 24.632

15,000,000	and	above	(**) 2 0.012 153,069,002 51.023

Total 15,702 100.000 300,000,000 100.000

Remark: * Less Than 5% of Issued Shares 
** 5% and Above of Issued Shares

LIST OF TOP 30 SHAREHOLDERS

No Name Shareholdings %

1 RHB Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
Malaysia Hengyuan International Limited

113,701,002 37.900

2 AMSEC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
Pledged Securities Account - Ambank (M) Berhad for Malaysia Hengyuan 
International Limited

39,368,000 13.122

3 AMANAHRAYA Trustees Berhad
Amanah Saham Bumiputera

10,629,100 3.543

4 Kam Loong Mining Sdn Bhd 6,250,000 2.083

5 Citigroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
Employees Provident Fund Board

6,043,447 2.014

6 Foo Khen Ling 5,985,200 1.995

7 Kenanga Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
Pledged Securities Account for Goh Ching Mun

2,220,000 0.740

8 Public Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
Pledged Securities Account for Lim Hock Fatt (E-SS2)

2,151,200 0.717

9 Tan Kah Hock 2,000,000 0.666

10 Alliancegroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
Pledged Securities Account for Helina Shanti Solomon (7001761)

1,415,000 0.471
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LIST OF TOP 30 SHAREHOLDERS (continued)

No Name Shareholdings %

11 HSBC Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd
JPMCB NA for New York State Common Retirement Fund

1,334,600 0.444

12 Alliancegroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
Pledged Securities Account for Inbamanay A/P M J Arumanayagam (8061712)

1,080,000 0.360

13 Alliancegroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
Pledged Securities Account for Deva Dassan Solomon (8041850)

949,700 0.316

14 Wong Siew Fah 910,000 0.303

15 Citigroup Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd
CBNY for Emerging Market Core Equity Portfolio DFA Investment Dimensions  
Group Inc

899,500 0.299

16 UOB Kay Hian Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd
Exempt an for UOB Kay Hian Pte Ltd (A/C Clients)

856,350 0.285

17 Kam Loong Credit Sdn Bhd 845,000 0.281

18 Eletechnics Sdn Bhd 800,000 0.266

19 Law King Yong 800,000 0.266

20 HSBC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
HSBC (M) Trustee Bhd for Manulife Investment Progress Fund (4082)

797,200 0.265

21 Malaysia Nominees (Tempatan) Sendirian Berhad
Lee Foundation, States of Malaya (00-00197-000)

790,000 0.263

22 Citigroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
Pledged Securities Account for Deva Dassan Solomon (473163)

784,300 0.261

23 Alliancegroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
Pledged Securities Account for Selina Sharmalar Solomon (8112136)

780,000 0.260

24 Soon Hock Teong 736,000 0.245

25 Reuben Tan Cherh Chung 700,000 0.233

26 Lim Soo Hian 573,000 0.191

27 RHB Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
Pledged Securities Account for Chung Keen Mean

554,300 0.184

28 MAYBANK Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
Pledged Securities Account for Ng Aun Hooi

547,000 0.182

29 Citigroup Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd
CBNY for Dimensional Emerging Markets Value Fund

526,298 0.175

30 Yong Koy 502,000 0.167

Total 205,528,197 68.509
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FINANCIAL REPORTS

ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS 
AS AT 15 APRIL 2020

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS HOLDINGS

No Name Investor ID Shareholdings %

1 RHB Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
Malaysia Hengyuan International Limited

259064V 113,701,002 37.900

2 AMSEC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
Pledged Securities Account - Ambank (M) Berhad for
Malaysia Hengyuan International Limited

102918T 39,368,000 13.122

Total 153,069,002 51.023

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S SHAREHOLDINGS

No Name
Total  

Shareholdings 
Percentage 

(%)

1 Wang, YouDe 0 0.00

2 Wang, ZongQuan 0 0.00

3 Alan Hamzah Sendut 0 0.00

4 Fauziah Hisham 0 0.00

5 Liang Kok Siang 0 0.00

6 Surinderdeep Singh Mohindar Singh 0 0.00

Total 0 0.00
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DIRECTORS’ MEETING ATTENDANCE FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 2019

The following information sets out the attendance of each Director at general meetings, board meetings and board committee 

meetings of the Company held in the year 2019.

BOARD AND GENERAL MEETINGS

Name of Members
Board Meeting 

Attendance During the  
Director’s Term in Office

General Meeting  
Attendance During the  

Director’s Term in Office

Wang, YouDe 6/6 100% 1/1 100%

Wang, ZongQuan 6/6 100% 1/1 100%

Lim Tau Kien (a) 2/2 100% N/A N/A

Alan Hamzah Sendut 6/6 100% 1/1 100%

Fauziah Hisham 6/6 100% 1/1 100%

Liang Kok Siang 6/6 100% 1/1 100%

Surinderdeep Singh Mohindar Singh (b) 4/4 100% 1/1 100%

Note: 
Total number of Board meetings in 2019: 6  

Total number of General Meeting: 1

(a) Lim Tau Kien resigned from the Board of Directors with effect from 22 February 2019. 

(b)  Surinderdeep Singh Mohindar Singh was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director of HRC with effect from  
23 February 2019.

BOARD AUDIT COMMITTEE MEETING

Name of Members
Attendance During the 

Director’s Term in Office

Alan Hamzah Sendut (Chair) 6/6 100%

Lim Tau Kien (a) 2/2 100%

Fauziah Hisham 6/6 100%

Liang Kok Siang 6/6 100%

Surinderdeep Singh Mohindar Singh (b) 4/4 100%

Note: 
Total number of Board Audit Committee meetings in 2019: 6

(a) Lim Tau Kien resigned from the Board Audit Committee with effect from 22 February 2019.

(b)  Surinderdeep Singh Mohindar Singh was appointed as a member of the Board Audit Committee with effect from  
23 February 2019.

ADDITIONAL CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
DISCLOSURES
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OTHER INFORMATION

BOARD NOMINATING AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE MEETING

Name of Members
Attendance During the 

Director’s Term in Office

Lim Tau Kien (Chair) (a) 1/1 100%

Wang, YouDe 4/4 100%

Fauziah Hisham 4/4 100%

Surinderdeep Singh Mohindar Singh (Chair) (b) 3/3 100%

Note: 
Total number of Board Nominating and Remuneration Committee meetings in 2019: 4

(a) Lim Tau Kien resigned from the Board Nominating and Remuneration Committee with effect from 22 February 2019.

(b)  Surinderdeep Singh Mohindar Singh was appointed as Chair of the Board Nominating and Remuneration Committee with effect 
from 23 February 2019.

BOARD RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE MEETING

Name of Members
Attendance During the 

Director’s Term in Office

Wang, ZongQuan (Chair) 4/4 100%

Alan Hamzah Sendut 4/4 100%

Liang Kok Siang 4/4 100%

Note: 
Total number of Board Risk Management Committee meetings in 2019: 4

BOARD PROJECTS REVIEW COMMITTEE MEETING

Name of Members
Attendance During the 

Director’s Term in Office

Wang, YouDe (Chair) 3/3 100%

Wang, ZongQuan 3/3 100%

Lim Tau Kien (a)  N/A N/A

Surinderdeep Singh Mohindar Singh (b) 3/3 100%

Note: 
Total number of Board Projects Review Committee meetings in 2019: 3

(a) Lim Tau Kien resigned from the Board Projects Review Committee with effect from 22 February 2019.

(b) Surinderdeep Singh Mohindar Singh was appointed as a member of the Board Projects Review Committee with effect from  
23 February 2019.

ADDITIONAL CORPORATE GOVERNANCE DISCLOSURES 



149HENGYUAN REFINING COMPANY BERHAD 

BOARD TENDER COMMITTEE MEETING

Name of Members
Attendance During the 

Director’s Term in Office

Wang, YouDe (Chair) (a) 1/1 100%

Wang, ZongQuan (a) 1/1 100%

Alan Hamzah Sendut 2/2 100%

Liang Kok Siang 2/2 100%

Surinderdeep Singh Mohindar Singh (b) 1/1 100%

Note: 
Total number of Board Tender Committee meetings in 2019: 2

(a) A Board Tender Committee Meeting (The Meeting) was conducted in October 2019 for the deliberation of the Hengyuan 
International Sdn Bhd (HISB) transactions. As nominees of the major shareholder, Wang, YouDe and Wang, Zongquan were 
deemed interested in the transactions with HISB and were required to abstain from deliberating and voting on such transactions.

(b)  Surinderdeep Singh Mohindar Singh is not a member of Board Tender Committee. However, he was appointed at the  
261st Board of Director’s Meeting as alternate member of the Board Tender Committee to attend The Meeting in relation to  
the deliberation of the HISB transactions. 

BOARD WHISTLEBLOWING COMMITTEE MEETING

The Board Whistleblowing Committee was established on 27 November 2019 and held its first meeting on 27 November 2019  
immediately after its formation.

Name of Members
Attendance During the 

Director’s Term in Office

Liang Kok Siang (Chair) 1/1 100%

Wang, YouDe 1/1 100%

Alan Hamzah Sendut 1/1 100%

Note: 
Total number of Board Whistleblowing Committee meetings in 2019: 1
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

A summary of the in-house continuing education programmes and external trainings attended by the Directors of HRC for the  
financial year ended 2019 is set out below:

1 January 2019 to
31 March 2019

•	 Mandatory	Accreditation	Programme	(MAP),	organised	by	The	Iclif	Leadership	and	Governance	Centre	
(Iclif)

•	 “Let’s	Get	Real”	on	Anti-Bribery,	organised	by	Iclif	

•	 Islamic	 Finance	 for	 Board	 of	 Directors	 Programme,	 organised	 by	 International	 Shari’ah	 Research	
Academy (ISRA)

•	 Sustainability:	Governance	2019	Towards	long	term	value	creation,	organised	by	Corporate	Governance	
Board Asia Pacific

•	 Directors’	Duties	&	Powers	–	Recent	Developments	in	the	Law	and	How	It	Affects	You,	organised	by	
Hong Leong Financial Group (HLFG)

•	 Related	 Party	 Transactions	 (RPTs)	 &	 Conflict	 Of	 Interest,	 Including	 The	 “Arms-Length	 Issue”	 On	
Transactions	–	 Implications	to	the	Board,	Audit	Committee	&	Management,	organised	by	Malaysian	
Institute of Corporate Governance (MICG)

•	 1st Distinguished Board Leadership Series “Reading the Signs: The next financial crisis and its potential 
impact on Asia”, organised by Financial Institutions Director’s Education Programme (FIDE)

1 April 2019 to
30 June 2019

•	 BNM-FIDE	FORUM	Dialogue	with	the	Deputy	Governor	on	the	draft	Risk	Management	in	Technology	
Policy, organised by FIDE

•	 Understanding	Liquidity	Risk	Management	in	Banking,	organised	by	Iclif	

•	 “CG	Watch:	How	Does	Malaysia	Rank?”,	organised	by	Iclif

•	 Elective	Programme	:	Understanding	the	Evolving	Cybersecurity	Landscape,	organised	by	FIDE	and	Iclif

•	 Enterprise	Risk	Management	–	The	Essential	Building	Blocks	For	A	Holistic	&	Robust	ERM	Framework,	
organised by MICG

•	 Half	Day	Seminar	on	Board	Evaluation	&	Effectiveness	Assessment,	organised	by	MICG

•	 Demystifying	the	Diversity	Conundrum:	The	Road	to	Business	Excellence,	organised	by	Bursa	Malaysia

•	 Corporate	Governance	Advocacy	Programme	–	Cyber	Security	in	the	Boardroom,	organised	by	Bursa	
Malaysia

•	 My	Fintech	Week	2019,	organised	by	Bank	Negara	Malaysia	(BNM)

•	 Cyber	Security	in	the	Boardroom,	organised	by	Deloitte	Risk	Advisory	

ADDITIONAL CORPORATE GOVERNANCE DISCLOSURES 
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1 July 2019 to
30 September 
2019

•	 Corporate	Liability	on	Corruption,	organised	by	MICG	and	Star	Media	Group	Berhad

•	 Adoption	 of	 Practices	 for	 Meaningful	 Corporate	 Governance,	 organised	 by	 Malaysian	 Code	 on	
Corporate Governance (MCCG)

•	 Half-Day	Seminar	on	Assessment	of	the	Board,	Board	Committees	&	Individual	Directors,	organised	by	
MICG

•	 Members’	Breakfast	Talk	on	Whistleblowing	From	a	Practitioners’	View	Point,	organised	by	MICG

•	 Series	7:	Establishing	and	Empowered	Board	Risk	Committee,	organised	by	iERP

•	 Series	9:	Directors	Guide	to	BCM	and	ISO	22301,	organised	by	iERP

•	 Series	 11:	 Directors	 guide	 to	 Risk	 Maturity	 Frameworks,	 organised	 by	 Institute	 of	 Enterprise	 Risk	
Practitioners (iERP)

•	 Series	12:	Cybersecurity	Oversight	in	the	Boardroom,	organised	by	iERP

•	 Institute	of	Enterprise	Risk	Practitioners	(“iERP”)	Global	Conference,	organised	by	iERP

•	 Regional	Conference	on	Climate	Change,	organised	by	BNM

•	 Maybank	2019	Annual	Risk	Workshop,	organised	by	Malayan	Banking	Berhad

•	 Board	Strategy	Session	:	“Future	of	Banking	–	Key	Trends	and	Outlook”,	organised	by	Oliver	Wyman	
Management Consulting Company 

1 October 2019 to
31 December 
2019

•	 International	Directors	Summit	2019,	organised	by	Institute	of	Corporate	Directors	Malaysia	(ICDM)

•	 Audit	 Oversight	 Board	 -	 Conversation	 with	 Audit	 Committees,	 organised	 by	 Securities	 Commission	
Malaysia (SCM)

•	 PNB	Corporate	Summit,	organised	by	Permodalan	Nasional	Berhad	(PNB)

•	 Islamic	Jurisprudence	and	its	Application	in	Islamic	Finance,	organised	by	HLFG

•	 Series	14:	Audit	Committee’s	guide	to	COSO	2013	and	Internal	Controls,	organised	by	iERP

•	 Series	15:	Directors	guide	to	GRC	(Governance,	Risk	and	Compliance),	organised	by	iERP

•	 Series 16:	 Governance	 and	 ERM,	 including	 MCCG	 2017	 Considerations	 –	 Qualified	 Risk	 Directors	
Programme, organised by iERP

•	 Emerging	Risks,	the	Future	Board	and	Return	on	Compliance,	organised	by	Iclif

MATERIAL CONTRACTS

There were no material contracts entered into by HRC involving the interests of Directors, the Chief Executive Officer and the major 
shareholders either still subsisting at the end of the financial year ended 31 December 2019 or entered into since the end of the 
previous financial year.
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OTHER INFORMATION

DISCLOSURE OF RECURRENT RELATED PARTY 
TRANSACTIONS

In compliance with paragraph 10.09(2)(b) of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad’s Main Market Listing Requirements, the Company  
had obtained a mandate from its shareholders to enter into recurrent related party transactions of a revenue or trading nature with its 
related parties (RRPT Mandate) at the Annual General Meeting held on 28 May 2019.

The details of the recurrent related party transactions entered into pursuant to the RRPT Mandate in the financial year ended  
31 December 2019 are set out below.

Related Party Type of Transaction

Value from  
1 January 2019 to 

28 May 2019 
(RM)

Value from  
29 May 2019 to 

31 December 2019 
(RM)

Total of Actual 
Transactions for 

Financial Year 
Ended 2019  

(RM)

Shandong Hengyuan 
Petrochemical Company 
Limited and its subsidiaries 
including:

(i) Heng Yuan Holdings 
Limited;

(ii) Malaysia Hengyuan 
International Limited; 
and

(iii) Hengyuan International 
Sdn Bhd

Sale of petroleum 
products and crude oil 
by HRC

137,189,154 135,937,893  273,127,047

Purchase of petroleum 
products and crude oil 
by HRC

7,802,024 5,709,421 13,511,445

Provision of central 
management, business 
support, administrative 
services and oil and 
oil products risk 
management services 
to HRC

7,495,641 2,068,963 9,564,604

Provision of technical 
advisory and 
consultancy services 
and research and 
development advisory 
services to HRC 

8,378,094 9,734,684 18,112,778

Total 160,864,913 153,450,961 314,315,874
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ACRONYMS & ABBREVIATION

AAPG Audit and Assurance Practice Guide

ABC Anti-Bribery and Corruption

AGM Annual General Meeting

AIA Asset Integrity Assessment

AML Anti-Money Laundering

APCS Air Pollution Control System

API American Petroleum Institute

BAC Board Audit Committee

bbl Barrel

BNRC Board Nomination and Remuneration Committee

BPRC Board Projects Review Committee

BRMC Board Risk Management Committee

BTC Board Tender Committee

BWC Board Whistleblowing Committee

CAIR Corrective Action Inspection Request

CAR Clean Air Regulation

CAR 2014 Environmental Quality (Clean Air) Regulations 
2014

CCS Current Cost of Stock

CEO Chief Executive Officer

CFO Chief Financial Officer

Code Code of Conduct

DCEO Deputy Chief Executive Officer

DOE Department of Environment

DOSH Department of Occupational Safety & Health

EII Energy Intensity Index

EPCC Engineering, Procurement, Construction and 
Commissioning

ERP Enterprise Resource Planning

ETP Effluent Treatment Plant

EVP Employee Value Proposition

FAC First Aid Case

FIFO First In First Out

GHG Greenhouse Gas

GST Goods and Services Tax

H2GEN Hydrogen Generation

HEMP Hazard and Effect Management Process

HR Human Resources

HRC Hengyuan Refining Company Berhad

HRIS Human Resources Information System

HSSE & SP Health, Safety, Security, Environment  
and Social Performance

IAD Internal Audit Department

IFRSs International Financial Reporting Standards

ISMS Information Security Management System

ISO International Standards Organisation

IWK Indah Water Konsortium

KPIs Key Performance Indicators

LFI Learning from Incident

LNG Liquified Natural Gas

LOPC Loss of Primary Containment

LPG Liquefied Petroleum Gas

LRCCU Long-Residue Catalytic Cracking Unit

LTI Lost-Time Injury

MACC Malaysian Anti-Corruption Commission

MAICSA The Malaysian Institute of Chartered Secretaries 
and Administrators

MCCG Malaysia Code of Corporate Governance

MD&A Management Discussion & Analysis

MFRSs Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards

MMLR Main Market Listing Requirements

MMWQCS Malaysia Marine Water Quality Criteria & 
Standards

MSOSH Malaysian Society for Occupational Safety & 
Health

MT Metric Tonne

MTA Major Turnaround

MWQS Marine Water Quality Standards

NCOSH National Council of Occupational Safety & Health

NMPI Near Miss and Potential Incident

OA Office Automation

OPEC Organisation of the Petroleum Exporting 
Countries

PEMS Predictive Emission Monitoring System

PLEM Pipeline End Manifold

PLWS Productivity Link Wages System

PQ Product Quality 

PS9F Process Safety 9 Fundamentals

PTIE Proactive Threats Identification Elimination

PwC PricewaterhouseCoopers

QHSSE Quality, Health, Safety, Security and Environment

RM Ringgit Malaysia

RRPT Recurrent Related Party Transaction

SHPC Shandong Hengyuan Petrochemical Company

SIA Site Internal Assurance

TOR Terms of Reference

UPDT Unplanned Down Time 

USD United States Dollar

WWMP Wastewater Masterplan
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Hengyuan Refining Company Berhad 
Registration No. 196001000259 (3926-U)

CDS Account No of 
authorised nominee

No of shares held

I / We ________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
(Full name in block letters)

NRIC / Passport No____________________________________________________________________________________________________________

of ___________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
(Address in full)

being a member of Hengyuan Refining Company Berhad, do hereby appoint_____________________________________________________
(Full name in block letters)

_____________________________________________________________________ NRIC / Passport No_______________________________________

of ___________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
(Address in full)

and__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
(Full name in block letters)

NRIC / Passport No_________________________________________________________________of________________________________________
(Address in full)

_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

or failing him / her, the Chairman of the Meeting as my / our proxy to vote for me / us on my / our behalf at the Sixty-First Annual 
General Meeting (61st AGM) of Hengyuan Refining Company Berhad (the Company) to be held entirely through live streaming from  
the broadcast venue at Tricor Leadership Room, Unit 32-01, Level 32, Tower A, Vertical Business Suite, Avenue 3,  
Bangsar South, No 8, Jalan Kerinchi, 59200 Kuala Lumpur (Broadcast Venue) on Tuesday, 23 June 2020 at 10.00 a.m. and  
at any adjournment thereof.

Resolutions Descriptions For Against

Ordinary Resolution 1 To re-elect Puan Fauziah Hisham as Director of the Company.

Ordinary Resolution 2 To re-elect Mr Wang, ZongQuan as Director of the Company.

Ordinary Resolution 3 To re-appoint Messrs PricewaterhouseCoopers PLT as Auditors 
of the Company until the conclusion of the next Annual General 
Meeting and to authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration.

Ordinary Resolution 4 To approve payment of Non-Executive Directors’ fees and benefits 
of up to RM2,300,000.00 for the period from 1 June 2020 until 
30 May 2021.

Ordinary Resolution 5 Authority to allot and issue shares pursuant to Sections 75 and 76 
of the Companies Act 2016.

Ordinary Resolution 6 Proposed Authority for Share Buy-Back.

Ordinary Resolution 7 Proposed renewal of existing Shareholders’ Mandate for Recurrent 
Related Party Transactions of a Revenue or Trading Nature.

Special Resolution 1 Proposed amendment of the Constitution of the Company.

Please indicate with an “x” in the spaces provided how you wish your vote to be cast. If no instruction as to voting is given, the Proxy 
will vote as he or she thinks fit, or abstain from voting at his or her discretion. 

Dated this _________________ day of ________________ 2020.

_________________________________________________
Signature / Common Seal of Shareholder(s)

Contact No_______________________________________

PROXY FORM

For appointment of two proxies, percentage of shareholdings 
to be represented by the proxies:

No of Shares Percentage

Proxy 1 % 

Proxy 2 %

Total 100%



 Members or proxies who have registered as a RPV user must 
register to attend and participate at the AGM via RPV (AGM 
Registration). AGM Registration is open from 10.00 a.m. 
Friday, 22 May 2020 up to 10.00 a.m. Sunday, 21 June 2020. 
Please follow the steps contained in the “Procedures for RPV” 
section of the Administrative Guide for the Company’s 61st AGM.  

11. The appointment of a proxy may be made in a hard copy form or  
by electronic means in the following manner and must be received by 
the Company not less than 48 hours before the time set for holding 
the AGM at which the person named in the appointment proposes 
to vote: 

(i) In hard copy form 
 In the case of an appointment made in hard copy form,  

the proxy form must be deposited at the office of the share 
registrar of the Company, Tricor Investor & Issuing House  
Services Sdn Bhd, at Unit 32-01, Level 32, Tower A,  
Vertical Business Suite, Avenue 3, Bangsar South, No 8,  
Jalan Kerinchi, 59200 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia or at its  
Customer Service Centre at Unit G-3, Ground Floor, Vertical 
Podium, Avenue 3, Bangsar South, No 8, Jalan Kerinchi,  
59200 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia. 

(ii) Online (available for individual shareholders only)
 In the case of an appointment made via online lodgement 

facility, please access the website at https://tiih.online and 
select “e-Services” to login. Please refer to the Administrative 
Guide for the Company’s 61st AGM on how to register at  
TIIH Online and submit your proxy form electronically.

 The last date and time for lodging the proxy form is Sunday,  
21 June 2020 at 10.00 a.m., which is also the date and time for 
the closing of the AGM Registration. As such, we recommend 
that the appointment of proxy be done as early as possible so 
that the appointed proxy has sufficient time to complete the  
AGM Registration. 

12. Any authority pursuant to which such an appointment is made by 
a power of attorney must be deposited with the share registrar in 
accordance with Note 11(i) above not less than forty-eight (48) 
hours before the time appointed for holding the AGM or 
adjourned general meeting at which the person named in the 
appointment proposes to vote. A copy of the power of attorney 
may be accepted provided that it is certified notarially and / or in 
accordance with the applicable legal requirements in the relevant 
jurisdiction in which it is executed. 

13. For a corporate member who has appointed a representative, please 
deposit the ORIGINAL certificate of appointment with the share 
registrar in accordance with Note 11(i) above. The certificate of 
appointment should be executed in the following manner:

a. If the corporate member has a common seal, the certificate of 
appointment should be executed under seal in accordance with 
the constitution of the corporate member.

b. If the corporate member does not have a common seal, the 
certificate of appointment should be affixed with the rubber 
stamp of the corporate member (if any) and executed by:

(a) at least two (2) authorised officers, of whom one shall be a 
director; or

(b) any director and / or authorised officers in accordance with 
the laws of the country under which the corporate member is 
incorporated.

14. The Date of Record of Depositors for the purpose of determining 
members’ entitlement to participate at the 61st AGM via RPV is  
15 June 2020. 

NOTES:-

1. IMPORTANT NOTICE

 The Broadcast Venue is strictly for the purpose of complying 
with Section 327(2) of the Companies Act 2016 which  
requires the Chairperson of the meeting to be present at the main 
venue of the meeting.

 Shareholders WILL NOT BE ALLOWED to attend the 61st AGM  
in person at the Broadcast Venue on the day of the meeting. 

 Shareholders are to attend, speak (including posing questions to  
the Board via real time submission of typed texts) and vote 
(collectively, participate) remotely at the 61st AGM via the Remote 
Participation and Voting facilities (RPV) provided by Tricor Investor 
& Issuing House Services Sdn Bhd via its TIIH Online website  
at https://tiih.online. 

 Please refer to the “Procedures for RPV” in the Administrative 
Guide for the Company’s 61   AGM and take note of Notes (2) 
to (13) below in order to participate remotely via RPV.

2. For the purpose of determining who shall be entitled to participate in 
this AGM via RPV, the Company shall be requesting Bursa Malaysia 
Depository Sdn Bhd to make available to the Company, the Record 
of Depositors as at 15 June 2020. Only a member whose name 
appears on this Record of Depositors shall be entitled to participate 
in this AGM via RPV.

3. A member who is entitled to participate in this AGM via RPV is 
entitled to appoint a proxy or attorney or in the case of a corporation, 
to appoint a duly authorised representative to participate in his / her 
place. A proxy may but need not be a member of the Company. 

4. A member of the Company who is entitled to attend and vote at 
a general meeting of the Company may appoint not more than  
two (2) proxies to participate instead of the member at the AGM  
via RPV. A member may appoint more than one proxy in relation 
to a meeting, provided that the member specifies the proportion of  
the member’s shareholdings to be represented by each proxy.

5. Where a member of the Company is an exempt authorised nominee 
which holds ordinary shares in the Company for multiple beneficial 
owners in one securities account (Omnibus Account), there is no  
limit to the number of proxies which the exempt authorised  
nominee may appoint in respect of each Omnibus Account it holds.

6. Where an exempt authorised nominee appoints two (2) or more 
proxies, the proportion of shareholdings to be represented by each 
proxy must be specified in the instrument appointing the proxies.

7. A proxy need not be a member of the Company. There shall  
be no restriction as to the qualification of the proxy.

8. The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing and signed  
by the appointor or by his attorney who is authorised in writing. 
In the case of a corporation, the instrument appointing a proxy 
or proxies must be made under seal or signed by an officer or an 
attorney duly authorised.

9. The signature to the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies 
executed outside Malaysia must be attested by a solicitor, notary 
public, consul or magistrate.

10. A member who wishes to participate and vote at this AGM via  
RPV or a member who has appointed a proxy or attorney or 
authorised representative to participate and vote at this AGM via  
RPV must sign up or request that his / her proxy sign up as a 
RPV user at the TIIH Online website at https://tiih.online. 
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